MOTION JVCO LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2022

iy

AQ7 08/09/2023 #60
COMPANIES HOUSE




CONTENTS

At the end of 2027 the Group

opergted

142

attractions

N

25

TOLntries

Strateyic reporr:

KPls

At a glance

Chief Executive's introduction
Business model

Growth drivers

Financial and operating review
Principal risks

Corporate sacial responsibility

Section |72 statement

Governines

Corporate governance

Directors’ report

Directors’ responsibilities statement

independent auditor’s report

Financial stacarmenny

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated statement of financial position
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes to the accounts

Meotion }Veo Limited Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements

Acadicional infaimaidion
Glossary

Other financial informaton

3i
35
37
18

40
4
42
4
44
45
97
99

103
105



IO OO L s

KPls

55.1n

57 veepks

o
L
)

VISITORS 3

o

2023 53 weeks'”; 24, 4m

UNDERLYING
OPERATING PROFIT

2021: £132m

GUEST SATISFACTION

Providing a high quality of experience for our guests is
Qur core purpose, and we are proud that we again
maintzined the same high score of 94% as in 2021,
This is based on guest satisfaction surveys where our
target is a s<ore over 90%, and is testimony to the
hard work and commitment of our teams across

the business.

Ve continue to monitar our guests' views, engaging
with them directly and on social media to measure the
quatity of their experience and drive improvements.

See more on page 7.
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£1,960n

52 weeks

REVENUE +52.4%

C 022 53 weels™ £2,006m

TOTAL
OPERATING PROFT

20727 53 weels'™: £380m

2021 £130m

HEALTH AND SAFETY

As trading levels increased during 2022, our COVID-
|9 countermeasures remained dynamic and able to
adapt 1o differing local government restrictions.

The overall strength of our health and safety
performance is evidenced by the continued low level
of our Medical Treatment Case (MTC) rate, that
captures the rate of guest injuries requiring external

medical treatment refative to 10,000 guest visitations.

This measured 001 for 2022, having remained
constant at 0.02 from 2019 through 2021.

See more on pages 25 to 26,
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£136m

53 veoels

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
2021 loss of £{94)m

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

In 2022 more than 18,000 people completad our
‘The Wizard Wants to Know" employee
engagement survey. a response rate of 84%,

Qur overall engagement score was 68%, an
encouraging increase of 5% on the previous year.

Ve are grateful te our teams for completing the
survey, and pleased that they have given us so
much valuable feedback to take forward as we
continue ta work to improve engagement further.

See more on page 24.

Motion |Veo Limited (the Company) has been the parent company of the Merlin Entertainments Limited group of companies {Merfin, Merlin Group), since acquiring
the Merlin Group in Novemnber 2019. Where the strategic report refers to longer term historical activities and strategic initiatives, these should be read as referring
to the continuing Merlin business as if the Company had been the parent company in that period. Details on the period under review (‘52" and ‘53’ week data) and

the performance measures used are set out in the Financial and operating review on page |8. Terms used throughout this document are defined in the Glossary on

pages 103 to 104,

1§ 2019 comparative data for the Merlin Entertainments Group has been inchided to pravide & more meaningfil comparison of petformance to trading prior to the COVID- 1 pandemic. This has
been extracted from the qudited 2019 Merlin Entertainments Limited Annual Repart and Accounts.
2 This pear we are reporting on the 53 weeks to 31 December 2022, Profit metrics are provided on a 53 week statutory basis in the financial statements. Consistent with Merfin's approach in

previous yedrs, we also present unaudited 52 week' information for 2022 where we think it will provide a more direct comparison of performance.
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AT A GLANCE

A GLOBAL LEADER IN LOCATION
BASED, FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT

MERLIN iS5 EUROPE S NUMBER OMNE AND

Tk WORLDS SECOND - LARGEST

VISITOR ATTRACTION QPERATOR AND OPERATES 142 ATTRACTIONS,
24 HOTELS AND SIX —OUDAY VIELAGES 1N 25 COUNTRIES AND ACROSS

FOUR CONTIHNENTS.

O vision

Qe Purpise
around the world.

Cur stranegy

To be the global leader in location based entertainment.

To deliver memorable experiences to our millions of visitars by creating lasting connections and moments of joy for families and friends

To buitd a high growth, high return family entertainment company based on strong brands and a global pertfolio that is naturafly balanced

against the impace of external factors, all delivered by the most passionate team of people whose mission it is to spread joy and happiness to

the world.

Merfin operates two distinct types of visitor attractions, organised into three
Operating Groups.

tMidway Atcractions are high quality, branded, predominantly indoor
attractions with a typical one to two hour dwell time located in city centres,
shopping malls or resorts. We have high quality, chainable brands and are the
only company ta successfully operate the Midway madel on a global scale.

Theme Parles are larger multi-day outdoor destination venues, incorporating
on-site themed accommeodation.

s LEGOLAMD Parks are aimed at families with younger children and have
LEGO as the central theme. Highly themed accommodation is central to
our strategy to develop the customer offering. Merlin holds the global,
exclusive rights to the LEGOLAND brand.

. Resort Therne Paks are national brands aimed at families, teenagers and
young adults, with themed accommeodation at afl locadons. They have high
brand and customer awareness in their tocal markets and include the
leading theme parks in the UK, lraly and Northern Germany.

Qur three Operating Groups are supported by our unique in-house business
development, creative, project management and production group, Mertin
Magic Making, which inclides teams across Europe, North America and the
Asia Pacific region. Merlin Magic Making is respansible for driving innovadon
acrass our Group and creating compelling propesidons for our attractions;
developing new concepts into commercially viable attractions; producing
compelling content such as LEGO models, wax figures and attraction theming:
and canstructing new attractions and investment projects, including new hotels
and rides.

Qur portfolio of assets and brands is highly diversified across geography,
attracdon type, brand and customer demographic and well balanced becween
indoor and eutdoor attractions and international and domestic visitadon. We
also partner with third party intellectual property (IF) owners to create new
brands which complement the portfolic and broaden our appeal across all key
target demographics.

Qur foatprint across 25 countries provides a high degree of diversity and a
strong platform to benefit from long term growth in leisure spending.

We have demonstrated the strength of this diversified business mode! over

many years, where the drivers of our performance have been;

. investment in our existing estate, increasingly including third parcy and
internally created iP. These investments increase capacity, provide
compelling new propositions to guests, and improve guest satisfaction;

. rolling out new Midway attractions to drive revenue growth, often
with a ‘cluster’ focus and in locations that continue our
geographic diversification;

. developing new LEGOLAND resarts under a combination of aperating
models. LEGOLAND New York opened in 202§, LEGOLAND Korea
opened in the year and three resorts are currently under construgtion
in China;

. transforming our theme parks into destination resorts by adding a broad
range of themed accommodation and ather ‘second gate’ attractions to
improve guest satisfaction and drive mult-day visitation:

. develaping cur operating model as our scale has increased - generating
revenue from promeotions and marketing with an increasing focus on yield
management; improving our customers' online ‘digital journey’; and
aperating more efficiently and flexibly. In doing this we maintain our focus
on providing a high quality of experience te our guests; and

L] acquisitions, ranging from large scale transformational transactions to
smaller add-on deals.

[RTRSIANNI RS IRREN (R ¥
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A1 A GLANCE

A GLOBAL LEADER IN LOCATION
BASED, FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT

A GLOBAL PORTFOLIC OF ATTRACTIONS AND ACCOMMODATION. REACTHING
ALL TARGET DEMOGRAPHICS

Continental Brand
UK Europe Americas Asia Pacific Total Demographics
MIDWAY ATTRACTIONS {Giobal teands}
SEA LIFE 10 6 10 1" 47 Fomilesand
<ity centre tourists
Madame Tussauds 2 4 5 " 23 ] Fasmilies ?nd
city centre tourists
Teemgers,
Dungeons [ 3 - | ¢ young adults and
city cenore tourists
LEGOMLEGOLAND Discovery Centres 2 5 14 7 28 Famifies
Eye o - 2 - - | 3 City centre tourists
Peppa Pig World of F‘Ia; N - ] 3 i 5 Pre-school famifies
Peppa Pig Theme Parkfsegaos;ary ;n:’:‘qxg“!O{J - - | - i Pre-schoal families
Oither . 3 2 - 4 9
Total ' 25 3l 34 36 126

LEGOLAND PARKS

Windsor, UK Billund, Denmark California, LISA Dubaj, UAE

(209 reoms) (578 rooms) {500 rooms) (250 reoms)
Glinzburg, Germany Florida, USA Johor, Malaysia
(509 roems) {468 rooms) (263 rooms)
New York, LISA Nagoya, japan
{25C rooms) (252 rooms)
Chuncheon,
Sauth Korea
(154 rooms)
10 parks .
Total 3,431 rooms Famifies
RESORT THEME PARKS
Alton Towers Gardaland Resort,
Resort, LK leaby o
(694 rooms) {475 rooms) Families,
teenagers
Heide Park Resort, and young adults
Germany
{329 rooms)
Chegsington Waorld
of Adventuras
Resort, UK "
(254 rooms) Families
Warwick Castle,
UK {47 rooms}
THORPE PARK, Teenagers and
Resore, UK young aduks
{50 rooms}
& parks

Total F,909 rooms
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STRONG MOMENTUM AND READY

FOR THE FUTURE

LT Gvnrview

On behalf of the amazing, driven and passionate colleagues working across
140+ attractions in 25 countries, | am grateful to be writing this introduction
to the 2022 annual review in my new role as Chief Executive of Merlin
Entertainments. Whilst | assumed the role cowards the end of last year, | am
aware of and inspired by the tremendous amount of hard work and passion
across the organisation, which saw Merlin deliver a robust year in 2022, I'd
lile to take this opportunicy to thank the Board for the opportunity to lead
the world's second largest location based entertainment company and Nick
Yarney for his vision, commitment to growth and his leadership of Merlin
Entertainments. It is a privilege to recognise the whole team’s achievements
in building a foundation for future growth.

In 2022 Merlin saw further significant recovery and continued progress,
despite the ongoing challenges of the global COVID-19 pandemic in most
geographical locations, as well as the ongeing war in Ukraine. Our global
teams have shown great commitment and resilience throughout the year,
despite the challenging operating envirenment, which has been further
exacerbated by the recruitment issues seen across many frontline industries
including attractions and hospitality.

We continue to focus on strong business growth and invest for the future,
with the fauhch of new attractions together with investment in new
products and rides across our existing estate. The performance of our
ateractions is driven by our commitment to the values at the heart of
Meriin's success; to continue to bring families and friends together to create
lasting memaries, fun and connection, all while striving to build che greatest
place to work in the world.

2022 was also a year when we saw further staff engagement with a rise in
respanses to our annual staff survey, further expansion of our inclusion and
diversity strategy and ongoing ‘Fun for Everyone’ accessibility work, which
saw even more effort being made to ensure that our teams and attractions
offer fun for everyone.

HIZ mading

We welcomed 55 million visitors to our atrractions in 2022 (2021: 35 million},
with revenue on a 52 week basis of £1,960 million, an increase of

£699 million on 2021. For the 53 weeks to 31 December 2022, reported
revenue was £2,006 million,

Strong consumer demand was driven by guests being keen to spend time
together with friends and family, resulting in elevated revenues per visitor,
and high average room rates in our accommodation pertfolio, which
supported strong trading in North America. the UK, and in parts of
Continental Europe. Our domesticaily-focused brands have traded strongly,
and international tourism started to butld reai momentum in some of the
key city destinations.

COVID-19 related restrictions were much less significant than in 2021,
Government restrictions generally eased during Q1 and from the end of
March substantially all of the portfolio remained open. International tourism
in some locations also continued to recover, There wers variations by
geography, mast notably in China where restrictions caused significant
disruption and lower levels of outbound Chinese tourism continued to have
a wider impact on the rest of the Asia Pacific estate.

Over the last two years we have opened two new LEGOLAND resorts.
LEGOLAND New York, which opened in summer 2021 after a series of
COVID-19 related delays and into a challenging labour market, is
trading positively.

Qur latest major investment, LEGOLAND Korea, opened in May 2022 as the
country was exiting from its most severe COVID-1% wave. The LEGOLAND
Korea hotel opened as planned in July. Initial trading has been encouraging,
despite the lingering impact of the pandemic, supporting what will be a
continued focus on the resort positioning of the attraction. ¥e remain
positive about the long term prospects of these resorts.

We also focused on our growing roster of glebal Intellectual Property (iP)
partners, where the US provides a key growth market. in 2022 we opened
the Peppa Pig Theme Park Florida; our first standalone Peppa Pig theme park,
this ‘second gate’ attraction {adjacent to LEGOLAND Fiorida Resort}
highlights Merlin's strong portfolio in the pre-school IP market. This was
followed in Eurepe with the opening at Gardaland Resort of the first ride
under our muld-territory IP agreement with Sony Pictures Entertainment, to
develop themed rides and resort areas under the ‘Jumanji’ film franchise IP. In
August we announced that Chessington Warld of Adventures Resort is set to
open z themed land "World of Jumanji’ in spring 2023.

The recovery in visitation and our implementation of revenue management
initiatives drove revenue growth compared to pre-pandemic levels, while tight
cost control, engeing efficiency initiatives, and government support received
in the year have offset continued tost pressures. Qur underlying EBITDA
totalled £641 million on a 52 week basis, and £671 million for the 53 weeks
to 3| December 2022 (2021 £379 million), with positive operating cash flows
of £622 million in the year (2021: £459 million}.

Cutlook

As we move into 2023, we will build on Merlin's unique platform, while
evolving alongside the world arcund us. VWe will wark to increase our
emphasis on and deliver several significant initiatives around revenue
management. We will also increase our focus on data and data driven
decision making, begin to shift more towards a digital and direct marketing
approach and begin the improvement processes and structural changes to
further increase revenues per visitor in food and beverage and retail.

We will look to 2dd to our portfalie of partners with world class IP, engage
in the immersive encercainment space, and look to make strategic investments
where there is the oppertunity 1o unlock growth. We are aware of the
power of our parthership with such an incredible force for good as we find in
the LEGQ brand and their employees, matching our footprint around the
world. We will continue to coflaborare, listen and build on the placform we
have been entrusted with.

Given our continued recovery and strong brands, we believe this is a time to
grow, and as such are investing in our people as well as our atwractions. We
believe there is significant growth ahead and will continue to take advantage
of our talented executive team, brilliant creative teams and our unmatched
reach and scale, to continue to drive magical experiences for guests and
driving the business.

A
Qur strategy remains to offer amazing experiences across a range of exciting
brands, diversified by target audience, dwell time and geography, and by
partnering with global brands such as Peppa Pig. jJumanji. and of course LEGO.

sgheon epraonny

We continue to pursue opportunities 1o expand our brands, farmats and
geographic diversification. We are working with partners to develop three
LEGOLAND resorts in China over the next five years in Shanghai, Shenzhen,
and Sichuan province.
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STRONG MOMENTUM AND READY

FOR THE FUTURE

nith, ~atoiy and security
The health, safety and security (HSS) of our guests and employees remains
our number one prioricy.

Ve have maintained 2 high level of performance across our operations, with
ow COVID-19 countermeasures remaining dynamic and able to adapt te
differing scates of government restrictions, dependent on the specific
country or territory. The overall strength of our performance in this area is
evidenced by continued strong HSS KPl scores in 2022,

Guest sucisfaction

We have maintained, and in many cases improved. our customer satisfaction
and brand measures, in our focus on delivering memorable experiences to
our guests. ¥We are proud that we again maintained our consistently high
customer satisfaction score of 94% despite the challenges of tight labour
markets, which is testimony to the hard work and commitment of our teams
across the business. YWe continue to monitor our guests' views by engaging
with them directly, on social media, and by monitoring oniine reviews.

Guest accessibility continues to be 2 key area of focus, as we expand our
efforts to allow all of our guests to enjoy as much of the Merlin experience
as possible. These efforts are informed by our guests and disability advisors
and have included tralning programmes in disability confidence for our
teams, reviewing our existing rides to enhance their accessibilicy, and
working with ride manufacturers te improve accessibility on new rides,

Divacsivy and inclusivicy

tn 2022 we continued our facus on equality and diversity in celebrating our
culture of belonging. Our four regional task forces delivered regional plans to
support our global diversity and inclusion goals, as well as driving meaningful
change to our teams and wider communities at a site level.

Over half of Merlin’s global workforce is female and as such we are focused on
ensuring we drive change at all levels across the Company. Of our top ten
actractions globally, half are currently run by women. These include cur
LEGOLAND resorts in the UK, Germany, and New York, as well as
Gardaland Resort and Alcon Towers Resort.

We are proud that our commitment to equality is demonstrated throughout
our culture and are focused on creating the greatest place to work and a
true sense of belonging. We are also committed to ensuring our Merlin
Board and senior management teamns continue to promote diversity and
inclusivity and are defighted that our most recent Executive Committee
member is a proud member of the LGBTQ+ community.

Tmployes angagoeinany

Our people are what makes Merlin so special and are our competitive
advantage. We continue to be proud of our global employees as they deliver
magical and memeorable experiences to miflions of guests.

Mare than 18,000 people completed our ‘The Wizard Wants to Know' staff
engagement survey in 2022, a significant increase on the 2021 survey and with
a really high response rate of 84%. Qur overall engagement score was 68%, an
encouraging increase of 5% on the previous year. We are grateful to our
teams for completing the survey and pleased that they have given us so much
valuable feedback to take forward as we continue to work to improve
engagement further.

Qur recently introduced long term incentive plans, aligned to the strategic
objectives of our shareholders, provide incentive structures for our
management teams and include outstanding contribution and long service
awards that are available to all employees.

More Magic awaits. ..
oo M O'Neil

Chief Executive Officer
17 March 2023
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COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
AND A STRONG CULTURE

COAWPRTIH VE STRENGTHS IN A LONG TERM
=TTRACTIVE MARKET ENVIROMMENT

Aanfgue porefolly of <o ona brands and iconl
We cperate a unique global portfolio of brands and iconic assets which are
widely recognised by consumers, enabling us to differentiate our attractions
from unbranded operators.

TSI

Our LEGOLAND parks benefit from a mutually synergistic relationship with
LEGO, the world’s number one toy brand!”. Gur Midway atcractions perdolic
includes chainable brands such as SEA LIFE and Madame Tussauds, while the
Resort Theme Parks attractions are standzlane national brands in their
respective markets.

Together, the strength and breadth of this portfolio enable us to offer
compelling propositions through a wide variety of visitor experiences across a
broad range of geographies. This alfows us to attract a wide range of target
demographic groups from families with young children, teenagers, young adults
to ofder adults. It also provides a degree of resilience to short term trading
shacks arising from z particular geography, brand, or demographic.

intellecveat Propoerty (IP) pac tarship

Merlin's global reach and mult-format expertise means we are well placed tc
benefit from the growing epportunities to partner with leading cwners of
inteltectual property {IP) cortent, enabling us to deliver memorable experiences
ta our visitors and offer our partners oppolrtunities to increase engagement
with their custorners,

Most significant is our core global, multi-product and exclusive refationship with
the LEGO Group, where we hold the global, exclusive rights to the
LEGOLAND brand under the ficencing and co-operation agreement with
KIRKEI, our largest shareholder (see page 8).

WVe have multiple ather IP agreements. ranging from local relationships for
specific attractions, to global, multi-product relationships. These include our
multi-territory exclusivity arrangement to develop a range of attractions based
on the Peppa Pig brand, one of the best known pre-school IPs in the world.

A unigee panfotic of skill:
Our three Operating Groups are supported by other teams including our in-
house innovation and product delivery group, Mertin Magic Making (MMM),

which includes teams across Europe, North America and the Asia Pacific region.

Together they capture a unique combination of skills, including research,
creative, production and project management. ¥Ye also have specific resources
within the Operating Groups that are dedicated to researching future
opportunities, searching ouc locations for potential new attractions and
negotiating with local landlords, developers and civic bodies.

MMM ereate compelling propositions and develop new concepts into
commercially viable actractions. Qur in-house production capabdities include
bespoke content such as wax figures, ateraction theming and LEGO model
preduction, thereby creating efficiencies and reducing costs. Other Merlin
teams have in-house ethical animal welfare expertise.

Wil Source - Kidz Global Brand Trends Report Spring 2022

We manage any scale of construction project ranging from individual rides and
attractions in our existing estate, new Midway actractions across the globe,
through to the development of fullscale LEGOLAND resorts, the latter led by a
senior management team who pursue potential new locations thirough a range of
awitership models.

We can also leverage Merlin's extensive experience to provide an oppertunity
for investors to develop location based entertainment offerings. and to take on
the operation of other parties’ attractions under management contracts.

Efficient and sypargistic oporating model

We continue to focus on aperational excellence, delivering memorable
experiences for our guests, simplifying our operations and maximising the
synergies afforded by our scale.

We have re-engineered how we operate to be more flexible as guest volumes
change, applying dynamic pricing and promotional strategies. These manage
visitor numbers through periods of high and low attendance volume, extend the
length of stay, encourage repeat visits, and enhance overall revenue.

Maintaining tight control ver atwraction capacities during peak season and
lowering peak day volumes delivers an improvement in the guest experience,
increases rides per guest, reduces queuing, and improves average guest spends.
Where we can leverage the expertise of third parties, we may partner with
specialist outsourcing providers in areas such as cur food and beverage offerings.
In 2022 we have entered into such a partnership with Aramark for our UK
therne parks, LEGOLAND California Resort and LEGOLAND Florida Resort

We have also been transforming our support functions through shared service
centre initiatives such as our recent finance transformation project, which now
supports over two thirds of the Group.

Our scale also allows us to benefit from procurement cost efficiencies within
clusters, countries, or regions, while in certain territories cur Merlin Annual Pass
and Merlin Monthly Membership enable our customers to visit all attractions
within a particular country.

Long teros attrndrive acke eneimanment

We continue to believe that Merlin cperates in an attractive marletplace,
benefiting from underlying growth characteristics and favourable dynamics, such
as long term increases in leisure spending, including in emerging economies.

This is underpinned by our long term belief in international tourism, where
there has been a strong recovery during 2022. We continue to see long term
grawth opportunities fram tourism more widely, which benefits our resorts and
drives visitation to our gateway city locations, where we operate our Midway
attraction clusrers.

We also expect to see continwing growth in demestic short break heolidays.
Merlin ts increasingly well-positioned to meee this demand through our offering
of themed, on-site accammeodation and ‘second gate’ attractions that extend the
duration of our visitors’ stay. Accommodation offerings also enable greater cross-
selling opportunities, drive improved levels of guest satisfaction, and lead to
increases in pre-bookings, revenue visibility and positive working capital. Gur
domestically-focused resort positioning also provides a partial hedge against the
impact of macro-economic or geopolitical volatility on international tourism.
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COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
AND A STRONG CULTURE

A TURE

Mertin’s business model is underpinned by our entreprencurial culture, an
effective corporate governance framework, and a strong sense of how
important it is To operate as a responsible business. ‘The Merlin Way' sets out
these values which are embedded throughout the business. We are proud of
the inclusive environment we create for all the people who work at Merdin and
focus significant effort in driving a cuiture of accountability and fairness.

Tovperei 2oVeciance

Merlin believes that effective corporate governance is the foundation of a well-
run company and maintains high standards of governance across the Group. We
recognise that a strong gavernance framework is fundamental to the execution
of Merlin’s strategic objectives, underpinned by a clear purpase and well
understood culture and values.

More details are set gut on pages 31 to 34,

Health, safery ard security

Merlin is dedicated ta delivering best in class health, safety and security (HSS)
standards that are clearly understood and implemented across the Group. This
involves adopting industry leading standards, reinforcing a rigorous safety culture
and demanding complete commitment from our teams.

As business and consumer activity increased in 2022, Merlin’s COVID-19
countermeasures remained dynamic and able to adapt to differing states of
government restrictians, dependent on the specific country or territory. We
remained focused on ensuring that Merlin's core HSS programmes and standards
continued to be suitable and applied at those attractions that were emerging from
muitiple years of COVID- (9 related lockdowns and restrictions.

The overall strength of our HSS perfarmance is evidenced by the continued fow
levels of Medical Treatment Case rates {relating to guests and employees).

More details are set out on pages 25 to 26.

Busines. rospoasibilicy

Merlin has an ethical operating culture. Our attractions operate responsibly at
the heart of their communities, maintaining high animal welfare stzndards and
cantributing ta local economies.

WWe recognise that our operations impact upen the environment and are
comminied to managing our environmental impacts. In 2023 we will adopt the
reporting requirements set out by the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD;.

V¥Ye partner with two charidies. Merlin’s Magic Wand provides memorable
experiences £o children faced with the challenges of serious illness, disability, and
adversity. The SEA LIFE TRUST works to protect marine life and habitats across
the world, also operating two marine sanctuaries.

More deulls are set qut on page 29.

Oy GUIESTS AN OUR PGPk
Suess

In 2022 we maintained our focus on providing a high quality of experience for our
guests, and continued to monitor their views, engaging with them directly and on
social media to measure the quality of their experience and drive improvements.

VWe have again reported strong customer satisfaction measures, which underpins
our confidence in continued demand for high quality, branded location

based entertainment. This is despite the impact of continuing employment cost
pressures from tight fabour markets and the consequential impact on the capacity
of our attractions and the product offering. These results are as fallows:

L) Touchscreens at our attractions measure our guest satisfaction scores.
We are proud that we maintained the same guest satisfaction score
of 94% as in 2021, well ahead of our 90% benchmark. Qur Top Box’
measure that indicates when guests are ‘very satisfied’ increased
compared to 2021.

. ‘Net Promoter’ scores measure whether a guest would recommend cur
attractions. This metric also increased in the year.

The Merlin Board and senior management undertake regular site visits to
ensure that the guest experience is in line with guest expectations, and we
also use the “Yext' pladarm to monitor online guest reviews and help inform how
we improve our attractions. Customer insight has also helped us as we make
significant progress on guest accessibility.

Empicyees

Our people are what makes Merlin so special, and we continue to be proud of
our global employees as they deliver magical and memorable experiences to
millions of guests.

tn 2022 we again ran our ‘The Wizard Wants to Know' employee engagement
survey. More than 18,000 people completed the survey, a response rate of 84%.
Qur overall engagement scate was §8%, an encouraging increase of 5% on the
previous year,

In 2022 we continued our focus on gender equality, ethnic diversity, and our
inclusion strategy ‘Everyone Matrers at Merlin’. Our four regional task forces
delivered regional plans to support aur global diversity and inclusion goals as well
as driving meaningful change ta our teams and wider communities at site level.
We are proud that our commitment te equality is demonstratad throughout our
culture and are focused on creating the greatest place to work and a true sense
of belonging. ¥We are also committed to ensuring our Merlin Board and senior
management teams continue to promote diversity and inclusivicy.

See more on page 24.
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IR e VYESTORS

Since Navember 2019 the Group has been controlled by a consortium of three
principal long term investors wich the capabitity to support Merfin's growth
ambitions. | he consortium waork together in accordance with the formal
Shareholder Investment Agreement set out at the time of the transaction. The
Shareholder Investment Agreement sets out the Board's terms of reference and
‘matters reserved’, being certain limited matters, which require the consent of
the major shareholders. Their investment is held in the Company.

Details of the investor consortium are set out below and details of their
representation on the Board of Directors are set out on pages 33 to 34,

. KIZ¥31 — KIRKBI AJS is the Kirk Kristiansen family’s private holding and
investment company founded to build a sustainable future for the famify
ownership of the LEGQ brand through generations. KIRKBI's work is
focused on three fundamental tasks all contributing to enabling the Kirk
Kristiansen family to succeed with the mission to inspire and develop the
builders of tomorrow. KIRKBI works to protect, develop and leverage the
LEGO brard across all the LEGO branded entities. They are committad to
a long term and responsible investment strategy 1o ensure a sound
financial foundation for the owner family's activites as well as contributing
to sustainable development in the world. They are dedicated to support
the family members as they prepare for future generations ta continue the
active and engaged ownership as well as supporting their private activities,
companies and philanthropic work. KIRKBI's investment activities include
investments in energy transition, circular plastic and significant long term
invesunents in listed and privately held companies as well as real estate
investments in Denmark, Switzerfand, Germany and the UK. See
www.KIRKBIl.com for more information.

. Backstone — one of the world's leading investment firms, that seeks to
create positive economic impact and long term value for investors, the
companies in which it inveses, and the communities in which it works.
Blackstone's asset management businesses had $975 billion in assets under
management as at 3| December 2022 across a range of investment
vehicles. Blackstone has long-standing experience investing in location
based entertainment businesses, like Merlin, as well as the wider
hospitalicy, travel 2nd leisure sector. Blackstone's investrnent in Merlin has
been made through its long-dated Core Private Equity Strategy. which
invests in high-quality businesses far typically ten to 15 or more years.

. Carada Pensior Plac investimant Boare {CPP Investiments! — a professional
investment management organisation that manages the CPP Fund in the
best interest of the more than 20 million contributors znd beneficiaries of
the Canada Pension Plan. CPP Investments is governed and managed
independenrtly of the Canada Pension Plan and at arm's length from
governments. As at 31 December 2022, the Fund totalled C$536 billion,
including approximately C$25 billion of assets invested in the Lnited
Kingdom, and het investments of C$146 billion in private equity. CPP
Investments’ private equity team is a committed long term investor with
permmanent capital, a focus on sizeable investments alengside aligned
pareners, the ability to invast across the full spectrum of ownership, and
the ability to shape the duration and underwricting approach of investments
w support longer-date returns on investment initiatives.
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Ve make regular, targeted investments to update and refresh the existing
estate, to grow demand and, where applicable, to increase capacity at
our atfractions.

Each artraction has a planned investment cycle with varying capex levels over
several years. These help to smooth overall expenditure across the pertfolio
and ensure investments are funded from operating free cash flow, Our theme
parks require relatively higher capital expenditure due to the scale and nawre of
new rides and attractions, and the drive to attract repeat visitors. Midway
actractions require relatively iower capital expenditure due to the smaller scale
of the attractions.

NEW LEGOLAND RESORY DEVELOPMENTS
We have a successful track record of developing and operating LEGOLAND
parks globaily, where we have two core operating and investment models.

Firstly, in more proven [ocations, we follow an ‘owned and operated’ model,
securing the land and developing the infrastructure aurselves. The original parks
that Merlin acquired in 2005 were all developed in this way, as were
LEGOLAND Florida which we opened in 201 |, and LEGOLAND New Yorlg,
that opened in 202]. LEGOLAND Korea, which opened in May 2022, has also
been developed under this mede! (with support from the local province).

Secondly, we work with a local partner, marrying their capabilities and expertise
with our strengths and experience to both parties’ mutual benefit. Typically, the
funding for the capital investment is provided by a third party and we operate
the park under a management contract. We currently operate LEGOLAND
Mzlaysia and LEGOLAND Dubai under this model.

UTHD R 73F THEPME FARPKS INTO 0
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We continue te transform our theme parks into destination resorts, extending
visitor market reach and enhancing revenues from a number of sales channels.
These include primary admissions (including multi-day tickets and second gate
admission fees), and commercial spend such as the sale of food and beverages,
retail merchandise, and souvenirs such as phatos.

The themed accommodation offerings in our hotels and holiday villages continue
to be very successful. They provide an integral contribution to the overall visitor
experience, helping to drive pre-boakings, increase multi-day ticket sales and
improve guest satisfaction.

In early 2023 we announced the UK’s first LEGO themed holiday village at
LEGOLAND Windsor Resort. Set to open in spring 2024 the LEGOLAND
Woadland Village wili feature |50 lodges, an on-site restaurant, and a family
entertainment hub.

U VD SROMWATHL DRIVERN BY ACCFSy
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TOPOWERFUL INTELLEC T AL PROPERTY
We are increasingly able to develop these investnents in partnership with leading
intellectual property owners to provide an immersive, themed experience for

our visitors.

In April 2022 we opened JUMAN]| - The Adventure’ at Gardafand Resortin lealy,
the first ride to be opened as part of our muiti-territory exclusivity agreement
with Sony Pictures Entertainment, to develop and operate attractions, rides, lands,
rataif outlets and themed hotel rooms based on the studio’s Jumanji’ filrm
franchise. Chessington World of Adventures Resort is also set to open a themed
land “World of jJumanji® in spring 2023.

At LEGOLAND California Resort, in May 2022 we opened ‘LEGO Ferrari Buitd
and Race’. Featuring a life-size LEGO Ferrari F40 model, this interactive attraction
puts visitars ‘in the driver’s seat’ as they use their creativity and imagination to
build, test and race LEGQ Ferraris.

We are actively working with 2 number of partners to develep new
LEGOLAND parks, with three previously announced resorts planned to open
in China in the nexc five years. These projects are as follows;

. LEGOLAND Shanghai Resort in the Jinshan District of Shanghai — being
developed via a joint venture company. under a co-operation agreement
with the Shanghai Jinshan District Government, CMC Inc, and KIRKBI.

. LEGOLANE Shenzen Resort, being developed with Hazens Holdings.

. LEGOLAND Sichuan Resort, being developed with Global Zhongjun
Cultural Tourism Development Co. Ltd.

We may also pursue hybrid opportunities which could involve Merlin investing an
element of equity in the project.

RS
There are also ongoing opportunities to add new visitor attractions at our theme
parks. for which additional admission fees are charged. These attractions, such as

waterparks, are referred to as ‘second gate’ attractions.

This is an increasing area of focus across the two theme park Operating Groups.
In 202 | we opened the LEGOLAND Water Park at the Gardaland Resort (the
first LEGO therned water park in Euroge), and in earHy 2022 we launched our
first standalone Peppa Pig theme park, adjacent to LEGOLAND Florida Resort.
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CLUSTERING OOF MIDWAY ATTEACTIONS
Our growth strategy includes the roll out of our chainable Midway awractions in
new locations and countries, often creating ‘clusters’, where we develop
multiple attractions in one location.

During 2022 we opened the following twe new Midway attractions;

. Peppa Pig World of Play Leidschendam - opened in February in
the Necherlands.

. LEGO Discovery Contre Brussels - the first 'next generztion' LEGO Discovery
Centre opened in Belgium in late June. In 2023 we will open a second
attraction with this new format at Springfield Town Center in
Washington D.C.

AT P I P VR

From March 2022 we tool over a management contrace for the THIS IS
HOLLAND? flying theatre experience, expanding oul- Amsterdam cluster. We
have alsc been awarded the management contract for the Sandcasde VWaterpark
in Blackpool, the UK’s largest indoor waterpark.

VWe continue to see opportunities to open new Midway attractions, especially
using intellectual property as a central element of the actraction.

WILOU D B0

ACQUISITIONS AND NEYW FORMA
¥¥Ye continue to consider acquisitions of, or investunents in, visitor attractions,
sites and brands that could strategically enhance our pordolic and enable us to
grow into new geographies. We believe that there remain further attractive
acquisition epportunities that would meet our investment criteria in the future.

In April 2022 we completed the acquisition of the COEX Aquarium in Seoul,
South Korea, adding a further significant attraction to the SEA LIFE portfolio,
and consistent with our wider strategy to build clusters of Midway indoor
attractions in key gateway cities.

Later in the year we compieted on the transaction to take over the operations
of Cadbury YWorld in the LK, deepening our relationship with the UK's largest
chacolate brand.

AT OPPORTUNITIES

We also develop new formats of attraction, where currently our focus is on
Peppa Pig branded attractions aimed at pre-school children, We have opened
five pilot indaor Peppa Pig World of Play attractions, and one standalone Peppa
Pig themne park that opened next to LEGOLAND Florida Resort in early 2022

In early 2023 we announced we are developing cur second Peppa Pig theme
park in the Dallas-Fort Worth area in north Texas, scheduled for opening
in 2024.
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Total Total Total Underlying Underlying Underlying
S3 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended growth
3| December 24 December 25 December 24 December 25 Decemnber {actual
022 2022 2021 2022 2021 currency)
im fm im tm £m
Revenue 2,006 1,960 1,261 1,960 1,261 55.4%
'EBITDA excluding share-based payments 692 862 376 62 Ay 74.3%
EBITDA ' - 671 841 376 84 379 8.9%
"Deprediation, amortisation and Impairment (285) 8s) 246) as6) 4 T Ge%
Operating profit 386 356 130 385 132 190.0%
Net finance costs (s50) (250) 24) 250) Q24
Profic/(loss) before tax 136 106 (94) 135 o2
Taxation o ) “7) 38) (46) “2) (46)
Profi(loss) for the year 89 68 (140) 93 (138 N

See "How we report our results’ on page 8 for details of how we report our financial performance.

Introduction

In 2022 robust consumer demand, elevated revenues per visitor, and high
average room rates in our accommeodation portfolio all supported strong
trading in North America, the UK, and in parts of Centinental Europe. Qur
domestically-focused brands have traded strongly and internadonal tourism in
some locations also continued to recover.

COVID- [ 9 related restrictions were much less significant than in 2021, with
government restrictions generally easing during Q1. From the end of March
substantially all of the portfolio remained open. There were variations by
geography, mast notably in China where restrictions caused significant
disruption and lower levels of outbound Chinese tourism continued to have a
wider impact on the rest of the Asia Pacific estate.

The recavery in visitation, combined with our targeted approach to revenue
management, drove revenue growth compared to pre-pandemic levels.
Moreover, tight cost control, ongoing efficiency initiatives, and government
support receivad in the year have partly offset continued cost pressures.

Like other businesses in the leisure and hospitality secter, we continue to see
employment cost pressures in a number of locations. Our operational focus has
been on limiting the impact of this on the capacity of our attractions and the
product offering and ensuring we maintain the quality of the guest experience.
While utilities are not & significant proportion of Merlin’s cost base, these are
alsa subject to movements in wholesale energy prices.

Our latest major investment, LEGOLAND Korea, opened in May 2022 and
initial erading has been encouraging, with a focus on building the resort
positioning of the attraction,

We have shown positive operating cashflows, which we continue to menitar
closely. The Group's liquidity position is strong, with leverage back to 2019
levels, the year prior to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Group complied with all its covenants in the year. Under the terms of the
covenant waiver we agreed in June 2021, the Group's financial leverage
covenant has been waived undl Q3 2023, As part of this agreement the Group
is required to maintain a minimum liquidity of £75 million (s include amounts
undrawn from the revolving credit facility, and cash and cash equivalents).

Praeyentation of resulis

Motion [Veo Limited (the Company) has been the parent company of the Merlin
Entertainments Limited group of companies (Merlin, Merlin Group), since
acquiring the Merlin Group in November 2019.

Undardyirg results and exceptional leems

To present the underlying performance of the business more accurately, the
impacts of certain activities are reported within exceptional items. More details
on exceptional items can be found on page |3. Unless otherwise stated, the
commentary below refers to underlying results, that is. before the impact of
exceptional items.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our tading has all been reflected
within our underlying results. This includes the impact of government support
measures in certain territories.

Alernadve pe-formance meast ces

On page 18 we set out in more detail explanations of how we adopt certain
alternative performance measures to help present our trading performance in the
most helpful and meaningful way.

This year's consolidated Group financial stacements are prepared on a ‘53 week’
basis for the pericd ending 31 December 2022, In most years we report ona
’52 week’ period. In certain years an additiaral week is included to ensure that
the statutory financial year end date stays in line with the end of December. To
aid comparability, unless where stated, the trading commentary which follows is
on a 52 weelk basis.

All balznce sheet, and therefore cash flaw information, is reported zs at the
statutory year end date and therefore represents a 53 week period in 2022
{2021: 52 weeks}.
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Reported revenue for the 53 weeks to 3| December 2022 increased to
£2,006 million. On a comparable 52 week basis, total revenue increased by
£69% millian from £1,261 million to £1,960 million.

COVID-19 related restrictions were much less significant than in 2021, with
governmeng restrictions generally easing during Q1. All of our seasonal
attractions in the UK, Continental Europe and North America opened as
planned, and at the end of March approximately 90% of our estate was open.
Since then, substantially all of the portfoko remained open. There were
variations by gecgraphy, mast notably in China where attractions were closed
for significant parts of the year.

Many of the trading patterns seen in 2021 continued through 2022. Robust
cansumer demand supported strong trading in North America, the UK, and in
parts of Caontinental Europe, most notably at our domestically-focused brands.
Interrational taurism in some lecations continued to recover, albeit
international uavel remained suppressed more widely. Restrictions in China
caused significant disruption and lower levels of outbound Chinese tourism
continued to have a wider impact on the rest of the Asia Pacific estate.

In 2021 and 2022 we have opened two new LEGOLAND resorts. LEGOLAND
New York opened in summer 2021 after a series of COVID-related delays and
into a challenging labour market. Trading since opening has been paositive, with
strong customer spends and positive satisfaction scores, despite the staffing
challenges. LEGOLAND Korea opened in May 2022 as the country was exiting
from its most severe COVID-19 wave with the LEGOLAND Korea hatel then
opening as pfanned in July. Initial trading has been encouraging and supports
what will be a continued focus on the resort positioning of the attraction.

Since the global COVID-19 pandemic began, we have taken steps to refine our
operating model, creating a lower and more flexible cost base that is better able
to react to any material changes in demand. As a result we have baen able to
manage our costs actively as trading has improved. Qur UK theme parks have
successfully transitioned to having food and beverage services provided by our
partner Aramark. For those attractions Merlin therefore reports revenues on a
‘net’ basis under the terms of the contract, and no longer records the value of
revenue received from customers. as is the case across much of the rest of the
estate. The resulting reduction in reported revenue in 2022 is circa £12 miliion,
with a negligible impact on EBITDA.

Staff expenses increased from £373 million te £531 million, due primarily to
significantly higher erading activity compared to the comparative period,
combined with lower levels of furlough and other support payments (2022:

£2 million, 2021: £19 million, see nate 2.1 to the financial statements). Like
other businesses in the feisure and hospitality sector, we continue to see
empleyment cost pressures in several locations, with increases in minimum
wage levels and tight labour markets, albeit the absolute impact on costs in the
short term has been limited due to higher than normal vacancy levels. Cur
operational focus has been on limiting the impact of this on the capacity of our
attractions and the product offering, to ensure we maintain the quality of the
guest experience.

Staff expenses include a £21 million (202 fess than £1 million) share-based
payment accounting charge in respect of management incentive plans
implemented in late 2621. These plans are aligned to the strategic objectives of
our shareholders and include outstanding ¢ontribution and long service awards
available to all employees. Further detail is provided in note 5.6 to the

financial statements.

Marketing costs increased from £30 million to £74 million as crading levels
increased, albeic the level of market demand has allowed us to operate in the
short term with marketing spends lower than normal.

Other operating expenses increased from £253 million to £363 miillion. This
reflects increased repairs and mantenance costs compared to 2021 when more
attractions were closed, and higher property costs which in 2021 benefited from
lower UK business rates.

Broader cost inflation continues to be a challenge. While utilities are not a
significant proportion of Merlin's cost base, these have been subject to increases
in wholesale energy prices, most notably across the UK and Continental

Europe. The overall impact of energy prices has been minimal in 2022 due to
lieniced short term exposure to spot prices. However, contracts renewed in 2022
have resulted in significant price increases which are cnly partly offset by
government support packages. Ve are acting to minimise energy consumption
and limit the financial impact, although it is unlikely that these initiatives will have a
significant benefit in the short term.

Cther than in relation to energy supply, our trading operations are not directly
affected by the war in Ukraine. Merlin has no attractions in the region, no
material Russian or Ukrainian suppliers or landlords, and very few szaff that are
direcdy affected. Qutbound Russian and Ukrainian international tourism at our
attractions is alse negligible. However, this and other geopolitical and economic
factors, and in particular fuel and energy costs, could lead to reduced levels of
incernational tourism, lower guests' disposable income, and put further
inflationary pressure on cperatng costs,

We continued to benefit from governmental support payments totalling

£33 million (2021: £19 million} for operating costs in certain jurisdictions (see
note 2. to the financial statements). These were primarily in respect of COVID-
19, including where claims were finally settded for previous years. Within the UK,
2021 trading benefited from a lower 5% YAT rate through to the start of
Qkctober, which then moved to 12.5%. There was 2 minor benefit at the start of
2022 befora the rate returned to 20% in April.

Operating Group margins are also affected by the scale and mix of revenue in the
existing estate and the dilutive effect of hew attractons and accommedation
launched in che year, as a result of the timing and costs associated with launch,
and the pace with which attractions reach maturicy.

Net central costs of £65 million were £22 million higher than in 2021. This
primarily reflects a full year of share-based payment charges in respect of the
incentive plans created at the end of 2021, together with lower revenues from
the phasing of cencral development projects. YWithin our central functions, as in
the Operating Groups, we mainained our focus on managing the level of
underlying ongoing expenditure.

The trading recovery and our focus on cost management together drove
underlying EBITDA of £641 million on a 52 weel¢ basis and £67| million for the
53 weeks to 3| December (202 1: £379 miilion).
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Merlin is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on
transactions and the translation of our non Sterling earnings.

In the second half of the year, Sterfing experienced a materfal weakening.
particularly against the US Dollar. Given a significant proportion of our trading is
derived from the USA, the reported resules showed a significant benefit arising
from translation ta Sterling. Retranslating 2022 performance at 2021 rates
would result in a £59 million decrease in revenue and a £23 million decrease in
underlying EBITDA. VWe set this out in more detail by major currency on

page 105.

Operating pofiv
Underlying depreciation and amertisation charges increased by £2 million from
£247 million to £256 miltion for the year.

Depreciation charges have increased in respect of LEGOLAND New York, which
opened part way through 2021, LEGOLAND Keorea, which opened in May, and
other new openings.

These are offset by lower charges for Resart Theme Parks. At the start of the
year the Group agreed terms with the landlord for Heide Park Resort,
following similar wansactions that completed at the end of 2021 for the three
Resart Theme Parks in the UK. These agreements have secured our tenure at
these resorts until 2077, increasing lease liabilities and the associated right-of-use
assets, Compared to previous periods depreciation charges have reduced,
reflecting the right-of-use assets now being amortised over that longer period.

Exceptional iten,

2022 2021
53 weeks 52 weeks
£m £m
Underlying profiti(foss) for the year 14 (138)
Exceptional items: 7
Within EBITDA - 3
Within depreciarjc;n, amortisation and impairment - 29 |
Income mx credit on excepl:lonal iterns above 4 -
Profit/(loss) for the year o 89 (140)

Exceptional items reperted within EBITDA totalled £nil before tax credits (2021:
£3 miflion}.

Exceptional items reperted within depreciaden, amortisation and impairment
totalled £29 million (2021; credit of £1 million before tax credits). These were

£22 million for twe Midway attractions, following reviews of market and
economic conditions at those specific locartions, and £7 million in respect of the
Group's investment in the company operating LEGOLAND Dubai Hotel.

Further details can be found in note 2.2 of the financial statements.

Mol Lzl L B ACCDLE T D08
Michveay Artrestions
Growth Like
2022 20221 2021 (actuat for like
53weeks S52weeks 52weeks currency} growth
Visitors (m) 187 279 6.8 66.1%
Revenue (£m) 631 6i0 344 76.9% 70.8%
Underlying ‘
EBITDA (£m) 249 234 102 129.5%
Underlying
EBITDA margin 39.5% 38.4% 29.6%
Operating profit/
(loss) (£m) 130 s (1) n/m

Merlin's Midway attractions are predominantly indoor attractions that operate
year round, with trading volumes generally higher around holiday periods.

QOur Midway North America attractions traded strangly. where we operate
largely domestically-focused brands. Total revenues were ahead of pre-pandemic
levels, driven by elevated revenues per guest and recent attraction openings. On
a like for like basis, revenues for the year to date were broadly in line with pre-
pandemic levels. The North American estate has generally been open in both
2022 and the 2021 comparative period.

WVithin the Midway UK division, robuse revenues per guest and domestic
demand drove positive trading. This was supported by 2 steady recovery in
inbaund international tourism, primarily to our attractions in London.

Our Continental Europe attractions saw similar trends to the UK, albeit 2022
trading was affected for a longer period by restrictions in certain locations. In
2021 crading restrictions impacted the early part of the year and lifted later than
in the UK.

The Asia Pacific region was most negatively impacted by COVID-19 and evolving
governmental responses. Rolling restrictions and lockdowns in China caused
considerable disruption, albeit they started to ease later in the year. Significantly
lower levels of outbound Chinese tourism had a wider impact on the rest of the
Midway Asia Pacific estate. There was 2 continued recovery in Austratia and
New Zealand, driven by domestic visitation and strong revenues per guest.

EBITDA margins have increased to 38.4% (52 weeks) compared to 29.6% in
2021. This reflects the recovery in visitation levels, the strong revenues per guest
as noted above, and short term savings in marketing expenditure. We have also
benefited from government support payments for operating costs, including
where claims have been settled in respect of previous years. We do not
anticipate such support to continue.
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LEGOLAND Pavk.

Growth Like
2022 2022 2021 (actual for like
S3weeks 52 weeks 52weeks currency) growth
Visitors (m) 16.2 158 94 67.2%
Revenue {£m}) 924 903 537 68.3% 48.3%
Underlying o
EBITDA (¢m) 330 37 172 83.6%
Underlying
EBITDA margin 357% 350% 32.1%
Operating 247 234 106 H197%
prof T (£m)

The LEGOLAND parks in California and Florida in the US, and LEGOLAND
Japan, are normally open all year round. The three European parks in the UK,
Denmark and Germany typically open fully in the spring and trade through to
the autumn, with trading ever the winter period more focused on
accommodation offerings and events. All parks see trading volumes higher
around heliday periods, particelarly the main summer trading season. The
recently opened resorts at LEGOLAND New York and LEGOLAND Korea
will operate seasonally, closing over parts of the winter period.

In the US, our LEGOLAND resorts in California and Florida traded strengly,
with elevated revenues per guest and higher accommodation room races. The
first standalone Peppa Pig theme park opened in February as a ‘second gate'
attraction adjacent to EEGOLAND Florida Resort. This new opening traded
ahead of expectations, helping drive total visitation to the resort ahead of the
equivalent periad in 2019. LEGOLAND New York, which opened in 2021, was
closed over the winter season and opened on schedule in the spring.

Tight labour markets in the US have resulted in some staff shortages and
pressure on wages, Despite these challenges, trading was positive, with strong
customer spends and positive satisfaction scores.

Qur European resorts zll showed strang trading, with revenue management
initiatives supportitg revenues per guest, leading to lile for like revenues
increasing against 2019 wrading. All resorts showed accommodation revenues
ahead of expectations, with demand for short breaks driving strong average
room rates. The two resorts located in Germany and Denmark both benefited
from the recovery in international tourist visitation.

Within the Asia Pacific region, LEGOLAND japan built a more sustained
recovery through 2022, with positive momentum over peak season, although
trading remained below pre-pandemic levels. LEGOLAND Korea opened in
May 2022 as the country was exiting from its most severe COVID-19

wave, The LEGOLAND Korea hotel opened as planned on | July. Initial trading
has been encouraging with a focus on building the resort positioning of the
attraction.

Merlin has two LEGOLAND management contract locations. LEGOLAND
Dubai park was open throughout the year but has seen a slow recovery, with
visitor volumes sighificantly below pre-pandemic levels. A themed hotel at the
resort opened in January, developed in partnership with the park’s awners.
LEGOLAND Malaysia was open through the year.

EBITDA margins have increased to 35.0% (52 weeks) compared to 32.1% in
2021. This reflects the strong revenues per guest as noted above, highar than
average staff vacancy levels, and short term savings in marketing expenditure,
offset by ongeing cost pressures. We have also benefited from government
support payments for operating costs, inchiding where claims have been setded
in respect of previous years. YWe do not anticipate such support to continue.

Hesort Thente Parls
Growth Like
2022 w0 2021 {actual for like
53 weeks 52weeks 52 weeks currency} growth
Visitors (m) 1.5 H.4 9.0 26.5%
Revenue (ﬁm} 450 446 374 19.4% 19.6%
Underl)nng )
4.9%
EBITDA (£m) 157 58 148
Undertying
EBITDA margin 350% 348% 39.6%
Operating
? 107 32%
profit {£m) e 87 2

The main trading period for the Resort Theme Parks atwractions, all of which

are in Europe, normally starts during the early spring, with trading over the
winter period more focused on accommodation offerings and events. All parks
see trading volumes higher around holiday periods, pardgeularly the main summer
trading season.

All resorts opened on schedule in the spring and trading was robust across the
Operating Group, which has now fully recovered and traded ahead of pre-
pandemic levels,

The overall performance was driven by the Operating Group’s twe
largest resorts, Alton Towers Resortin the UK and Gardatand Resort in ltaly.

Alton Towers Resort reported record revenue, driven by strong revenues per
guest, reflecting customer demand, our dynamic approach to revenue and
capacity management, and a strong product offering that included a successful
events programme. Demand for short breaks supported strong accommodation
rOGMm rates.

Gardatand Resort benefited from the combination of the recovery of
international tourist visitation, a robust domestic market, the impact of the new
JUMAN]JI - The Adventure’ ride, and a full year of trading from the LEGOLAND
Water Park that opened at the Resortin 2021.

EBITDA margins have fallen to 34.8% (52 weeks) compared to 3%.6% in 2021.
This reflects ongoing cost pressures and inflationary impacts on areas such as
repairs and maintenance. Furthermore, within the UK resorts, 2021 trading
benefited from a lower 5% VAT rate across the peak crading season and up to
the start of Ocrober, when it then moved to [2.5%. There was therefore a less
significanc benefit in 2022 as the rate returned to 20% in April.

These impacts are offset by the strong revenues per guest as noted abave, higher
than average staff vacancy levels, short term savings in marketing expenditure,
and government support payments for operating costs.
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Net finance costs of £25¢ million were incurred in 2022 (202 {: £224 million).

The increase reflects changes in interest rates on the Group's interest-bearing
loans and borrowings, increased lease interest charges following the transactions
whera we exienided the tenure at our leasehold Resort Theme Park locations,
and lower levels of borrowing costs being capitalised following the completion
of LEGOLAND New York and LEGOEAND Korea. These are offset by foreign
exchange gains on non Sterling internal loan structures.

As set out in more deaif below, in 2022 the Group entered into USD 600 million
of tnterest rate swaps, hedging USD LIBOR floating rate debt to 2026, and
EUR 700 million of interest rate caps maturing in 2026.

Profiv before tax
As a resule of the factors noted above, reported rotal profit before tax for the
53 weeks to 31 December 2022 was £136 million (2021 loss of £94 million).

Trsation

The total tax expense for the year was £47 million (202 {: £46 milion) which
represents a reported effective tax rate (ETR} of 34.6%. The underlying ETR,
excluding exceptional items, was 30.8%

The difference betweaen this rate and the UK standard tax rate of 19.0% is
primarily attributable to the effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions and certain
non-deductible expenditure, offset by movements in uncertain tax provisions.
During the course of the year, the conclusion of tax authority enquiries has
enabled certain provisions to be released or reassessed.

In 2021 che effective tax rate was (48.9)%. The difference between this rate and
the UK standard tax rate of 19.0% was primarily attributable to the revaluation
of deferred tax liabilities, due to the change in the UK tax rate from 19% to 25%
from | April 2023, and the non-recognition of tax losses.

The impact of the European Commission's finding relating to the UK's

Controlled Foreign Company rules is further detailed in note 2.4. Charging
notices from HMRC were received for £28 million in 2021, which the Group was
legally obliged to pay. Hawever, it is expected that this £28 million will ultimately
be recovered and it is therefore included as a non-current receivable in the
consolidated financial staterments.

Significant factors impacting the Group's future ETR include the Group's
geographic mix of profits and changes to local or internadonal tax laws. in the
3 March 2021 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will increase to
25% from | April 2023. This will have a consequential effect on the Group's
future tax charge.

The Group has a tax policy that sets out our approach in the areas of
gavernance, risk management, tax planning and how we deal with tax authorities.

This is available on the Merlin website.

Further detail on taxation is provided in note 2.4 to the financial stacements.
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Soash Naw
2022 1021
53 weeks 52 weeks
£m £m
Underlying EBITDA 671 379
Exceptional iterms - 3
Warking capital and other movements (29) 78
Tax {paid)/received (20) E
::::‘,::ise: inflow from operating 622 459
Capicil expenditure — existing estate (90 @
Cap-itai expenditure — new business
development (NBD) %) (219
Orther i;mve;ﬂng activides (<1} 4]
Interest paid, net of interest received (275} (231}
Other - 2 -
changerin borraings 123 )
Net changes in borrowings. including '
shareholder loans (16 29)
Net capital repayments of leases (33) (34)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) for the year o 3y

Crozranng cash fow

Net cash flow from operating activities for the year was an inflow of

£622 million (2021; £459 million), resulting from tocal EBITDA of £67 million, a
working capital cutflow of £29 million and net tax payments of £20 million.

Working capir.al movements in the year of £{29) million retated to a number of
factors. These included increased trade accounts receivable and higher inventory
levels as trading recovered, combined with lower |evels of accruals. This was
offset by trading related increases in deferred income, together with the impact
of share-based payments and certain provisions.

In 2021 positive working capital movements of £78 million reflected the
recovery of trading activity against the much lower levels at the end of 2020, the
shift o online bookings. and a positive contribution from artractions that
opened in 2021 and where there was minimal warking capital in prior periods.

In Q1 2021 the Group made payments to HMRC of £28 million in respect of
the European Commission's review as to whether certain elements of the
UK's Controlled Foreign Company rules partially represent Seaze Aid. The
Group expects that this will ultimately be recovered (see note 2.4 for more
infermation). In Q3 202] the Group received a first payment of £26 million
under the CARES Actin the US, in respect of carry back claims against taxes
paid in previous years.

Operating free cash flow {being underlying EBITDA less existing estate capital
expenditure) was an inflow of £531 million in 2022 (2021 : inflaw of £307 million).

nwasing actviss
A total of £195 million was incurred on capital expenditure in 2022 (2021
£2¢1 milfion).

Existing estate capital expenditure totalled £ 140 million (2021: £72 miflien). In
2021 there were significantly lower levels of activity than normal as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic. While activity levels have increased, they have remained
suppressed to some extent through 2022.

New business development {NBD) investment tosalled £55 million. The most
significant element of this was £33 millicn that related ta the development of
LEGOLAND parks. primarily LEGOLAND Korea, which opened in the year. The
2021 comparative amount was £177 million which also included spend on
LEGOLAND New York A further £6 million refated to new accommedation
development acress our theme park estate, £7 million was in respect of new
Midway attractions and £2 million in respect of other projects.

Other investing activities refates to the acquisition of the COEX Aquarium in
April 2022. In 202} we invested £7 million in respect of the EEGOLAND
Shanghai Resort.

Financing sodvides - EErasr paymanes

Interest payments refate to the Group's extarnal debt and its lease arrangements.
They therefore reflect bath the underlying level of those interest charges, as well
as the timing of when payments are made. Debr interest payments are made
quarterly and six monthly depending on the nature of the debt. In 2022 an
additional quarterly payment was included as a resuit of the impact of the
reporting peried being on a 53 week basis.

The timing of lease payments varies depending on local practice. The Group's
largest lease commitments are in the UK and are paid quarterly.

Finaneng acivities — changas in borrovings

2027

The net change in borrowings totalled an cutflow of £16 million primarily in
respect of mandatory quarterly repayments under the terms of the Group's
banking facilities.

Capital repayments of leases are stated nec of £6 million received from the
landiord as part of the agreement to secure tenure at the Heide Park Resort
(2021: £25 million: in respect of the three UK Resort Theme Park locations - see note
5.4). The dming of payments refleces the factors noted above.

02}

The net change in borrowings totalled an outflow of £29 million, mainly from
the repayment of £15 million in respect of funding received in 2020 from
KIRKEB! for the deferral of certain trading payments and a further £19 mitlien
under the terms of the Group's banking facilities.
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2022 2021
£m Em
Property, plant and equipment 2,664 2,507
Right-of-use assets 1,633 1,512
Brands 1,319 1,311
Goodwill and other intangible asse-t_s 2,366 2.206
Investments I 24
Working capital (265) (328)
Net external debt {3,541) (3.36%)
Lease liabilities {1.612) (1.458)
Net derivative financial assets/(liabilities) 37 [}
Corporate and deferred tax ’ {414 (365-)’
Employee benefits 2 {7
Other assets and liabilities {200) {139}
Necassets 1,886

2,000

The reported values of property, plant and equipment; goodwill and other
intangible assets; and net external debt, reflect the impact of foreign exchange
movements, mainly in respect of the weakening of Sterling compared to the
US Eollar,

Property, plant, and equipment increased by £157 enillion, primarily reflecting
capitai additions and the retranslation of assets at different foreign exchange
rates, offset by depreciation charges.

The ner derivatives value of £37 million refates to mark to market valuations
at the reporting date. These are primarily in respect of the interest rate swap
and cap transactions entered into during the period to hedge interest

rate exposures.

The increase in lease fiabifities and related right-of-use assets reflects the
agreement that secured tenure until 2077 at Heide Park Resort, which
completed early in the reporting period. For more detils see note 5.4.

Further analysis of working capital movements is provided in note 4.4 to the
financial statements.

Ehrnnaing e capieal stevctur o

The key terms of the Group's borrowing facilities are summarised as follows:

Semrn securen debe

. €1,460 mitlion and $1,342 million drawn facilities to mature in November
2026 entered into by the Company’s subsidiary Motion Finco S r.l. The
margins on these facilities are dependent on the Group’s adjusted leverage
ratio and at 3|1 December 2022 were at a margin of 3.0% (2021: 3.0%) for
EUR debt and 3.25% (202} 3.25%) for USD debt over the floating interest
rates when drawn. The relevant floating interest rates are USD LIBOR,
which was 4.73% at 31 December 2022 (0.13% at 25 December 2021) and
EURIBOR, which was 2.20% at 3| December 2022 (nif% ot 25 December
202 1), The terms of the floating rate debt facility require a repayrment of
0.25% of the outstanding principal amount of the USD borrawings every
three months.

. €500 million 7.0% senior secured notes due 2025 entered into by the
Company’s subsidiary Motion Finco Si r.l.

. $400 million 5.75% senior notes due 2026 entered into by the Company’s
subsidiary Merlin Entertainments Limiced.

. A £400 million revolving credit facility to mature in May 2026, of which £nil
was drawn in cash at the end of the reporting period. £30 million was
utilised by way of establishing certin ancillary facilicies, including letters
of credic.

Ondiar senior debe

. $410 million 6.625% senior notes due 2027 and €370 million 4.5%
senior notes due 2027 entered into by the Company's subsidiary Motion
Bondco DAC.

A reconciliation of net debt is set out in the financial statements in note 5.1.

Interesc rave hedging

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on both interest-bearing assets and
liabilities. The Group has z policy of actively managing its interest rate risk
exposure using a combination of fixed rate debt and interest rate derivatives.

At the end of the reporting period the Group had $81¢ million of fixed interest
rate notes and $1,342 million of drawn floating rate facilities. During Q3, the
Group entered into USC 600 million of interest rave swaps, hedging USD
LIBOR floating rate debt to 2024, at an average fixed rate of ¢.3.15%.

Az the end of the reparting period the Group had €870 million of fixed interest
rate notes and € 1,460 million of drawn floating rate facilities. During Q3, the
Group entered inte EUR 700 million of interest rate caps maturing in 2026 at
an average cap strike rate of ¢.}.61% at a running cost of ¢.0.9% per annum

to 2026.

In aggregate, at the end of the reporting period, 67% (2021: 37%} of the
Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings is at a fixed/capped rate for a
weighted average period of 4 years {2021 5 years).
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The Group maintains ongoing relationships with the institutions that provide
financing facilities. This includes the provisian of quarterly financial information,
and presentations by the Chief Financial Officer and the Group Treasurer and
Director of Tax.

The Group keeps the debt markets under review in order to ensure that
funding can be obtained at the right time and at the right price to ensure the
availabilicy of funds to meet strategic growth plans and our other financing
requirements. Merlin actively assesses financing opportunities, which may
include new financings, reﬁnancings and transactions by us or our affiliates in
our existing debt from time to time, whether in the open market, in privately
negotiated transactions, through tender offers or through redemptions, and
such transactions may be material,

Covenants

A financial covenant has existed from 30 September 2020 but is only required
when the revolving credit facility is drawn by 40% or more {net of cash and
cash equivalents). The covenant requires the Group to maintain adjusted
consolidated senior secured leverage below 10x.

Effective june 2021, the Group agreed with its revolving credic facility lenders
to waive the leverage covenant until Q3 2023. As part of this agreement the
Group is required to maintain a minimum liquidity of £75 million (te include
amounts undrawn from the revolving credit facility, and cash and cash
equivalents), over the period of the waiver.

The Group complied with the financial covenants in the year. The Group is
also required to comply with certain non-financial covenants in these bank
facilities and notes, and these requirements were satisfied throughout

the year,

BLW W Dt Dl resuies
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Note 5.3 to the financial statements provides information in the following areas:

. Liquidity risk — how the Group monitors cash requirements and
actively manages surplus cash, together with details of the Group's
contractual maturities,

. Interest rate risk — how the Group manages interest rate exposure.

. Foreign currency risk — how the Group manages foreign exchange
transaction and translation exposures, together with details on the
carrying value of financial assets and liabilities in foreign currencies.

. Credit risk — how the Group manages risks of customers or
counterparties to financial instrurnents failing to meet their obligations.

The Group's risk assessments have identified liquidity/cash flow risk and foreign
exchange transfation risk as two of the Group’s principal risks. Details of these
and whether we believe they are increasing, decreasing, or stable, are set out on
page 23.

Going concern and liquidity

We continue to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Our
projections are based on what we believe is a balanced approach. We will
continue to mehitor our liquidity reguarly, following the approach as set out
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Further details on our going cancern assessment are set out in note 1.1 to the
financial statements.

Adistair Windyuank
Chief Financial Officer
17 March 2023

Financial KPls and Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) — we adopt certain APMs that in our view help present our trading performance in the most helpful and

meaningful way, and that we use consistently each year. These can be summarised as follows:

*  We refer to ERITDA as it is @ profit measure we use internally to measure the performance of our atiractions. It is the KPI that we feel most appropriately captures the ongoing
abifity of aur attractions to generate operating cash flows. Reflecting IFRS 16, this measure does not include the cost of meeting the obligations under our leases, with the

exception of performance-based rentals which continue to be reported within EBITDA.

*  We refer to operating free cash flow, which is underlying EBITDA less existing estate capital expenditure, and which is then available 1o contribute to caphtat reinvestment to
support further growth, meet the abligations under our leases, service the Group’s debt facilities, settle our tax obligations and pravide a retur to our shareholders.
¢ We refer to underlying” results, which remove the impact of any exceptional items and provide o more direct comparison of trading performance. Details of exceptiondl items

are provided in note 2.2 to the financial statements.

e Toprovide @ more direct comparison of trading performance in the existing estate, we refer to like for like’ performance. This represents growth hetween two years at constant
currency and accounting standards, including off businesses owned and operated before the start of the earlier yeor.

Period under review — this year's consolidated Group financial statements dare prepared on a ‘53 week’ basis for the period ending 3! December 2022. In most years we report
on a ‘52 week’ period. in certain years an additional week is included to ensure that the statutory finandal year end date stays in line with the end of December. Within this repart
we also present unaudited 52 week” information for 2022 where we think it will provide @ more direct comparison of performance. The difference between the 52 and 53 week
periods is the week ending 31 December 2022, which includes revenue, cost of sales, and variable operating costs divectly attributable to that week. Annudl fixed costs and centra!
overheads are not allocated to the 53¢ week s they are not incrementally incurred costs. All balance sheet, and therefere cash flow information, is reported as at the statutory year

end date and therefore represents g °53 week' periad in 2022 (2021 52 weeks).

Reference to financial statements — further information regarding the Group’s segmental analysis; geagraphical revenues and assets; and certain operating costs are provided in
note 2.1 to the financial staterments on pages 49 to 52, Those areas requiring significant judgement in the preparation of the finoncial statements are summarised on page 48.
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In accordance with the delegated matters set out in the Shareholder
Investment Agreement, Merlin maintains effactive internal control and risk
management systems, with Board Committees and executive management
keeping them under regular review. These activities arc supported by ‘The
Merlin Way', our corporate values, which we believe should drive good

behaviours and actions by all employees.

After two years of turbulence in Merlin's trading acuvities, the Company
continues to be rigorous in its approach to the operational and financial control
environmenc, with 2 strong facus an protecting corporate rescurces.

The Audic Committee and the Health, Safety and Security Commitzee continue
to receive regular updates about changes in organisational risk to ensure that
the effectiveness of the control frameworks is kept under review.

fnternai contrul frarncworic

The creation of an effective internal control framework helps ensure:

. proper financial records are maintained;

. the Group’s assets are safeguarded;

*  compliance with laws, regulations, policies and procedures including those
refating to health and safety matters: and

e effective and efficient operation of business processes.

Merlin’s internal control framewerk is designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve the Group's objectives and <ar only
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The key elemencs of the internal control framework are described below:
. Managemzn seructure — clearly defined reporting lines, accountabilicies,
and authority levels.

L] Swrategic ehnning, sk maragement and business pe-lormance

mortitering — reviewed by the Merlin Board annually, with cur pipeline for

the delivery of new attractions reviewed regularly to:

()  assess whether new compelling experiences and attractions in

development are progressing according to schedule;

(i} identify new ideas and assess fit with our brand pordclie; and

(i} assess the expected commercial returns.

Business objectives and performance measures are set annually together

with budgers and forecasts. Regular business performance reviews are

conducted at Operating Group and individual actraction level.
i orocedures — a portfolio of palicies and procedures is in place
for all areas of the business. The appropriateness and application of these
is continuously monitored to ensure they are proportionate to the risk
and are complied with. Assurance comes from several sources that include
health, safety and security (H55}, financial and cperational audit activities
and self-certification.

G

Qur key control activities include:

. Onecational — there are a range of control measures and performance
indicators in place to ensure the effective and efficient operation of our
aceractions and to give our guests safe and memorable visits.

. ricalh, sotety and security (M55} — all our sites operate using a well-
established Safety Management System designed to ensure that they
aperate in compliance with relevant regulatory and legisltative requirements.
Regutar HSS internal audits are undertaken to confirm this is the case,
ensuring that any safety and security matters are understood and dealt
with promptly.

¢ Irformaten techno'ogy — the Group has 2 wide range of IT technical.
security, and disaster recovery controls to ensure that it has a seable
infrastructure platform from which to operate.

. Firancial — our controls are designed to prevent and detect financial
misstatement or fraud and operate at three levels. Oversight controls are
typically performed by senior managers at Group and business unit level,
Month end and year end procedures are performed as part of our regufar
firancial reporting. Transactional level controls operate on 2 day-to-day
basis. To specifically address potential fraud risks at a transactional level, a
group of profit protection professionals are employed to support
management in addressing these risks at an actraction level.

. Eus: continity planning — disaster recovery plans and crisis
management protocols are in place to allow attractions to reinstate

performance should adverse events occur.

Risle rannagement frameworlk

The risk management framework sets out responsibilities together with the
aversight, monitoring, reporting and management processes that support their
fulfilment. The framework looks at both “cop down’ and ‘bottom up’ approaches
to risk management whereby the Merlin Board retains overall responsibilicy for
risk management, while sites are respansible for identifying, assessing and
mitigating operational risks.

Risk aversight and manitoring is the responsibilicy of the following Comrnittees:

. Health. Safery and Securiyy Commitee — oversight and guidance on
management of HSS risks. Responsible for ensuring compliance with
legislation or industry standards in safeguarding guests, employees, visitors,
and concractors.

. audit Cormr miteee ~ oversight and guidance on financial process risk.
Responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Group's overall approach
to risk management and internaf control.

gement Comniciee ~ oversight and

. Cormarcal and Strategic Rist,
guidance on management of commercial and strategic risk.

Each Committee reviews the principal risks on a regutar basis and considers
whether material changes in the external landscape or recent trading trends
require alternative approaches to monitoring and managing risk. Committee
members regularly receive deep dive updates on topics relared to significant
risks as well as regular reporting from internal and external assurance providers.

RIS TNt ate B R )



RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

Rist appetice

The Group's risk appetite falls into two distinct categories:

. Complinc. ris': — the requirement to comply with legislacive or
regulatory requirements in alf territories where the Group operaces. It
includes, but s not limited to, ride safety, accounting practices, fraud and
bribery, as well as ensuring compliance with the Group's values and ethical
principles. In chese areas we are risk averse and do not countenance any
breaches in compliance obligations.

. Cermersial risk — commereial risks are taken to maximise profitable
growth and sustainable returns, without compromising the health, safety
and security of guests, employees, contractors, other visitors or animals.
They must be aligned with the Greup's policies on suszainabilicy and the
environment The Group manages these commercial risks through an
appropriate analysis of threats and opportunities together with structured
review processes, independent expert apinions and decision-making
authority levels. Factors such as the scafe of passible commercial upside,
the potential market size, the quantum of downside risk and timescales
involved may all be relevant to commercial risk decisions.

Quancitative and qualitative measures ensure effective governance of the
Group's risk appetire. Quantitative measures include defined financial and non-
financial targets such as EBITDA, operating profit, and guest satisfaction scores.
Qualitative measures consider items such as reputational impact and compliance
with laws and regulations.

D 13 W ICCUNTT Ut
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Effectivencsa of rislo iramiger oo and internal control systems

Based on its review of risk management systems, both throughout the year and
annually, the Board is satisfied that the risk management and internal control
systems that were in place during 2022 were effective.

Hhass for 2023

During 2023 we will continue to evolve our risk management approach to:

- monitoring and measuring the impact of climate change and associated
environmental issues affecting the territories in which our
businesses operate;

. employee engagement and retention, so that we continue to be an
employer of choice; and

. IT technical, security, and disaster recovery activities to deliver stable
infrastructure platforms from which to operate.

At the same time. we will cantinue our journey to standardise and automate
transactional processing activities, to deliver consistency of business process and
screngthen the internal financial control framework.

20
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The Merlin Board has considered the feedback from the Board Committees and executive management on the range of risks that could impact the Group, and
has concluded that the principal risks are those set out in the table below. The gross risk trend indicator included in the table reflects the exposure before
mitigation and is used to compare to the previous year as to whether significant risks are stable, increasing or decreasing. The Merlin Board sees no significant
movements in the cutlook for most of the principal risks, with the exceptions of the competition for talent, inflationary increases for labour and other
operating costs, as well as threats emanating from cyber and fraud refated activity. Comments in the table provide excra decail to help illustrate the direction of

specific risks.

|. Safety

Stable

1. Security

Stable

3. Commerdial impact of
exrarnal threats to
location based
entertainment
operations

Stable

4. Innovation, brand
development and
customer satisfaction

Stable

Description

Serious incidents leading to guests, staff members or

contractors being harmed or bacoming il because of:

®  afailure to follow health and safety management
systems.

. fire, flood, storm or utility fallure, potentially driven by
extreme weather events.

. substandard build quality or asset degradation:
inadequate maintenance and management of bufldings,
infrastructure and vegetation.

Reduction in guest canfidence to visit the Group's
attractions because of sabotage or a terrorist attack on a
ride or attraction leading to a guest or staff member or
anirmal in our care being harmed.

Personal health and security concerns that flow from
geopolitical actions, terrorist activity, public healch
pandemics or climate change events, resulting in falling
visitation to a location in which the Group operates, with
displacement of both international and domestic tourists.

In extremis, such events may lead to governmental or other
regulatory instructions to close our attractions, including
over multiple geographies.

Exchange rate volaility can have a positive or adverse
impact on inbound tourism,

Acute periods of inflation can impact consumers’ appetite

for discretionary purchases.

Qur growth potential could be impacted if guests:

*  consider our offerings are outdated, no longer relevant
or enjoyable; or

. pravide negative social media comments that adversely
influence the likelihood of a customer to visit an
attraction.

How risks are managed

L

Regular performance reviews by Board Committee with a
specific mandate for this area.

Ownership of heaith, safety and security (HSS) risks by line
management.

Competent operational and engineering seaff monitor and
inspect facilities in accordance with a planned programme,
backed up by professional +4SS teams.

Annual risk register review and action planning processes.
Regular internal and independent external auditing and review
regimes.

Contracvor selection, approval and monitoring by in-house
quafified project managers.

Detailed security protocals before individuals access an
attraction (e.g. bag searches}.

Regular infrastructure reviews to reduce the opportunity for
physicai threats to guests, staff or anirmals.

Extensive use of CCTV.

Regularly tested major incident management plans.

Current events viglantly monitored to idencify emerging
risks.

Co-operation with local and national security forces.
Appropriate insurance cover.

Board Committee established with specific mandarte for this
risk area.

Increased geographicat hedging as a resulc of further global
diversification.

Ability to reduce variable expenditure, for example in staffing,
property and marketing costs.

Ability to defer non-essential capital expenditure.

Crisis management procedures for each attraction that set
out the appropriate response.

Ability to direct marketing and promotional activity towards
domestic or interrational audiences depending on tourism
trends.

Ability co promote access to a wide portfolio of attractions
using annual pass or cluster ticketing.

Customer feedback collected at every location and analysed
against chalienging satisfaction targets. Actions then taken
accordingly.

Cngoing investment in our attractions ta continually refresh
the guest experience.

Engagemnent with the public and on social media to take any
requisice action.

Zl
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Risk

5. People availabiliy and
expertise

Increasing risk

6. Competition and
Intellectual Property (IF)

Stable

7. Awailability and delivery
of new sites and
attractions

Stable

8. Animal welfare

Stable

9. IT robustness,
rechnological
developments and cyber
security

Increasing risk

Description

As noted elsewhere in this report, we continue to face the
challenge of atiracting and retaining appropriately
experienced and well-motivated customer service
orientated staff, especially in locations with significant
upwards wage pressures. This could impact:

*  guest satisfaction; or

- the successful delivery of planned future expansion.

Campetition — for leisure time; from new or existing
providers of focation based entertainment; and for [P around
which compelling propasitions are created.

The commercial benefics from using third party IP may be
lost from waning interest or withdrawal of permission to use
third party IP content, where contractual obligations are not
met, or partner refationships are not managed effectively.

The ability of the Group to grow in line with strategic

abjectives could be inhibited by the lack of:

. economically viable sites to locate Midway attractions
and LEGOLAND parks; and

. timely approval of planning censent required for
building new rides, attractions and accommaodation.

Incidents or staff behaviours leading to animals in our care

being harmed as a resulc of:

. a faiture to follow prescribed welfare protocols; or

. inadequate maintenance and management of buildings,
infrastructure and vegetation.

The Group operates various IT systems and applications, the
absolescence or failure of which could impede trading or
the ability to operate an attraction. Without the technical
developments necessary to meet consumer or business
expectatians, the Group may fail to deliver the growth
required by the business strategy.

Failure to put in place suicable technical and organisational
measures to ensure compliant data processing in ling with
ghobal legislative requirements could lead to data loss or
inability to use |T systems for a prolonged period, a data
breach, or 1 securicy incident resulting in data protection
sanctions, investigations and enforcement actions by local
regulators and individuals themselves.

We currently see a greater incidence and impact of cyber-
attacks on organisations across the giabe. The Merlin Board
continues to consider cyber security risks, together with the
Group's ongoing investment in thac area.

JRCATT AN R T3 MICIDUNET Te

How risks are managed

Driving greater productivity to ensure more motivated,
better rewarded employees.

Reviews of employment markets and salary benchmarking.
Personal development plans across the business to encourage
long term employment scability.

Proactively managed succession planning processes
embedded across the Group.

Annual employee survey to monitor employee engagement
and identify opportunities to develop HR policies and
processes.

Diversification of the portfolio,

Ongoing investment to ensure continued appeal to visitors.
Competitor research and monitoring.

Dedicated in-house creative team to deliver new and
innovative compelling propasitions and IP.

Proactive management of IP partherships.

Experienced site search and business developmene teams,
waorking several years in advance to maintain a strong pipeline
of opportunities.

Sites regularly update development masterplans and work
ctosely on fostering links with iocal communities and planning
authorities.

Dedicated resources used to support the Group's rell out
strategy.

External zoo licence audits.

An internal ethics committee and the SEA LIFE Conservation,
Welfare and Engagement team monitor the treatment of
animals.

A comprehensive range of policies, standards. procedures
and guidelines.

Training programmes for all staff who interact with animals.
Planned preventative maintenance programimes o ensure
buildings, infrastructure and vegetation remain suitable for
displaying the animals in our care.

Strategie focus to ensure the long term stability of operating
systems and data security, whilst keeping pace with changing
consumer IT expectations.

Increasing resilience and stability of IT infrastructure and
security through an expanded use of secured hosting partners
and penetration testing regimes.

Implementation of additional security measures to mitigate
the increasing threat of cyber security risk,

A number of data protection poficies are in place to protect
the privacy rights of individuals in accordance with relevant
data protection legislation.

Continuous review of our data protection approach in light
of evalving legistation in all operating territories.
Independent assessment of compliance arrangements.
Regular updates provided to cthe Merlin Board by the Chief
Technology Officer on any cyber incidents and the wider
cyber security landscape.
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RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

Risk

10. Impact of increasing
Costs on operating
margins and returns on
capital

increasing risk

Il. Ant-bribery and
corruption

Increasing risk

12, Liquidity/cash flow risk

Stable

13. Foreign exchange
translation risk

Stable

Description

As noted elsewhere in this report, we currently see
significant inflationary pressures in a number of economies.
This includes areas such as wages, fuel and energy costs.

Such inflationary pressures on cost of sales, aperating costs
and capital expenditure programmes may not be fully
compensated by increases in selling prices or the ability to
redesign capital projects to keep expenditure down,

Merlin's business model for sales is low risk, the majority of
transactions being with individual customers at low values.
From a procurement or service delivery perspective, Merlin
currently operates in or is establishing operations in a
number of territories which have a propensity for incidents
of bribery and corruption.

Any such incident could lead te criminal or civil prosecution,
fines and cause reputational damage to the Group.

A lack of liquidity could inhibit the ability of the Group to

grow in line with strategic objectives if:

. insufficient cash is generated during peak trading
periods to cover fixed costs, interest and tax payments
and capital investments (including strategic acquisitions,
the rolt out of Midway artractions, the development of
new LEGOLAND parks and new accommodation
offerings}).

e changes in the global credit market impace the Group's
long term abilicy to meet current growth targets.

. there is an increase in short term interest rates in
primary borrowing currencies.

In extremis, adverse events may lead to a requirement to
seck extra sources of fiquidity.

Merlin generates its main profits in Sterling, Euros and US
Dollars and has debt in Euros and US Dollars.

Merlin reports its results in Sterling and is therefore subject
to translazion risk from exchange rate fluctuations when
reporting its consolidated results.

How risis are managed

Strategic focus on pricing associated with changing consumer
expectations.

Increasing the proportion of the cost base that is variable in
nature or can be flexed to meet demand.

Effective financial and cantractual controls regarding
procurement activities.

Redesign capial schemes to a lower cost outcome.

A well-embedded corporate culture in which fraud and
bribery at any level are not tolerated.

Global fraud and bribery training programmes and a fraud
policy sign-off for all staff,

Financial and contractual controls with regard to
procurement activities.

Internal audit monitors purchasing processes on a rotational
basis.

A separate profit protection team monitors for theft or other
eriminal activity across the Group and ensures best practice
for protection is shared berween sites.

A whistleblowing policy is in place together with an
independently operated employee hotline.

A committed £400 million multi-currency revolving credic
facility assists with liquidity and seasomal cash flow
requirements.

Review of weekly cash flow forecasts covering a period of
12 weeks assists planning for short term liquidity.

Strategic plans cover at least feur future years and are
reviewed regularly to ensure sufficient financial headroom
exists or whether it needs to be created in the future. We
also monisor the impact of the plans on the covenant tests
set out in the Group's banking facilities.

Interest rate risk is managed through a combination of fixed
rate borrowings and hedges taken out on floating rate debt.
Merlin maintains strong relationships with a number of
lenders and keeps the debt markets under review in order to
ensure that funding can be obuained at the right time and at
the right price to ensure the availability of funds to meet
serategic growth plans.

The Group presents constant currency figures where
appropriate to show underlying results excluding the irmpact
of translation differences.

Treasury policies in place and reviewed amnually with regular
reviews of currency exposures.

Broad mateh of borrowings in the currencies of underlying
profits.
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Merlin's commitment and strong social conscience drives our approach 1o
business responsibility and ‘being a force for good'. This is reflected in how we
weat, and care about, our visitors, our people, our suppliers, our planet, the
animals we look after and the communities in which we operate. We have
robust governance standards and practices that extend throughout the business.

‘The Merlin Way" is the set of values which embody everything we do, and
which provide the basis for our goals and objectives. We advocate The Merlin
Way' through many of our global engagement activities and our staff wellbeing
programmes. More details can be found en our website
(www.merlinentertainments.biz).

We set out more details below, which include the five specific areas required
under the non-financial reporting requirements in the Companies Act 2006
Further information can also be found on Merlin’s website and the websites of
our partner charities.

Employeas

Emiploy - engrgemant

tn 2022 more than 18,000 people completed our The Wizard YWants to Know'
employee engagement survey, a response rate of 84%. Our overall engagement
score was 68%, an encouraging increase of 5% on the previous year.

We have introduced long term incentive plans that are aligned to the strategic
objectives of our shareholders, provide incentive structures for our
management teams and include outstanding contribution and long service
awards that are available to all employees.

Envployes communication

Throughout the year, lines of communication with our employees were
maintained, ensuring that afl employees were kept fully updated on business
operations on a regular basis. Tools such as the ‘MyMerlin® intranet and ‘The
Wizard's News', our monthly company digital newsletter, continued e
celebrate successes and effectively communicate across all our sites.

Genduwr r2oocting

Through 2022, one of the Company's seven Directors and one of the Group's
seven Executive Committee members were fernafe. At December 2022, of the
Group's senfor management positions (being attraction General Managers up

te and including the Executive Committee) |25 (36%) were female and 243
(64%) were male. This is consistent with 2021. The percentage of female
permanent employees is 49% (2021: 49%; totalling 4,268 {2021: 4,{65}. The split
of male versus fetnale employees has therefore broadly remained consistent.

Merlin continues to report on LK employees under the UK gender pay gap
reporting rutes, which identify differences in pay between men and women. For
the fatest available reporting period to 5 April 2022, Merlin’s mean gender pay
gap (calculated as the difference between the average hourly pay of men and
women as 2 percentage of the average hourty pay of men) was |8.2% (202{:
14.2%, 2020: 4.7%). The median gender pay gap (the difference between the
haurly pay of an employee in the middle of the range of male wages and an
employee in the middle of the range of female wages), was 4.0% (2021: 3.2%,
2020: 3.5%).

CRRIAL GEPOL S IO S T

The increase in both figures reflects shifts in the range of employees captured
within the reporting parameters during furlough periods, and the positive
employee bonus result which paid out in the 2022 reporting period. The impact
of a positive bonus is seen more readily in senior, higher compensated roles,
which are currently held by a greater propartion of male employees. Merlin
strives to improve its gender balance in senior roles by actively encouraging and
promoting more females, as well as apening more opportunities ir traditionally
male-dominated roles like engineering. We also host a number of initiatives to
educate and inspire career progresston within Merlin among female staff,

Recruitment, trasning and aevelopmen:

Merlin runs 2 variety of training and development activities across all parts of the
business. These range from induction training and role specific learning (for
example in health and safety, and animal welfare), through management and
leadership pragrammes, and on to executive leadership development. Qur Merlin
Careers website shows available roles across the business globally as well as
providing infarmation on the apprenticeships we offer in areas such as hospitality,
engineering, management, and marketing.

During the COVID-19 pandemic we created mere online content and seif-led
learning modules so teams could continue to access learning cpportunities
remotely. Through 2022, we shifted ta a blended mix of online learning and
development. and 'in person’ programmes for leadership development and eritical
skills such as marketing. engineering and commercial training.

Risk management
For details of how we manage the risks of peaple availability and their expertise,
see page 12.
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Healrh, sifory and sacurit

In accordance with the Shareholder Investment Agreement, the Board has
created a Health, Safety and Security Committee which, together with the
Merlin Board and management, ensures that Merlin is dedicated ro delivering
best in class health, safety and security {HSS) standards thac are clearly
understood and implemented across the Group, These standards ensure the
safety and wellbeing of our guests, employees and contractors. To support this
mission, Merlin sets out its core HSS strategic initiatives and how these must
direct and focus all efforts in a manner that is both systematic and progressive.

To help communicate these initiatives to our key internal and excernal
stakehalders, Merlin publishes an informartive brochure called ‘Protecting the
Magic — a Guide to Health, Safety and Security at Merlin Entertainments’. This
dacument is available via our corporate website and our dedicated HSS
‘ProtectingTheMagic.com’ website. Additional HSS news items and features are
also published throughout the year on Merlin's ‘Backstage' websice.

Emerging rem COVID- 12

Much of the world experienced renewed business and consumer activity in 2022
following numerous lockdowns and government imposed restrictions to help
combat the worst public health effects of COVID-19. Mertfin's COVID-|9
countermeasures remained dynaric and able to adapt to differing states of
government restrictions, dependent on the specific country or territory.
Attention remained focused on ensuring that Merfin’s core HSS programmes
and standards continued to be suitable and applied at those attractions that
were emerging from multiple years of COVID-19 related lockdowns

and restrictions.

Attractions applied a robust approach to their HSS activities, ensuring thac the
correct and necessary arrangements were in place to proactively and effectively
support the many new employees that were joining the business in 2022. A
resolute and unwavering focus on the application of Merlin’s MSS programmes
was required through the year as tight lzbour markets evolved and attractions
sought to enhance their resourcing levels. Supported by Merlin's central
functions, attraction teams were able to ensure that high safety standards and
HSS performance and cutcomes were achieved,

The overall strength of cur HSS performance is evidenced by the continued low
level of Merlin's Medical Treatment Case rates {relating to guests and
emplayees), as seen in the KP| table on the following page.

With global travel freeing up in 2022, Merfin’s HSS audit programme resumed.
Specialist auditors in the fields of safety, engineering and food safety undertook
deep-dive audits across a range of attractions. Such audits remained
camplemented by independent ride safety inspections undermken each year by
specialist third party ride examiners, as commissioned by Merlin.

Merlin's Safety Weelk also resumed in 2022, focusing on the important topic of
attraction security. With notable enthusiasm and participation across all of
Merlin’s attractions, many engagement, learning and best practice sharing
actvities ook place, all serving to ensure that security protocols and
arrangements remain front and centre of employee understanding and conduct,

3
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Strarcglo FSS initiadves

The fellowing strategic inidatives form the cornerstones to Merlin's ‘Protecting

the Magic’ programme:

. Leadursinp and ergagemant — requiring our [eaders to exhibit visible,
proactive and unwavering leadership towards HSS, supported by our
people who are fully engaged with this shared responsibiliy. An example
is ‘safety leadership walks' which are on-site walks, both in visitor areas
and ‘back of house’, by senior leaders in the business where dedicated
time is spent talking with staff about HSS matters and understanding what
more ¢an be done.

. Comperency and culturs — fostering a positive and proactive safety
culture, with competent and taiented people focused on the effective
management, of H5S risks. Rigorous training and instruction are
fundamental to Merlin’s approach to HSS across the business, with
mandatory new starter training for all employees and safety leadership
training for managers.

. Assessment and control of ik — identifying, understanding and contreliing
HSS risks effectively. For example, in the area of fire safecy, fire engineering
surveys of our hotels have helped ensure that we continue to uphold the
highest of physical and procedural controls at all of our hotels. With regard
to food safety we adopt the best practice system of Hazard Aralysis and
Critical Control Points (HACCP). We ensure traceability and assurance
over food produce sources and support our guests in their choice of
products based on their specific dietary and allergy requirements.

. Standards ard srocecures — developing and rigorously implementing clear
and suitable standards and procedures for safe design, construction,
maintenance and operation of assets and equipmenc

. Assets and equipment — managing our assets and equipment to ensure they
are fit for purpose throughout their life cycle and that no unacceptable or
uncontrolled HSS risk is created. Maintenance systers and procedures
comprise daily, weekly, monthly and 2nnual maintenance programmes
across Merdin's rides, butldings, facilities and estates.

. fonitoring and assurance — assessing and critically reviewing our
performance in a balanced and objective manner, in order to understand,
improve and sustain our HSS performmance. HSS perfermance, including
near-miss and incident reporting, is regularly reviewed by each actraction,
each Operating Group's senior leadership team and the HSS Committee,
with best practice learning shared threugheut the HSS management
community. All attractions underge three types of routine health and safecy
reviews {annual self-audits, independent internal audits and periodic
independent extarnal audits), in additon to pre-opening assessments and
tactical ad-hoc audits. A comprehessive food safety audit programme is also
undertaken by third party speciafists.

This process includes the use of two types of performance metric, being;

(iy Leadng adicarors — which monitor the activities we undertake as part
of our HSS governance and monitoring processes. Qur appreach
includes arrangements by attractions for near-miss/unsafe condition
reporting, trend znalysis and corrective action management.

(i} Laweise n6 oc.ors — which capture incident rates for both guests
and employees.
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The resuls of our menitoring and assurance activities are set out below.

Leading indicators 2022 2021

Safety Inspection Certificates — Rides™ 100%  100%
Safe Operating Procedures — Rides® 100%  100%
Food Safety Audits™ 8%  NA
Safety Culture Survey Results™ - 74% 75%

HSS Commi-ttee Meetings®™ - 90% 100%
Lagging indicators

Medical Treatment Case Rate (Guests)*® 001 0.02
Medical Treatment Case Rate (Employees)® 004 006

U}

]

t3)

5

{6)

Safety Inspection Certificates are Issued annually by independent ride examiners following the thoraugh
inspection and testing of every thense perk ride in Merlin. This % score indicates the percentage of nides
that hove valid annual Safety Inspection Certificates issued, or o formal extension granted to such onaval
Inspection Certificates due to the impact of cross-border travel rastrictions brought on by the COVID-19
pandemic {maink for China).

Each theme park ride in aperction in Merlin must have Safe Operating Procedures in place covering the
angoing use of the ride. These procedures must state wiiat the necessary nsk controls are for each ride.
This % scare indicates the percentage of rides that have Safe Operating Procedures in ploce.

Meriin comimissians on independent speciaiist to audit atractions for compliance with its Food Safety
Monual. This % score represents the averege compliance score, and includes these edditional compliance
oudits completed in-house by Merlin's Group Head of Food Safety and Public Health. Where opportunities
for improvement ¢ local practices are identified, these are with lecal and plans
implemented to address them. Due to the impoct of cross-border trovel restrictions brought on by the
COVID-19 pandemic, as well as extensive attraction temporary closures, such on-site audits were not able
0 take placa in 2021,

Merlin’s onnual The Wizard Wonts to Know" employee survey features o series of questions relating to
heatth and safety and this % score represents the overall safety engogement score.

Through the HSS Committee the Merin Board provides strategic direction and performance scrutiny of
H5S matters within the business. Additionclly, each Operating Group figs its own HSS Steering Committee.
These forums are intended to meet quarterly and this % score indicate: compliance with this expectation.
Due to some organisational changes, one LEGOLAND Parks HSS Commitiee meeting ond one Midway
Attractions HSS Commuttee meeting were rescheduied 1o outside of this reporting period.

A Medical Treatment Case (MTC) is defined o5 an injury which requires external medical trequment

(i.e. ombulance attendance to the site or hospital visit directly from the site). The rotes referenced are the
number of MTCs relative to either 10,000 guest visitations or 10,000 empioyee hours warked. Through
focused and sustained efforts by attroction tegrms, both Case Rates have seen g positive reduction in
2022, versus 2021
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Gevernanna

We recognise that our operations impact upon the environment and that
effective management of this, in line with our strategic business goals, is essential
for sustainable business success. We are committed to minimising the
potentially harmful effects of such activity.

The Executive Committee is responsible for setting strategy, policy, principles,
and guidance, with ultimate responsibility for our sustainability strategy restng
with the Chief Executive Officer. ensuring that strategic policy is implemented
and that our sites’ sustainability objectives aligh to our corporate sustainabilicy
objectives. ¥We participate in the UK Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme and
other applicable environmental regulations globally. Specific budgets are made
available each year to test and implement environmenzally focused initiatives.

The Group Sustainability Director is responsibie for the development and
implementation of the strategy, policy and principles across the business in
order to ensure effective management of our climate impacts.

Our global attractions can draw from the Group’s green capex fund to carry
out low-carbon and efficient technology projects, and each attraction has a
sustainability champion or manager who is responsible for the delivery of our
sustainability ohjectives at a local level, More details can be found on the “Policies
& Reports’ section of our website where our environmental policy is published.

2022 accpaties

We continued to drive awareness in our staff and guests around environmental
issues, launching our sustainability good practice guide and video for our general
managers and tachnical staff. Qur green capex fund supported projects within
the estate on LED lighting optimisation, variable frequency drives and the
optimisation of building management and life support systems,

Merlin is committed to increasing on-site selar photovoltaic energy generation,
and we are actively exploring the opportunity to have a combined solar
photoveleaic of over IMYY across four of our resorts ac LEGOLAND
California, LEGOLAND Windsor, Gardaland and THORPE PARK.

We know that electric vehicles have a crucial role to play in decarbenising our
planet and ownership of electric vehicles is on the rise. We are therefore
working with a partner to install efectric vehicle chargers across our UK resorts.

In November 2022 we were delighted to partner with Kensa Group to turn the
lastminute.com London Eye green,

Plastic peliutien

Merfin has been a long term advocate for reducing plastic pollution as well as
progressing the positive impact our businesses and teams can make on their
focal environments and communities. VWe continue to review alf our retail
stores to remove unnecessary packaging and plastic across all of

our merchandise.

These initiatives will continue in 2023 and beyond. This includes warking with
our global supply chain to remove unnecessary plastic packaging from our shops;
providing opportunities for all our staff and guests to become involved at our
arcracticns, as well as helping them consider behavioural change in their
everyday lives; and supporting the SEA LIFE TRUST in campaigning across the
glabe for greater protection for our marine environment and its creatures,
including their annuat beach clean which takes place on World Oceans Day.

LonzrDi S WEOU D il

FRULTE AN

Zlirete cange
The Graup has identified the following issues related to dimate change, which are
set out below, together with Merlin's approach in the relevant area;

. Enprgy use - how usig foss. fuel anergy comir-butes o dimate chango.
Merlin is working on increasing its en-site renewable technologies such as
solar photovelaic.

. Ervegy price — the sk ¢f fuctwadsn i global energy prozs
Merdin is exploring the opportunity of a Power Purchase Agreement (PPA)
for solar photovoltaic farms. Merlin is also investing in energy efficient
systems like variable speed drives and LED lighting to reduce the amount of
energy we use.

. wWaather — the rsh. of Jsioraon o weathar batierns.
Merlin operates a balance of outdeor theme park resorts and Midway
attrzctions which are generally indoors.

. Waste, recycling. and the use f lendfit,
Merlin is diverting waste from landfllt where possible through recycling and
generating energy from waste. For example, our four largest UK theme
parks recycle and recover all their waste for energy generation.

‘tas.: Farce on Climace-Relared Financial Drisciosures {1 CrD)
In accordance with mandatory TCFD reporting in the UK, Merlin will comply
with TCFD from 2023.
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The Company is required to report each year on its carbon dioxide emissions, which are set out in the table below. We have followed the 2019 HM Government

Environmental Reporting Guidelines. YWe have used the Greenhouse Gas Protocol —

Corporate Standard and have used emissions factors from IEA Emissions

Factors 2022 for electricity by country and UK Government GG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2022 for all other carbon acuvities. We have chosen
the financial control boundary method as this allows us to report or all sources of envirenmental impact over which we have financial control.

in the period covered by this report, Merlin launched a series of energy efficiency ini

inatives such as a life suppore system filtradon optimisavion, LED lighting

optimisation, varable frequency drives and building management systems across our estate. Together these projects are expected to save 448,722 kvWWh annually. In
this period, we purchased 62,433 MWh of renewable energy attributes through aur energy procurement contracts. The attributes are backed by Renewable Energy

Guarantees of Origin (REGOs).

Qur carbon reporung period for 2022 is from Seprember 202 to August 2022 The KP! far measuning o carben emissions trend is carbor emissions per

£1 million of revenue. Our repoited carbon intensity ratic. that measures the usage of CO, equivalent (CO-e) as compared ta revenue, decreased significandly from
68 to 49 grass tCO;e per £1 millian of revenue. ¥We have thereflore achieved a ZB% carbon intensity reduction {market-based) on our 2021 figure. This reduction is
due to the increase in 2022 revenue compared te 2021, and reflects the fact that a significant element of our energy usage does nac flex with wrading volumes,

combined with the results of energy efficiency measures. green energy procurement and employee awareness.

WWe have previously sec ourselves a target of a 2% year on year reduction in our carbon emissions intensicy.

Energy consumpnon used to calcular.e emissions (MWh)

Emissions from combustion of nar.ural gas, 0I| and LPGin l:COze (Scope I)

Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes in tCOse (Scope |}
Emissions from use of CO, for foed and beverage purposes in tCOhe (Scope 1)
Refrigerant emissioﬁs from refrigeration systems in tCOse (Scope 1)

Emi_ssions from purchased electr.icity and district heating {Scope 2, location-based}
Emissions after applying purchased green emissions in tCOsqe (Scope 2, market-based)

Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee-owned vehicles where company
is responsrb|e for purchasmg the fuel in tCO;e {Scope 3)

Total gross in tCO-e

Group toml in tCOle

Group revenue (£m)

Intenslty raho' Group gruss tCO;eI El mllllon revenue

Table notes;

L] Scape | refers 1o direct emissions (natural gos, LPG, heating of, refrigerants, diesel, petrol).
. Scope 2 refers to indirect emnissions {purchased electricity, purchased heat).

. Scope 2 market-based include REGOs for our UK operations,

. Under Scope 3 enussions we report UK business travel mileage claims {a subset of scope 3 category 6 business travef).

. Qur annual carbon reduction target is measured based on market-based emissions.

2022
Global
UK (excluding UK)
117,972 265,005
7527 11,103
83 356
6 48
686 3615
14,337 72,182
2,144 72182
2 Not reported
10.448 87,304
97,752
2,006

pe Ry

2021

Global
UK {excluding UK)
102,993 212,657
ey 84so
439 ol
1 39
679 2584
13,297 63,717
2,063 63.717
3 Not reported
Cesse 7700

85,555

1,261

L] We gre not able to exdude some emissions from outsourced operations in our food and beverage, games ond photography areds, due to the complaxity of determining their share of emistions. We
plan to determine these emissions in the firure and re-base our corbon emissions if necessary, ir fine with our corbon recalculation poifcy.
. Defra carbon reporting factors 2022 were used for ali conversions to MWh based on Gross Calorific Value (CV) (except for business mileage where Net CV was applied; this 1s Jess thon 0.05% of our

averdl! calcdlated energy).
. IMWh is equivalent to {,000kWh.
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SorTiriators

Qur strong social conscience informs how the Group operates and we care
about both the people and creatures connected with our business. This is
exemplified by areas such as how we approach visitor accessibilicy, our ethical
animal welfare activities, and our work together with our partner charity, Merlin's
Magic Wand, to support children faced with the chalienges of serious illness,
disability and adversity.

Accassibibiey

In 2022 we continued our commitment to disability inclusion to ensure guests
with diszbilities can access the magic of Merlin. We understand our obligations
and we care about continuously improving accessibility. The Accessibility Steering
Group continued to drive irmprovements across the business.

We have three guiding principles:

. We will make it fun for everyone;

. We will listen, learn and adapt; and

. ¥Ve will support our people. so they can support our guests.

Some of the key highlights in 2022 were:

. We launched an Internal Intel group — bringing together employees with lived
experiences of disability to inform and guide changes we are making to
disability inclusion.

. Ve increased the number of Changing Places toilets across the Group.

. We achieved Autism Centre accreditation for LEGCLAND Florida Resort
and will be extending this to other sites in 2023.

. We commissioned mystery visits with disabfed guests to further understand
the guest experience and where jmprovements can be made.

. To mark our angoing commitment, we were once again proud to ‘light up
purple’ on 3 December ac our ateractions across the world, to
celebrate International Day of Persans with Disabilities.

Aenmal conservation and welizre

We operate to world ciass welfare standards threugh our animal care network
and support the work of our pieneering marine conservation charity partner. the
SEA LIFE TRUST, in its mission to protect marine life and habitats across the
world. Our global SEA LIFE tearns continue to develop new and exciting guest
experiences which will inspire future generations to care for our oceans and
marine life within ic.

2022 was another strong year for Merlin's teams who continued their welfare
and conservation work to rescue, rehabifitate and release sick or injured animals
across the globe. Over 70 grey and harbour seals were rescued across the SEA
LIFE and SEA LIFE TRUST seal rescua facilities in northern Europe and the UK.
Over 135 turtles were rescued in the UK, the US, Europe and Australia. Beluga
whales Little White and Little Grey continued to do well in the SEA LIFE
TRUST's world's first beluga whale sanctuary in Iceland, whose team also rescued
and released over 40 puffins as part of continued support to the local community.

2022 also saw SEA LIFE and dhe SEA LIFE TRUST isunch a conservation
programme focused on funding local projects in countries around the world,
which included the world's first r’ewi!(’jing of endangered zebra sharks by the SEA
LIFE Sydney Aquarium team.

SEA LIFE and the SEA LIFE TRUST continued to campatgn against plastic
pollution with their global beach clean. Held on World Oceans Day. the event
ran over 24 hours at over 50 different SEA, LIFE locations.
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Beyond this, we also continue to support additional animal welfare initiatives at
Chessington World of Adventures Resort in the UK, and WILD LIFE Sydney
Zou in Australia, who both maintained their leng-standing commutment to
animal breeding or managed species programmes.

For details of how we manage the risks regarding animal welfare, see page 22.

Medin’s cagic YVand

Our dedicated children's charity partaer, Merlin’s Magic Wand (MMW), will be
celebrating its |5th year of operacion in 2023. Although the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic remained evident in 2022, the charity was still able to
deliver 56,555 Magical Days QOut tickets to children and their families, who are
facing challenges of serious illness, disabilicy and adversity. The charity also
completed the 52nd Merlin's Magic Spaces project based at Ronald McDonald
House Philadelphia, in partnership with the LEGOLAND Discovery Center
Phifadelphia team, and worked with our attraction teams to reach almost

670 children through the Magic on Tour programme.

In 2023, the charity aims te provide mere Magical Days Qut tickets; deliver on
Magic Spaces project commitments; pursue virtual Magic on Tour offerings; and
continue to raise awareness of the charity’s aims in its 15th birthday year, so that
more beneficiaries and charity partners can look forward to a year full of magic.

Dthar areas

Snd-corupdon and anbi-brbery macters

Merlin's approach regarding the management of anti-bribery and corruption risks
is set out on page 23. Merlin has a zerc tolerance approach in this area, with
regular reports on whisteblowing being provided to the Audit Committee.

Edrheal souraing

We have a responsibility to the workers in our supply chain and seek to ensure
our products are made in an appropriace environment and the products we
source are produced in accordance with international laws and legistation. More
details on this area are available on our website
(www.merlinentertainments.biz).

VIUTAN FEs

Merlin respects and supports human rights and is committed to the highest level
of ethical standards and sound governance arrangernents. We aim to act ethically
and with integrity in all our business dealings. As part. of this commizment and in
accordance with global Modern Slavery legislation, Merlin has implemented a
Human Rights Policy, guided by the International Labour Organisation
Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work together with the
OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises.

Further details and Merlin's Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement can
be found on Merlin's website.
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The Boatd of Directors of the Company (the Board) recognises its responsibility to maintain high standards of business conduct and consider the impact on all
stakeholders when making decisions, including the likely consequences of any decisian in the long term. The Company is managed by the Board, which
comprises representatives of its principal shareholders and an independent Chairman. The same shareholder representative Directors and independent
Chairman, tugethe with the Group's Cliel Execudve Officer and Chief Financial Officer, also meet regularly as the Board of Merlin Entertamments Limited {the
Merlin Board), For more information on the Boards’ responsibilities, see page 3.

The Board has considered the analysis undertaken by the Marlin Board on how it has exercised its duty to promote the success of the Group during the year
with regard to the matters set out in section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, After careful consideration, bearing in mind the division of responsibilities for the
business of the Group between the Company and the Merlin Board, and while acknowledging the need for the Board to exercise overall management and
supervision of the Group and to exercise independent judgement, the Board has adopted a section 172 statement in relation to the Company itself which is
consistent with that produced by the Merlin Board, Further information in the Annual Report on how the Merlin Board has exercised its duty to promote the
success of Merlin during the year with regard to the matters set out in section 172, including examples of how these duties have been applied, can be found

throughaut the Annual Report as set out below.

The Board takes its respensibility to understand the views of stakeholders seriously and will continue to consider stakeholder interests in its decision-making

processes in 2023. See page 33 for more information.

Section 172 duties

Consequences of coasions in tha long term
The Board and the Merfin Board approve the Group’s strategy
which inciudes long term growth ambitions. Accordingly, the
fong term consequences for the Company and its stakehalders
are always factored into strategic decisions.

Employes inwerests
The Board and the Merlin Board recognise that employee
engagement, diversity, inclusion and a strong culture is important
to achieve the Company’s vision and objectives.

Fostering business refationships with suppliors, customers

wnd athers

The Board and the Merlin Board identify guests as key
stakeholders and Merlin constandy menitors guest feedback to
measure the quality of their experience and drive improvements.
The Baard and the Merlin Board believe a collaborative
approach with suppliers and business partners provides rautally
beneficial relationships, enabling engagement on matters that are
in both parties’ interests.

Operations] “npacl on commanity and envdronmant
The Board and the Merlin Board promote an ethical operating
cufture and high animal welfare standards, and are commiitted to
managing environmental impacts through our sustainability
strategy. The Bozrd and the Merlin Board support Merlin's
partnership with two charities.

amnuning a ~upurztion Jor high standards of business conduet
The Beard and the Merlin Board ensure that policies and
procedures are in place to support the highest standards of
business ¢onduct and receives regular reports to menitar
compliance, The Merlin Beard is involved in the management of
issues which may have a material impact on the
Company’s reputation.

et raitly borwezn ovners of die Jonoany
The Board and the Merlin Board act in accordance with the
terms of the Shareholder Investment Agreement.

Key examples

Chief Executive's introduction
Business model '
Growth drivers

Financiaf and operating review
KPls

Chiéf Executi;:e’s introduction

Business model

KPls
At a glance
Chief Executive’s intreduction

Business model

Business model
Principal risks

Corporate social responsibilicy

KPls
Chief Executive’s introduction

Business model

Business model

Corporate governance

Page  Key examples

4 Principal risks
&  Corporate social responsibility

9to 10 Corporate governance

I Principal risks
5 Corporate social responsibility
7

t  Growth drivers
2 Principal risks

S  Corporate social responsibility

6w 7 Corporate governance

2

27 to 29

I Principal risks
5  Corporate social responsibility

7 Corporate governance

On pages 3! to 34 we set out cur corporate governance framework including Board and Committee responsibilicies.

Page

21 to 23
27

31,33

20 to 23
25. 26, 29
3l
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The Board is committed to maintaining the highest standards of governance
across the Group and recognises that a strong governance framework is
fundamental to achieving Merlin’s strategic objectives.

Merlin's overriding purpose is to work with stakeholders to create truly
memorable experiences for visitors and long term value for our investors,
Qur corporate governance framework has been developed to safeguard
these objectives.

Board and Cormmiee rosponsibilities

The Board and the Merlin Board

The Company is managed by its Board of Directors (the Board) which
comprises representatives of its principal shareholders and an independent
Chairman. The Board meets as required by the Shareholder Investment
Agreement {see page 8). ta provide governance over the Group and to
consider those mateers requiring specific approval by the Company.

The same shareholder representative Directors and independenc Chairman,
together with the Group's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, meet regularly as the Merlin Board to provide leadership and set the
strategy for the Group.

The responsibilities of the Merlin Board are detailed below:

. approving strategy and major company policies;

¢ determining the capital structure;

. maintaining the system of internal controls and risk management;

+  approving the strategic plan, the annual capiaal expenditure budget, major
capital projects and strategic transactions;

. approving the appeintment of key members of executive management
and overseeing management performance;

. overseeing financizl performance and reviewing financial reports;

. reviewing Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) performance
metrics;

. establishing and mainkaining an effective corporate governance framework,
in conjunction with the Board;

¢+ effective engagement with shareholders and other stakeholders; and

. reviewing recommendations from Committees.

Uoara Jomirisiens
The following Committees have been in operation during the year and unless
otherwise stated, remain.

Heg!dy, Safely and Secunty Comrrltiee

This Committee ensures that health, safety and security (HS5) matters are
managed effectively and proactively throughout the Group, by overseeing our
policies and procedures for HSS, monitering our processes for identifying and
managing risks, and monitoring the skills, effectveness and levels of resource
within our HSS teamns.

The Committee membership comprises an independent chair and
representatives from each of the investor consortium, two of whom are Board
members. Meetings are also attended by the Group Chief Executive Officer and
Group Chief Financial Officer, together with the Group Safety, Engineering and
Security Director and the Chief Operating Officer of the Midway Attractions &
Resort Theme Parks Operating Groups.

M AL TR T T DT D T

At Cormitiec

This Committee assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities regarding
financial reporting by monitoring the integrity of our financial statements
inciuding considering whether the financial statements are “fair, balanced

and understandzble’.

It assists the Board and the Merfin Board in relation to external and internal
audics, including monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit
function and overseeing the performance and independence of external auditors.
It also assists the Merlin Board in matters of risk management and internal
controls, including monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of our
whistleblowing and fraud policies and our internal contrel and risk managerment.

The Committee membership comprises representatives from two members of
the investor consortium, one of whom is a Board member,

Remuneratien Conumiiee

The Remuneration Committee assists the Merlin Board in determining its
responsibilities in relation to remuneration, including making recommendations
on the executive remuneration policy determining the individual remuneration
and benefits package of each of the members of the Merlin Executive Committee
and recommending and monitoring the remuneration of senior management
below the Merlin Executive Committee.

The Committee considers all materiai elements of Merlin's remuneration policy,
remuneration and incentives of Executive Directors and senior management with
reference to independent remuneration research and professional advice and
makes recemmendations on the framework for executive remuneration. The
Committee is also responsible for making recommendations for the grants of
awards under share incentive plans.

Following the retirement announcements from the outgeoing Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Development Officer, the Committee approved their
retirement packages for remuneracion and benefits.

The Remunerztion Committee’s membership comprises the independent
Chairman and representatives of each of the investor consortium, all of whom
are Board members.

Oiher Commitaees

It addition to the Board Committees, there are four non-Board Committees:

. Executive Cornmitioe — chaired by the Chief Executive Officer, this
Committee is responsible for managing the Group's day-to-day
operations and the development of stracegic plans for consideration by
the Merlin Board. Itimplements the Group's strategy and ensures chat
the business complies with all applicable statutory, regulatory and
governance requirements.

Three operational Committees make recommendations to the Executive

Committee and have specific areas of responsibility as follows:

. Commeran cad Strategi Rislc Maagement Commintee — provides aversight
and guidance on management of commercial and strategic risk,

. Develspment Eaaed — reviews initial proposals for significant capital
expenditure and development projects.

. Inwsunent Bood — appraises major capital expenditure and
development projects.

3
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During 2022 the rmain areas of focus for the Merlin Board were as follows;

. Consolidating the improved business performance and strategic acquisitions.

. Approving the acquisitions of Cadbury World and the COEX Aquarium.

. Appraving major capital projects.

. The recruitment of a new Chief Executive Officer following the
announcement of Nick Varney’s retirement.

*  Approving the appointment of a new Chief Development Officer
following the retirement of his predecessor.

. Agreeing an amendment to the Licence and Co-operation Agreement
with KIRKEBI.

*  Monitoring the progress of LEGCLAND park projects in China.

. Reviewing ‘'next generation’ LEGQ Discovery Centres.

e Approving the Group's five year strategic plan towards the end of
the year.

Curporate governance framewark

During 2022 the Board and the Merlin Board maintained a strong corporate
governance framewark and they continue to apply the Wates Corporate
Governance Principles for Large Private Companies. Details of how the
Group approaches these principles are set out below.

Prindple One ~ Purpose and bendersihip

An effactve Boare feveloss Gnd pramates the purpose of o combany, and enswes that

a5 vahes, strgwegy ond culture gfign with dhat hurbose,

Merlin’s strategy has been to create a high grewth, high recurn family
entertainment company. The business is based on strong brands and a global
portfolio which is naturally balanced against the impact of external factors. This
strategy is zligned with our purpase of delivering memorable experiences to
our millkons of visitors and our vision of being the global leader in location
based entertainment.

The Merlin Board continues o review and challenge Merlin's strategy,
performance, responsibility, and accountability so thac every decision made is of
the highest quality, and in line with the Company’s culwre. This is set out in “The
Merlin Way’ values which are embedded throughout the business, from day-to-
day management to Merlin Board reviews.

The Group receives feedback from guests and employees via guest satisfaction
surveys and employee engagement surveys; where relevant this feedback is
incorporated in Board papers. The business model and the growth drivers of
the Group are oudined in pages 6 to 0.

‘Whilst the Board holds overall respansibility for developing and promoting the
purpase of the Group, the Merlin Board and the Executive Committee ensure
that the values, strategy and culture are embedded globally on their behalf.

The Board Committees and Executive Committee review the effectiveness of
key internal policies. For example, the Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s whistleblowing and fraud policies across

the organisation.

PRLAUE: BN 4

Principle Two « Board Toonposition

15,

Efrective Eoard comipashion requires ¢ offcctive char ond o ba'ancy of
wefe., with ndividie! diveriors having srough

achgrounds, experiance

capaaty to male o vo'uah
scaie and complesity of die conpany

red by the

ze of u boorg should b2 g

cote sion, The

The Board is appointed in accordance with the Shareholder Investment
Agreement. Each investor has nominated suitably qualified representatives to sit
on the Board and the Merlin Board. The Directors possess a wide range of skills,
backgrounds, experience, and knowledge across a broad range of businesses. The
composition of the Board is considered appropriate for the size and complexity
of the Company. Deails of the Board members can be found on pages 33 to 34,

An Audit Committee, Remuneration Commitcee and Health, Safety and Security
Committee have been established. They have been in operation throughout the
year. The Chairman of the Board and of each Committee is responsible for
leading and facilitating constructive meetings. The Chairman of the Board
regularly elicits feedback from other Board members on meeting effectiveness
and governance.

Careful consideration has been given to the appeintment of the Chair of each
Comrnittee. The Audit Committee is chaired by an individual with recent and
relevant financial experience. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by the
independent Chairman. The Health, Safety and Security Committee is chaired by
an independent heafth and safety expert The responsibilities of the Board and
these Committees are outlined on page 31.

Throughout 2022, the Board, Merlin Board and Executive Commiittee together
was comprised of I2 men and two women. Details of the gender mix of the
Group and its senior management are set out on page 24, together with details
of our actions in the area of diversity and inclusivity.

Principle Theee - Direcenrs Ruesponsibilities

The Board cnd individuet ¢ recters should have 4 clear uhoerstanding of thair
ncceuntaby and respons Lilives The bacrd’s pelices and procecures should suppor
sffecuve deaganraalong o adabendam chalfenge

The Board understands its responsibility for promoting the success of the
Company for the benefit of shareholders and with consideration of its
stakehoalders. This is done in a way which is consistent with its ethical, legal,
and regulatory responsibilities and the Company’s constitution. The Board,
the Merlin Board and Committees are bound by 2 Shareholder Investment
Agreement and respective terms of reference which give dear guidance on
the matters and key strategic decisions which require Board or
Committee approval.

The Merlin Board met six times during 2022, of which three meetings were
conducted in person. The Merlin Board are provided with appropriate board
packs in advance of the meetings, including project approval papers and updates
on trading. financial performance, employee engagement and welfare, legal
matters and management of key business risks. When making decisions, only the
shareholder representatives have voting rights.

Key financial information is collated from the Company’s accounting systems, The
Group's financial informacion is excernally audited, and its controls are reviewed
regularly by the Group's internal audit function. The Board defegates the scrutiny
of financial information and controls to the Audit Committee. The Merlin Board
delegates authority for the day-to-day management of the Company to the
Executive Committee which meets at least eight times each year.
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Oversight of risk management is performed on an ongoing basis through interaction
with management and by risk being a regular item on Merlin Board agendas. Two
Committees have specific responsibilities for risk management. The Health, Safety
and Security Committee oversees the key areas of health, safezy and security while
wider risk management and internal controls activities and commercial risks are
considered by a sub-committee of the Executive Committee, chaired by executive
management, which repeorts back to the Executive Committee regularly.

The Board retains overal! responsibility for risk management and the Merbin Board
approves the risk management framework which sets cut the responsibilities.
oversight, monitoring, reporting and management processes, Further details
regarding the approach to risk management are set out an pages 19 to 23 Long
term strategic opportunisies are highlighted through the Group's strategic planning
processes that the Board oversees. Other opportunities are brought to the
attention of the Board when they arise.

Principhe Five — Remuonaradion
A buerd shotd fromote axecutive rermumerauan swruclires aligned te the fong turm

suszenabie suzcess of o company, considerieg poy and conditicns elvewhare i
the compang.

Remuneration matters during the year were considered by the Remuneration
Committee. All matters refating to remuneration are considered by that body and
recommended to the Merlin Board for approval, in line with the Committee’s
terms of reference. Our remuneration policies and principles are aligned with
the Group's perfarmance te support our overall values, purpose and strategy.
A series of key principles underpin the Merlin remuneration structure - pay
should be based on results and performance; consistent with best practice;
and aligned to the long term success of the Company.

During the year the Remuneration Committee ensured awards under dhe
rmanagement long term incentive plans for new employees and leavers were
managed appropriately. More details are set out in note 5.6 to the

financial statements.

FPrinciple 8l - Stalezholde: Rolasionskips and Frg
Drrecters shoud fostor effectree stalehaliar relationsfips algnad to the cempawys
purpose. The Cawrd s respons. 22 for overseeng mearngfl! engagement with
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The Board are aware of the importance of fostering effective stakeholder
relationships to enable the long term success of the Group. Details of how Meriin
engages with stakeholders, including employees, is provided in the section 172
statement on page 30. The Group’s business model also focuses on our
interactions with customers, employees and investors; more information can be
found on pages 7 to 8.

During 2022, new Board paper guidance was issued within the business which
requires all new proposals for capical projects to include a section on
stakeholder engagement, including customers and employees, and how their
views have been factored into prejece plans. Furthermore, Board papers zlso
address the sustainability, accessibility and health and safety aspects of
projects. This has improved the quality of Board papers and strengthened
stakeholder voices in the Group’s development pipeline.

ROLELLR A BTt GURPRTIA b ST St & | I R P I

Buard menbership

The Directors currently serving are the independent Chairman and the members
of the investor consortium, wha also have the right to appoint observers to the
Board, the Merlin Board and Committees. Each Director from the investor
consortium has one vote at the Board and the Merlin Board. The Group Chief
Executive Officer and the Group Chief Financial Officer are executive roles and
these positions do not have voting rights at Merlin Board meetings. The members
of the Board during the year and at the date of this report are set out below.

Acland Hernandez, Independen Chairman

Roland was appainted as a Director and independent Chairman on 7 April 2020.
He is the Founding Principal and Chief Executive Officer of Hernandez Media
Ventures, 2 privately held company engaged in the acquisition and management of
mediz assets. He has served in this capacity since January 2001,

Before founding Hernandez Media Ventures, Roland served as Chairman of
Telemundo Group, Inc., a Spanish-language television and entertainment company,
from 998 to 2000 and as President and Chief Executive Officer from 1995 to
2000. He serves as a member of the Boards of US Bancorp, Fox Corporation, and
Tzke-Two Interactive Software, Inc. He serves on the advisory board of Harvard
Law School and previausly served on the Board of Directors of Belmond Ltd,
MGM Resarts International, Sony Corporation, Walmart Inc, and Vail Resorts, Inc.

Roland received an A.B. in ecanomics from Harvard College and a |.D. from
Harvard Law School.

Spron Thorup Sarensen, [KIRIKB! Shareholder Represenative

Seren was appointed as a Director on 26 June 2019, having also been 2 Mon-
executive Director of Merlin since 2013, prior to Merlin's initial public offering
(IPO), representing KIRKBI. Seren has over 25 years’ experience in finance and is
currently the Chief Executive Officer of KIRKBI A/S and Director of various entities
in the KIRKBI Group.

Saren is currently Deputy Chairman of LEGO A/S and a Non-executive Director of
1SS A/S, Landis+Gyr AG, Ole Kirk's Foundation, ATTA Foundation, Koldingve] 2,
Billund A/S and K2 Fonden af 2023 and six fully owned subsidiaries of KIRKBI A/S.
Soren was formerly a Partner, Chief Financial Officer of AP. Moller - Maersk
Group and Maraging Partner of KPMG Denmark.

jorgen Yig itnudstory, )KIRKEL Shareheldar Bopr 2sentative

Jorgen was appointed as a Director on 26 June 2019, having previously been a
Board observer while Merlin was listed, Jergen is a Member of the Board of LEGO
AJS and Executive Chairman of the LEGO Brand Group. Jergen also holds positions
as a Member of the Board of Starbucks, a Member of IMD Supervisory Board and
as Chairman of BrainPOP. [ergen joined the LEGO Group in 2001 and in 2004 he
was appointed President and CEQ of LEGQ Greup. He began his careerat
McKinsey & Company in 1998 and holds an M.Sc. and Ph.D. in Economics
Management from Aarhus University in Denmark.

Siclsel Faric <riscensen, KIRKE! Sherehalbder Representat vi

Sidsel was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019. Sidsel has more than
20 years' experience as a fawyer. Sidse! joined KIRKB! A/S in 2016 and was an
Executive Vice President and General Counsel until 31 January 2023, Sidsel is
Chairman of LEGO Juris A/S and a board member of Euro Cater Holding A/S,
BrainPOP, Imagination Lab Foundation, seven fully owned subsidiaries of KIRKBI
A/S, four fully owned subsidiaries of the Merlin Group and Shanghai LEGOLAND
Management Co., Ltd. Sidse! was formerly a Partner of the Danish law firm Bech-
Bruun. Felfowing her appointment as CEQ of the LEGQ Foundation, Koldingvej 2
Billund AJS, Sidsel resigned from the Board and other Merlin companies on

| February 2023
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Laami Mamz'c, KIRKE' Sharehalder Rep esenauvs foppainted | Fooruary 2075}
Damnir was appointed as a Director on | February 2023, having previcusly been
a Board chserver. Damir joined KIRKB| A/S in 2018 and is currently Head of
Circular Plastics Investments and furthermore supports the LEGO Brand

Group. Damir is a board member of Shanghai LEGOLAND Co., Lid. Prior to
joining KIRKBI Damir was a Group Vice President at Falck and a Director at
Carnegie Investment Bank.

Joseph Barauta, Blackswone Sharahaolder Peprasan.rive

Joseph was appointed as a Director on 4 Navember 2019, Joseph Baratta is
Blackstane's Global Head of Private Equity and a member of Blackstone's Board
of Directors and Management Comimittee. He also serves on many of
Blackstane's investment commictees.

Mr. Barama joined Blackstone in 1998 and in 2001 he moved to London to help
establish Blackstone's corporate private equity business in Burope. Since 2012,
Mr. Baratta has served as the firmm's Global Head of Private Equity and is focated
in Mew York

Mr. Baracta has served on the baards of many past Blackstone portfolio
companies and currenty serves as 2 member or observer on the boards of
Ancestry, Candle Media, First Eagle Investment Management and Medline, He is
also a member of the Board of Trustees of Georgerown University, is a trustee
of the Tate Foundation, and serves on the board of Year Up, an organization
focused on youth employment.

Before joining Blackstone, Mr. Baratta was with Tinicum incorporated and
McCown De Leeuw & Company. Mr. Baratta alse worked at Morgan Stanley in
its mergers and acquisitions department. Mr. Baratma graduated magna cum
laude from Georgetown University.

Peter Wallace, Blacksta e Sharshotder Represeatative

Peter was appointed as a Director on 26 June 2619. Mr Wallace is 2 Senior
Managing Director and serves as Global Head of Core Private Equity for
Blackstone. Mr. Wallace leads Blackstone’s private equity investments in the
services, leisure, and consumer/retail sectors. He also serves on several of the
firm's investment committees.

Since joining Blackstone in 1997, Mr. Wallace has led or been involved in
Blackstone’s investments in Alight Solutions, AlliedBarton Security Services,
Allied Waste, American Axle & Manufacturing, Centennial Communications,
Centerplate (formerly Volume Services America), CommNet Celluar, GCA
Services, LocusPaint Netwarks, Michaels Stores, New Skies Satellices,
Quterstyff, Led., Pinnacle Foods/Birds Eye Foods, PSAY, PSS, SeaVWorld Parks &
Entertainment {formerly Busch Entertainment Corporation), Servpro, Sirius
Satellite Radio, Tradesmen Interhational, Universal Orlando, Vivint, Vivint Solar
and the Weather Channel. He currendy serves on the Board of Directors of
Alight Solutions, Chamberlain Group, CoreTrust, Merdin Entertainments, PSAV,
PSS, Servpro, Tradesmen International, and Vivint. He is 2 trustee of Children's
Aid Society, one of America's oldest and largest children's nanprofics.

Mr. Wallace received a BA from Harvard College, where he graduated magna
cum laude.

Ricarda Caupers. CPPIF Jharcholder Jepresematve (ppomted 28 fanua-y 20723
Ricardo was appointed as a Director on 25 January 2022, Ricardo is
responsible for CPPIB's direct private equity investments in business services
companies in Europe. He also has geographic coverage responsibilicy for
Southern Europe.

AT PR SV T

Prior to joining CPP Investments in 2028, Ricards was a Partner at Palamon
Capital Partners, where he spent more than ten years focusing on investments
in fast-growing European companies. While at Palamon, Ricardo led a number
of investments in both consumer and retail as well as business services
companies, including Retail Decisions, a B2B payments company, Thomas
International, a talent assessment tosls provider to small and medium sized
businesses, Feelunique, an European online recailer of branded beauty products,
and The Rug Company, an intermational brand of contemporary designer home
furnishings. He led the successful sale of Retail Decisions to AC! Worldwide,
and Feelunique was eventually exited by Palamon te internatonal beauty
retailer Sephora after his departure.

Previcusly, he warked for The Baston Consulting Group in New York and
London from 1999 to 2008, leading strategic advisory projects for Fortune
500 corperates.

Ricardo holds a BA in Business Administration from Universidade Catdlica
Portuguesa and an MBA from Harvard Business School.

Koy resvibers of the Merlin Exeoutive Cormmitteo

The key members of the Executive Committee together with the Directors
of the Board form the Merlin Board. Details of Merlin’s key executives are set
out below.

Scout I CVndeil, Group Cluef Exccusive Itficer

Scott was appeinted on |5 November 2022,

Scott has more than 25 years of experience in leading and managing global
sports and entertainment brands. With a reputation for innovation, an eye for
strategic and global brand development and partnerships, and a passion for
culture and talent development, Scott has stewarded some of the sports and
entertainment industry's most renowned and iconic brands and properties,
including the NBA’s New York Knicks and Philadelphia 7éers; the NFL's
Philadelphia Eagles, the NHL's New York Rangers and New [ersey Devils; and
the internationally ranked sports and entertainment arenas, Madison Square
Garden and Prudential Center.

Scotr's mission to build innovative, inspiring, diverse, sochally impactful and
high perferming businesses and brands earned the organisations under his
management acclaim in innovation and culture. He recently published a life
leadership book entitled *Be Where Your Feet Are’ published by

St Martins Press.

Scott earned his Bachelor's degree in Marketing from Villanova University and
his Masters in Business Adminiscration from Harvard Business School.

Adisaair Wincyhan!l, Gravp Chief Mancal Qilfoar
Alistair was appointed Group Chief Financial Officer in November 2020,
including responsibility for Merlin Group IT and Procurement.

Alistair joined Merlin in 2008 and has held various senior finance roles, including
Head of Corporate Finance, Group Investor Relations Director, Senior Finance
Director — Capital Projects and most recently, Deputy Chief Financial Officer.

Pricr to Merlin, Alisair worked for Deloitte in Audit & Assurance,

fiz tfaraey, Grovp Chief Twecutve Crlcer
After being with Merlin for 23 years, Nick retired on |4 November 2022,
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The Directars have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial
statements for the 53 week peried ended 3| December 2022. Cotnparative
figures relate to the 52 week period ended 25 December 2021.

In order to make our Annual Report and Accounts more accessible, we have set
out below where certain required disclosures can be found in other areas of this
Annual Report.

Surnregic Ropart

Men-financial reporting

Information regarding Merlin's approach to the five topics required by the
Companies Act is set out in the Responsible Business section on pages 24 to 29.

Other infarmation

Other information is set out as follows:

. Business review and future developments — see pages | 1o 29,

. Research and development ~ details about Merlin Magic Making are
located on page 6.

. Directors — details are on pages 33 to 34.

. Employees — details on how we communicate with employees are on
page 24.

. Directors’ responsibilities statement ~ see page 37,

Governnnce

Wares Principios

The Company has adopted the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for
Large Private Companies. Details of the VWates Principles framework can be
viewed on the website of the Financial Reporting Council (www.frc.org.uig.
Details of how the Group approaches these principles are set out on pages
32w 33

Gitidelines for Disclosure nrd Transparersy in Provace Equiny

Each of the consortium members is a private equity or ‘private equity-ike’
investor. Accardingly, this Annual Report and Accounts complies with the
Guidelines for Disclosure and Transparency in Private Equity for UK companies
in private equity ownership.

Crehier information

Other infermation is set out as follows:

. Section |72 statement — see page 30.

. Corporate governance — see pages 31 to 34,

Finencial scatayionts

The financial statements contain information in the following areas:
. Capitalised interest — see note 2.3.

. Financial instruments — see note 5.3.

Financial risk management — see note 5.3.

Share-based payment transactions — see note 5.6.

Related parties — see note 6.3,

Subsidiaries and joint ventures —~ see note 6.6.

*« & 9

At RO

PHeotors’ Fapacr
The Directors’ Report itself contains the sections detailed below.

Shave crpieal anc relaved rattors

The Articles of Association do not contain any restrictions on the transfer of
shares in the Company other than customary restrictions applicable where any
amount is unpaid on a share (all the issued share capital of the Company as of the
date of this Annual Report and Accounts is fully paid). Each ordinary share in the
capital of the Company ranks equally in al! respects. No shareholder holds shares
carrying special rights relating to the control of the Company.

Arnendmenc o the Company's Articles of Assodiatien
The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended by a special
resolution of its shareholders passed at a general meeting of its shareholders.

Appeintmen: and rzmioval of Jwecers

The Company is gaverned by its Articles of Association, the Shareholder
investment Agreement and the Companies Act 2006 and related legislacion, wich
regard to the appoinement and replacement of Directors.

Porwer of Directors mn respect of share capital

The Directors may exercise afl the powers of the Company (including, subject
to obtaining the required authority from the sharehoiders in general meeting,
the power to authorise the issue of new shares and the purchase of the
Company’s shares).

Directors indomnitios and insurancs

The Articles of Association of the Company permit it to indemnify the Directors
of the Company or any Group company against liabilities arising from or in
connection with the execution of their duties or powers to the extent permitted
by law.

The Company has not given any specific indemnity in favour of the Directors
during the year. but the Company has purchased Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance, which provides cover for liabilides incurred by Directors in the
performance of their duties or powers. No amount was paid under any
Director's indemnity or the Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance during
the year.

Significan: coniracts

There were no contracts of significance during the year to which the Company,
or any of its subsidiary undertakings, is a party and in which a Director is or was
materially interested.

Granches aurside the LK
Motion |Vco Limited has no branches outside the UK.

Divigond
No dividends were paid or recommended during the current or prior
financial year.
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Calgeccrnorn
The Directars consider that it is appropriate to adopt the gaing concern basis in
preparing the financial scatements.

In making this staleinent the Directors have satished themselves that based on
fts current base case, the Group has access to sufficient cash funds and
borrowing facilities and can reasonably expect those facllities to be available to
meet the Group's foreseeable cash requirements.

For further details see note |.| te the financial statements.

Pelitieal dovadons

No entity in the Group made any political donations, or incurred any political
expenditdre (each as defined by the Companies Act 2006) in the 53 weeks
ended 3 December 2022.

Auditors

As recommended by the Audit Committee, a resolution for the re-appointment
of Ernst & Young LLP as auditors to the Company will be proposed. So far as
the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
auditors are unaware. The Directors have taken all reasonable steps to
ascertain any relevant audit infermation and ensure the auditors are aware

of such information.

e BREEN

PRCCEIEVI P SRRYL s MU I S W Y B+ )

Appenynt of Aanam Higaeat
The Strategic Report, Corporate Governance Report and the Directors’ Report
were approved by the Board an 17 March 2023,

Saren Therup Sorcnaun
Director
17 March 2023

Motion JVco Limited
Registered number 12057312
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DIRECTORS’

RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group
and parent Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent Company
financial statements for each financial year. Under that taw the Directors have
elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with UK
adopted international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006 and applicable law and they have elected to

prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with

UK adopted international accounting standards and applicable law, including FRS
101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Frameworlk'.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and parent Company and of the Group’s profit or loss for that
petiod. in preparing each of the Group and parent Comparty financial
statements, che Directors are required to:

*  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently:

. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable
and prudent;

*  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific
requirementcs in IFRSs and in respect of the parent Company financial
statemmenss, FRS 101, is insufficient to enable users wo undersand the
tmpact of particular transactions, cther events and conditions on the
Group and Company financial position and financial performance;

. for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared
in accordance wich UK adopted international ac¢ounting standards:

¢ for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK
adopted international accounting standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial starements;

e assess the Group and parent Company's ability 1o continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and

. use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to
liquidate the Group ar the parent Company or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to shaw and explain the parent Company’s transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent
Company and enable them to ensure that fts financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such intermal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have
general responsibility for taking such steps as zre reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and

other irregutarities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for
preparing a Strategic Reportand a Directors’ Report that complies with that
law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the company's website.

L egisfation in the UK governing the preparation and disseminacion of finaneial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

L1009k
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DQpinion

We have audited the financial statements of Motion JVco Limited (the
Company} and its subsidiaries (the Group) for the 53 weeks ended

31 December 2022 (the period) which comprise of the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated and Company statennend of financial pasition,
consclidated statement of cash flows, the consolidated scatement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated and Company statement of changes
in equity and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and LIK adopted International Accounting
Standards and as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied
in accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the
Company financial staterments is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework'
{Uniced Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion:

. the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group's and of
the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the Group’s
profic for the 53 weeks then ended;

. the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with UK adopted International Accounting Standards;
. the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in

accordance with UK adopted internatienal Accounting Standards as
applied in accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006;
and

. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for apiniorn

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing {UK} (ISAs (UK}) and applicable law. Qur responsibilides under
those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of cur report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Echical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have cbrained is sufficient and
apprapriate to provide a basis for our opinien.

Tine
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is appropriate.

Carchiusios: 2l gy Tanciry

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the Group and Company's ability to continue
as a going concern for a period of I8 months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Qur respensibilities and the responsibilicies of the Directors with respect
to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report,
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted,
this staterment is not a guarantee as to the Greoup and Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Dtk information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the financial statements and our auditer’s report thereon.
The Directors are responsible for the other information contained within the
Annual Keport.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materjally inconsistent with the financial

statements ot our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise

appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether
this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements
themselves. If, based on the work we have performed. we conclude that there

is a macerial misstatement of the other information, wée are required to report

that fact.
Y¥Ve have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on ather suetesy provesibed Ly the Companies Aco 1004

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

. the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’
Report for the financial year for which the financial stacements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

. the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report have been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Marears on which wae are reaquiret w0 report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the
Company and its environment abtained in the course of the audit, we
have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or
Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relatioh to

which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or
returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or

- the Company financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting recards and returns; or

. certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are
not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require

for our audit.

ansibifitios o divecors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out
on page 37, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that chey give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible far .

assessing the Group's and the Company’s abilicy to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matcers related to going concern and using
the gaing concern basis of accounting unless the Direcrors either intend to
liguidate the Group of the Company or 10 cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Audite s rospursibiiition for the audic of the financial statenreny .

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with I1SAs (UK} will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expecred to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

isidersd capable of

extent the audlie was ¢
5, inclding fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations. YWe design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined
above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by,
for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibility for the
prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with

Explanation as re whay

fr"'Lth‘Eli'iC

WWe assessed the susceptibility of the Group and Company's financial
statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might occur,
by meeting with management and those charged with governance to
understand where there was susceptibility ro fraud We alsa
considered performance targets and their influence on efforts made
by managemant to manage earnings or influence the perceptions of
the users of the financial stacements.

8ased on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to
identify irreguiarities including fraud. Vvith support from relevant
specialists, we performed audit procedures, including testing journal
entries and other adjustments for appropriateness, which were
designed to provide reasonable assurance the financial statements
were free from material fraud or error. Qur procedures involved
reading of Board minutes and relevant reporting from the Company's
legal counsel to identify non-compliance with such laws and
regulations, reading reporting to the Audit Committee on compliance
with regulations, enquiries of legal counsel, Group management,

the Audit Committee, internal audit and subsidiary management ac

all full-scope components and review of any relevant

investigations undertaken.

A further descriptian of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
seatements is located on the Financizl Reporting Council's websize at
www.frc.org.uldauditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of
our auditor's report.

Use of our repart
This report is made salely 1o the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audic

A R N S R M P

worl has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no ather purpose.To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do nat accept or
assume responsibilicy to anyone other than the Company and the Company's

members as a body. for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

governance of the entity and management.

Our approach was as follows:

. We obtained an underseanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks
that are applicable to the Group and Company and determined thac
the most significant which are directly relevant to specific assertions
in the financial statements, are those that relate to the reporting
framework (International Accounting Standards in conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and FRS 101 and the
Companies Act 2006). Health and Safety regulations and the relevant
tax compliance regulations in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

. We understood how Mation [Veo Limited is complying with those
frameworks by making enquiries of management, those responsible for
legal and compliance procedures and the Company Secretary. We
corroborated our enquiries through our reading of Board and other
relevant Committee minutes, discussions with the Audit Committee,
review of whistleblowing reports and any correspondence received
from regulatory bodies.

Bached dSavage {Seofor coatuts 7 ~Ugioor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
London

17 March 2023
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2022 2021
Urrmderl)rmg” Exceptional - Underlying  Exceptional
rmding tams ¥ Total trading tems lotal
Note L m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 2.1 2.006 2,006 1261 . 1.261
Cost of sales 2.0 1359 (35% {226) - {226)
Gross profic T 1647 - 1647 res - 1035
Staff expenses 24 {536, {538) (373) () (374)
Marketing {74 {74) {30) - (30)
QOther operating expenses (366 - (3661 (253) (2) (255)
EBITDA® T ar 671 Y 379 @ 376
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 2.1 (256) (29) (185) (247} | {246)
Operating profit S T 415 (29 186 132 @ 130
Finance income 23 29 - 29 2 - 2
finance costs 23 (279) 1279 (226) - {226}
Profid(loss) before tax 165 29 136 (92) @ ©4)
Taxaction 24 (51} 4 (47 (46) - {46)
Profit/{ioss) for the yeart 114 {25) a9 (i38) (2) (140)
‘o ERITDA — this is defined os profit before flagnce mcame and costs, taxazon, deprecistion. amortisatren und imparent ond is afier taking account of wiznibutable prafit after tax of foint

cantroffed entines fsee note 6.1).

s Profit for the year for 2022 ana foss [or the year for 2021 are wholly atznbutsbie te the owners of the Company.

* Detanls of exceptional items are provided w note 2.2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

“or bz i oeeeks ended 31 December 2022 (2021 52 weeks ended 25 December 17,

ER -

2022 2021
Nore £m £m
Prafiti{lnss) for the yaar 83 (140}
QOther comprehensive income
frems that cannot be reclassified to the consolidated income statement
Equry investments at FYOCI - net change in fair value 6.1 2 n
Defined benefit plan remeasurement gains 6.2 8 3
tncome tax on items relating to componencs of other comprehensive income 2.4 12y -
DRSS T — T e e e ————— e e s T TS,
tems that rmay be reclassified to the comsoiidoted income statemen: T
Exchange differences on the rerranshation of nex assets of foreign operations (17, 47
Exthange differences relating co the net investmenc in foreign operations 4 h
Cash flow hedges - effective pertion of changes in fair value 16 -
Cash flow hedges - reclassified to profit and loss ' -
Inceme tax on items relating to components of cther comprehensive income 14 {9) -
‘Other comprehensive income for the year net of income tax ' D 3 48
ensiv Ao T T T T T e e 2 e

Total comprehensive income for the yeart?

o Taral comprehensive inconre for the year for 2022 and 2021 1s wholly attributatile to the owners of the Cornpany,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Note

Property. plant and eniopment 41
Right.of-use assets 54
Goodwill and intangible assets 42
Investments 6.1
Employee benefits 62
Derivarive financial assers

Other receivables 4.4
Tax receivable 24
Deferred tax assers 24
Nom-currentassets T oo T T e
Anventories ' oo o mmmm e e T as
Trade and other receivables 4.4
Derivative financial assers

Tax receivable

Cash and cash equivalents 5.4
Current assets

TFowlassees T TmTmmmmm oo
-!nte;_re;t~|-3-e"a—r!1:1gnl_oans and btorrcwing-s T o 7 7 -~ - 52
Lease tabilities 54
Berivative financial liabilicies

Trade and other payables 4.4
Tax payable

Provisions 4.5
E;Jrrentliabitit-iesn_ T T o merm o e e e
‘nteresc-bearing foans and borvowings T 52
Lease Jiabilicies 54
Other payabies 44
Frovisions 4.5
Employee benefits 6.1
Deferred rax Kabiities 24
N‘a-n-.curr-enr Habilities - . - - a 7 A .
};al liabllities e
Nec assets - ST

|'ss‘xued cnpiEaI and resez'fcs a:tributab-le to owners of the Con‘npaﬁf l

Mon-conurolling interess

Total equity S T I 5.5

Thie financial statements were approved by the Board of Directars on 17 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

O St U ROTL N

Director
~

2022

£m
2664
1633
3.685

¢
13
31

8083
61
165

32
266
529

8612

22
42

491
42
23
627
3785
1570
62

128

440
5985
6612

2,000

! 99-6 »

2,000

TLIOAH S BT

2021

£im
1,507
1512
3511
24

{85
365
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o e 33 eaate anded 31 fracaikhe 00 0 00 2 D2 veeks wodort 25 Demeriber 2001)
Cost of Cash flow Taral Non-
Share Share Capial Transkiion  hedging hedge Retained parent controlling Toual
capral  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings cqlity interest equity
Mote £m £m £m £m £im £m £m £m £ £m

At 26 Decembe; 2020 29 2956 [ (63} - - (954} 1974 4 1978
Loss for the year B . LT . (140 (140) ; (140)
Orther comprehensive income for
the year net of income tax - - - 46 - B 2 48 - 48
Total comprehensive income
for che year - - - 46 - - (§38) (92) - {92}
Transfer to retained e.«mlngs 55 - - (6) - - - 6 - - -
At 25 December 2 2021 : 29 2,956 - 7 - - (.088) 4 1886
igrgr:;{or the ye year - - - L - - 89 89
Other comprehensive income for
the year net ofuncometax - - {13 (10) 38 8 23 23
Tol;a-l compr‘chenswe income - V
for the ycar (13 (oY 38 97 Iz - Iz
Equity-settled share-based payments 5.6 - - - - 2 2 B 2
At31 December 2012 55 2,956 - (30) (10) 38 (98'7) 1996 4 2,000

1%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

"J;A. 1

Foo 2 3% el anded 30 Dacamiber 2000 730070 Thvars wotee T oncamber 707

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/{loss) for the year
Adjustments for:
Deprecrtion. amortisation and impairment 21
Finance income 23
Finance costs 23
Taxacion 24
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Movements in warking capital
Changes in provisions and other nen-current liabllities
Tax (pald)frecewed
‘Net cash inflow fr-o“r;mt;p;e;a;hr;gmacuvptles T T -
“Cash flows ‘f:c;t;s.:v;r.;mg activides S T - h
Interesc recerved
Acquisition of subsdiaries, net of cash acquired 3.1
Acquisition of investments
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Disposal of Pr’cpex t)f plant and cqument
Net cash outflow from mvestlng activities
Eash flows t:r:m financing activities T o
Repayment of borrowings 32
Repayment of shareholder loans
Net capital repayment of lease Habilities"?
tnterest paid
Firanging costs
‘Net cash ;u—tf-lb:—fm_n:—f;ﬁa;ﬁcﬁé activides T T
L;é:ncreasef(&ecrea:ejln cash and‘_ca;h'e}];vale;s‘ ST -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ysar 51
Efiect of movements in foreign exchange
"Cash and cash equuvatents at end ofyeh;;m— T S s

LRt Tol B

SOHO PRI R PSS RS B

1022
£m

89

671

(69)
39

642

£20)

622

2
(31)
(195)

2
(222)

(1ér

133
(277)

{326}

74

AR T2

2021

£m
{140)
246

226
48

176

76

454

459

7}

' Capral repayments of feases are stated net of £6 mullion receved from the landicrd as part of the lease nodificauon at Heide Fark Resore In 2021 they are stated net of £25 mifhon recelved

from the landglord relatirg te the three UK Resort Theme Park Jocations fsee note 5 4)
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1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Motdon [Veo Limired (the Copany} Is a private company limited by shares which is incorporated in the United Kingdom. its registered office is Link House. 15 West
Street, Poole, Dovser, BHIS [LD.

The cansolidated financia! statemencs have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with UK adopred internaucenal accounting standards. The
Company prepares its parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards. including Financial Reparting
Standard 10| Reduced Disclosure Framewark {FRS {01).

This section sets out the Group's accounting palicies that refate to the financial statements as a whele. Where an accounting policy is specific to one note, the policy
is described in tha note to which it relaces. The accounting policies have, unless otherwise scated, been applied consistently w all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements and have been applied consiscently by all subsidiaries and joint ventures.

The Group prepares 1ts annual consolidated financia statemencs on a 52 or 53 waek basis. These consolidared financiaf stitements have been prepared for the
53 weeks ended 31 Deceimber 2022 (2021 52 weeks ended 25 December 2021,

The consolidated financil statements are prepared an the historical cost basis except for derivative financial instruments and certain investments which are measured
at their fair value, The consclidated financial scatements are presented in Sterling, All values are stated in £ milllon (£m) except where otherwise indicated.

Guoing wopozen

The Group reported a profit for cthe year of £89 millon 12021, foss of £140 million} and generated operating cash inflows of £622 million {2021: £459 million). The
Board has assessed the Group and Company's ability to continue as a going concern to the end of Q3 2024 (being the ‘going concern assessment pericd’}). The
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. which the Directors conside~ ta be appropriate for the reasons sct out below.

Funding

The going concern assessment considers the Group’s projected fiquidity positien and headroom aver covenant thresholds from existing committed financing facificies
throughout the going concern assessment period. As at 3| December 2022, the Group had a cash balance of £266 million and available undrawn facilities of

£370 million relating to the Group's revelving credit faciticy (RCF), with no unexpected post balance sheer changes in liquidity. In line with our forecasts, we have
seen cash outflows between the reporung date and the date of approval of the financial statements that reflect the normal seasonality of trading, combined with
ongoing capital Investment, The Group's sources of financing and its net debt at the reporting date are derailed in notes 5.1 and 5.2

A financial covenant exists in relation to the Group's £400 million RCF, which applies when the RCF is drawn by 40% or more {net of cash and cash equivalents). It
requires the Group te maintain adjusted consolidated senior secured loverage below 10x. With offect from June 2021, the Group agreed with its RCF lenders to
waive the leverage covenanc unul Q3 2023. The terms of the waiver agreement require the Group to maintain a minimum liquidity of £75 miflion (to include amouts
undrawn fram the RCF, and cash zand cash equivalents), over the period of the waiver. The Group has complied with all covenants and the terms of the waiver

agreement throughout the year.

Base cast
The projections and forecasts prepared for the going concern assassment period to the end of Q3 2024 are derived from the Group's 2023 budget, compleced in Q4
2022, and its longer term strategic pfan, both approved by che Merlin Board in December 2022. This period has been selected as the going concern assessment

period to ensure that it inchides the likely liquidity low point in the next trading cycle.

Cur ‘base case’ forecast over the gomg concern assessment pariod is based on what we believe is a balanced approach. In this base case, we have made ceraain key

assumprions:

. The base case includes che expected positive impact of continued revenue inidatives and management actions to mitigate inflationary cost pressures. while
maintaining the customer experience, Utiity costs modelled are based on contracted or forward races where appropriaze. ¥Where contracted rates are not
available, utilicy costs have been modelled using market rates, taking into account the significant inflation sean in this zrea.

. The 1mpact of the rising cost of living on our guests has been considered, utilising data derived from trading perrods overlapping with historic global recessions
and considering any impact to current trading. We do not expect any significant impact to visitation numbers. Markering strategies to stimulate wisitation can be
implementad as required.

*  Itis expected that the recavery of international tourism swill continue. Ac the time of 2pproving these financia scatements che only elements of our partfolic
that are significardy affected by restrictons on international travel are parts of the Asia Pacific region, primarily China.

. Expansionary capital expenditure on planned actractions will continue throughout the assessment period, alongside ongoing capital expenditure at existing
actractions to ensure the health and safety of our guests and staff.
. The base case specifically excludes any poterual acguisitions over the period, o any strategic initiatives yet to be approved by the Merlin Board.

. We assume that the covenant waiver remains in place until 3 2023, after which the financial covenant applies should the RCF be drawn by 40% a1 more.
Under the base case, the RCF is not forecast to be drawn to this extent during the assessment period.
. interest rates modelled during the assessment period are based on forward market rates, and reflect the hedging arrangements in place (see note 5.3).
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1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTNUED)

* Ye have assessed that rhe likelihoed of any future COVID-{9 relawed lockdowns and rescrictions chat would affect a significant part of our attracdons portolio
is remore. Hence, no further closures or government related capacity constraints have been modelied within the going concern assessment period. During
102§ and 2022 the business demonsiraced its ability to trade even while restrictions were in place.

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecases for an |8-month period from the date of approval of dhese financial statements up to the end of Q3 2024 which
indicate that, under the base case. the Group will have sufficient funds o meet its liabilitias as they fali due.

in thus base case, there would be no breach of lending facilities taking into account the terms of the covenant calcutations. Adequate liquidity is maiptained through
the entire assessment period to Q3 2024. There are no significant reserictfons on intra group liquidity transiers as required, and ne material capital repayments

of debt falling due within the going concern assessment period, with the next mazwrity of facilities being in respect of €500 million of 7.0% senior secured notes
due 2025.

wownside scenarion
The Directars believe che base case scenario above is rezscnable and appropriate. The potential impact of increasing inflavionary costs and interesc rates are inbuilt
and the base case ulso considers slower recovery in the Asia Pacific portfolio from international tourism.

In addirion to the wide range of factors already considered jn the base case, the Direcrors have prepared a dewnside scenaria considering other severe but plausible
events. Examples include events leading 1o extended arraction ¢losures occurring due to:

M Ride safety incidencs.

. Severe weather incidents; and

¢ Security relazed incidencs including acts of terrarism and/or the impact of the threat of terrorism on consumer behaviours,

The continuing war in Ukraine has been considered but noc modelled in the downside scenario. Qur trading operatons are not directly affected by the war and to
date the Group has nor seen any significant impact an performance as 3 direct cansequence of the ongeing conflict.

The diversification of the Group's actractions helps minimise the risk of serious business interruption potentally caused by the risks considered in the downside
scenano. While not modelled in the dewnside scenario, thers are numerous mitigating actions the Group could take to address both modelied and unmaodetied
adverse impacts. These mitigating measures are considered to be realistically available to the Group based on historical experience. enabling us to meet our liabilitias
as they fall due should this sicuation arise. Within the Group’s control, significant cost cutting measures could be implemented acrass operations and the Group
could delay uncommitted capital expenditure. This abibty to manage the cost base and rephase or defer capital investment provides reasoneble protection to the
Group in the face of macro events or uncertwinty not in the Group's contral. While not in the direct control of the Group, we could also seek to further extend the
waver to financial covenanes on its borrowing facilities, renewfireplace existing facilities and/or raise further finance through cash injections from the consartium of
investors in the Company. Given the Group's histary of cash generation and the successful issue of debt securides inciuding during the COVID-19 pandemic, we
would expact to be able to raise such funds as required. However, diere is no guarzntee that such funds will be availabte.

In the medelled downside scenario, and not taking into account the impact of any mitigacion measures, the Group’s cuirently available liquidity would remain positive,
albert reduced, throughsout the going concern assessment period. Consistent with the base case, under this scenario there would be no braach of lending faciliues
considering the terms of the cavenant calculatians, with leverage remaining within the required limits throughout.

Stress testing has been performed to model scenarios which would cause a liquidity shorcfall or covenant breach within the going concern assessment period. These
scenarios have been assessed and have been deemed remote. Gur assessment indicates that the Group would still have sufficient funds to enable it to operate within
its available facdities and settie its liabilities as they fall dua through the going concern assessment period.

L ONCIUSES T

Considering the Group and Company's statemens of financial pesition, available facilives, cash flow forecasts and the above modelled base case and downside
scerarios, financial projections indicate that the Group will have sufficient funds and resources to continue in operational existence, operate withia its avallable
facilizies and setcle its liabilivies as they fall due aver the gaing concern assessment period. Accordingly, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing 1ts consolidated Grotp and Company financial statements.
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1.4 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Motion JVeo Limited and its subsidiaries at the end of each repaerting period (see note 6.6)

ahd include ics share of its joint ventures’ results using the equity method.

Subsidiaries are enutes concrailed by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it s expased ta, or has rights ta, variable returns chirough its invalvement with
the enrity and has the abifity to affect thase returns through s power over the entity The financial statements of subsidiaries are eluded in the consolidated
financial statements from the dare that control commences until the date that consro! ceases.

All intercompany batances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated

Whilsc the Group operaces in the hyperinflationary jurisdiction of Turkey, the operadons are Immateral and as a result the applicaton of IAS 29 ‘Financal Repardng
in Hyperinflationzry Economies' hags not had a macerial smpact to the Group's consotidated results.

Fon ey
Foreign currency transactions are vanslated using the exchange rates prevailing at the daces of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and fosses resulting from the
settlement of such yransactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assers and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are

recognised in the income statement. except when deferred in equity as qualifying net investment hedges.

The resuits and financial position of those Group companies that do not have a Sterling functional currency are translawed into Szerling as follows:
®  Asserts and liabilities are rranslated at che closing rate at the end of the reporting period.

*  Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the period.

*  Aliresulting exchange differences are recognised in equity ' the transiation reserve.

The reporting date foreign exchange rates by major currency are pravided in note 5.3.

Liasifheaciern of finansind Instrum ol i 2d by the Geous
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group becemes party to the cancractual provisions of the instrument. The

accounting policy for each type of financial instrument is included within the relevant notes.

Financial assets are initially measured ac fan value. unless otherwise noted. and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. fair valye through other comprehensive
income or fair value through profit or foss. A financial asset is derecognised when the coneractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or the Group
transters the financial asset and substantially alf the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

Financial lrabilities are inivally measured at fair value, plus, in the case of other financial liabilities. directly atoributable transaction costs. Other financial liabilities.
es are measured at fair value through profic or loss and

primarily the Group’s inceresz-bearing loans and berrowings are measured ac amartised cost. Financial liabi
are held on the statement of financial posiuon ac fair value. A financial liability is derecognised when the Group's obligations zre discharged, expire or are cancelled
Finance payments associated with financial liabrliues arc accounted for as part of finance costs.

An equity Instrument (s any concract that has a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabiiities. Finance payments associated with
financial instruments that are classified in equity are dividends and are recarded directly in equity. The preference shares issued by the Company carry a fixed,
cumulative, preferential dividend which accrues {buc is not payable} on each preference share on a daily basis from the date of issue of the reievant preference share.
Payment of these dividends is at the discreton of the Company and accordingly they have been classified as equity.

Where financial nstruments consist of 4 combinatian of debt and equity, the Group will assess the substance of the arrangement in place and decide how to attribute

values o each taking into cansideration the policy definitions above,
Further formation on equity instruments issued by the Group 15 set out in note 5.5,

R N T L A

A full ist of new accounting standards and interpretations that have been implemented in the year. including those which have had no significant impace, can be found

I note 6.4,
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The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions thac affect the reported amounts of assecs. tiazilities. income and expenses.
Management considers the following areas ro be the areas that have the mose significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. They are

explained in more detall in the refated nares

Judgements

Maznagement cansiders the faflowing areas to be the judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

© Usorid itz of brands fnote 1.2; - where significant brands have been recognised as part of an acquisition, they have been assessed as having indefinice useful lives
and managerrient have considered that chis judgement remains appropriate.

* Goodholl unpeisnent .eviets, {note - 31 - the level at which goodwill is initially allocated and thereafter monicored.

= Llease obkeations incie 577 - IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ defines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease tegether with the options to extend or cerminate a
lease, if the lessee were reasonably certain to exercise that option. Where a lease includes the oprion for the Group to extend the lease term. the Group makes
2 judgement at the reporung date us to whecher it is reasonably certain chat the option will be taken.

Eerpmates
The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements also includes the use of estimates and assumptions. Management cansiders the following to be the
area which includes the use of estimates and assumptions and which could have a significant risk of a material change to the carrying value of assets and liabilicies

within the next year:
J Oboradng Greubs' assets and impaitment {pew. .31 - the esamation of future cash flows together

* Valughin of LEGOLW!D Parl's (L% and Resort Theme Parls fi
wich the discount rates adopted when calculating the value in use of assets.

The consolidated financial statemencs also include other areas of judgement and accounting estimates. Management considers the following to be areas where the
recognition and measurement of certain assets and liabilities are based on assumptions and/or are subject te longer term uncerainties. but that do nat meet che
definition under 1AS | of significant acCounting estimates or critical accounting judgements:

* Tasaton fmole 24 - recognition of deferred tax balances and accounting for tax risks.

© Yakwton of Midway Aitrgeins Obergting Group assets ond impanenent inore + Jj - che estimation of future cash flows together with the discount rates adopred
whean calculating the value in use of assets.

* Prowsiens fnuie 4 5, - estimated outflow to settle the obligztions and, where relevant, the appropriate discount and inflatien rates 1o apply.

*ateresicbeanng lonns and borewings (note 3,73« expected period of borrewings when calculating the effective interest rate on those borrowings.

+  Shore-basea payments inste 3.61 - the implied encerprise value of Motian Topco Limited was calculated a3 at the reporting date in order fo calcutate share-based
payment valtations for the chree schemes. The valuation was performed using the Monte Carlo option pricing model, the inpurs to which nvolve estimacion
uncertainty; these inputs are set oug in note 5.6, Future vaiuation fluctuations could materially impace share-based payment expenses recognised in
subsaquent periods.

* Sharc-besed peymants inete 5 3) - using the Group's approved five year business plan and considering ongeing future strategies of boch the Group and the Group’s
shareholders, the most likely vesting period for each scheme has been estimmated, with the maximum length of award expected 1o be nine years.

+  Empiosee benejits (nowe 5.2) - assumed discount raze. inflation rate and mortality when valuing defined benefic liabilities.
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An operaung segment, as defined by IFRS 8 'Operating segments’, is 2 component of the Group that engages in business acriviues from which it may earn revenuss

and incur expenses. The Group is managed through its three Operating Groups, which form the eperating segments on which the information shown below is
prepared. The Group determines and presents operating segments basad an the informaton that is provided internally to the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), who s
the Group's chief operating detision maker. and the Board An operating segment’s cperating results are reviewed regularly by the CEC to make decisions about

resaurces to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance.

- Details of excepuranal itenis are provided in note 2.2.

Resort
Midway LEGOLAND Theme Segment Other Excepuional
Attractions Parks Parks resules items ems 1+ Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
2022
Visitor revenue 604 665 361 1630 - - 1,630
Accommodation revenue 2117 23 300 - - 300
Other revenue 17 42 3 75 | - 76
Revenwe® 7 T 631 924 450 2,005 1 . 2,006
EBITDA® 249 330 157 736 (65) - 671
Depreciation and amortisation (note 4.1, 4.2, 54) (119 {83) (48) {250) 16} - (256)
impairmenc (note 4.1, 54, 6.1) - - - - - (29} 129
Operating profic? 130 247 109 486 VAR (29) 386
Visitor revenue 331 380 298 1.009 - - 1,009
Accommodation revenue - 124 70 i94 - - 194
Qther revenue 13 33 6 52 6 - 58
Revenue TOTUTTT T T T T Tssr T a1a Tass s T - a6
EBITDA® 162 172 48 422 (43) ) 376
Depreciation and amortisation {note 4.1. 4.2, 5.4) (1 E2) (66) (61) (239} (8) - (247)
Impairment (note 5.4} - - - - - t |
Operating profit'™ (i0y 106 a7 183 {51 (2} 130
Revenue 15 disaggregated intq the thres categones described below.
4 Performance is ineosured bosed on seginent ERITDA, as included m internal management reports Segment aperanng profit 1§ inciuded for mferination purposes
+ Ciher stems inchude Merin Magic Malang, head office costs and various other costs, which cannot be directly atinbuted to the repartable segments
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¥While each Operatirg Group is managad on a worldwide basis, pari of our strategy is to diversify geographically across the four regions shawn below. The
nformation presented is based on the geographical focations of the visitar attractions concerned.

Geographical injermauon

Uniced Kingdom
Continental Europe
North America

Asia Pacific

MNon-current

Revenues
2022

£m
593
468
710
135
2006

Investments (note 6.7}
Employee bencafits (note 6.2)
Derivative financial assets
Tax receivable

Deferred tax {note 2.4)

Revyanya

assecs

2022

£m
2963
1,694
2379
95%

7995

It
2

MNon-current

Revenues assecs

2021 2021

im £m

461 2935

256 i.526

4258 2,179

[ 895
TS 7535
24

29

14

’ 7602

Revenue represents the amounts received {excluding YAT ang similar taxes) in the areas set out below and which have been disaggregated in the segmental
information presented above. When accounting for revenue, an assessment Is made, considering the concrol principles of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’. as to whether parties involved in providing geods or services to a custcomer are acung as a principal {if they contrel delivery to the customer} or, if they
are arranging for those goods or services to be provided by the other party, as an agent. Where Merlin has outsourced the delivery of the service, for example such
ag 1n foed and beverage operacaons, the Group accounes for these as an agent,

*  Visjlor revanue - represents admissions tickets, rezail, food and beverage sales and other commercial offerings such as photos and games experiences inside an
actraction. Tickets and other services can be bought in advance, generally online, in which case they are held in deferred revenue and recognised when the visitor
uses those uckets or services, or the validity period expives. Revenue from annual passes and other tickets that entitle 2 customer to continued visits over a
period of time is deferred and then recognised over the periad that the pass is valid. Retail and food and beverage revenue. along with other similar commercial

offerings. 1s recogmsed at peine of sale.

¢ Accompavdalicnt revenue - represents overnight stay and conference room revenue afong with food and beverage revenue carned within our hoteis and other
accommedanon offerings. Accommodation revenue is recognised at the time when a customer stays az the accommodation.

* Othe. revenue - represents sponsarship, function, management and development contract revenue alang with other sundry items Sponsorship revenue is
recognised over the relevant contract term. Funcrion revenue is recognised at the time of the event. Management contract revenue is recognised as it is earned.
Where the Group enters into contraces for artraction deveiopment, revenue Is recognised over time as performance obligations under the conracts are met.

. N

Cost of sales of £359 million (2021, £226 million) represenss variable expenses {excluding VAT and sinular axes) incurred from revenue generating activities. Retail
inveritory, food and beverage consumables and costs associated with the defivery of accommodacion are che principal expenses included within this categary.
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Starl minntors and ¢osis

The average number of persons employed by the Group {including Directors) during the year, analysed by category. was as follows:

2022 2021
Operations 18.074 15423
Actraction managemen: and ceniral administratiol 2.487 2,187
Co T T e Tt omorom T T e mmm e e 20561 Mﬁm*ﬁi‘i‘gl—e— )
The aggregace payroll costs of these persons were as follows:
1022 2021
£m £m
VWages and salaries 455 342
Share-based payments 21 -
Social security costs 49 40
Other pension costs 13 B
Government supporc (2 (19
- ) o o 536 374

The totat charge for the year for share-based payments for 2021 was less than £1 multion, Further decifs are provided in note 5.6.

The Group has accessed government support measures in the geographies in which it operates, including employee furlough schemes. This funding meets the
defintion of 2 government grant and the income recognised in the year in reladon to these furlough schemes was £2 miillion {2021 £19 million).

Gavernment grants are recognised whan there is reasonable assurance that the Geoup has complied with the relevant conditions within the agreement and thar the
grant will be received, For each grant. the Group assesses whecher it relates o either capital or operauonal expenditure incurred. A grant relating co expenses
already incurred is recognised in the period in which it becomes receivable, offsetting the expenses the granis are intended to compensate. The funding received is
included within the cash flows fram operating activities m the consolidnted statement of cash fiows.

Dircecrare” reniniuon
Directors’ remuheration for the year was £0.3 million, being te remuneration of the highast paid Director (202f. £0.3 miilion}. There were no Company pension
contributicns payahie

Rodatad pary transectionr «ath oy naaeng-amant nerconrel
The remuneration of key management, comprising the members of the Executive Committee, was as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Key managernent emoluments including social security costs 79 13

In addition to the above. charges relating o share-based payments and other related payments totalied Z12.6 million (2021 £0.2 miflicn) in relation 1o the schemes
described m noie 5.6.
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20272 2021
Lm £m
Audit of these financial starements 24 1.9
Audit of financizl statemencs of subsidiaries 05 05
T o ’ T 29 2.4

In 2022 addicionat costs of £0.3 million were incurred in respect of the audic of the financial staternents for 2021.

Diner dperiung Cxpenses

in addition to the employee furfough schemes noted above, the Group hzs accessed a number of other support measures, These toralled £33 million {2021:
£19 million} and were offset against other operating expenses in the income statement. They related te arrangements whersby the goveenment funding provided
support for operating costs. The funding received is included within the cash flows from operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

.2 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Accounting poticy

Due to their nature, certin one-off and non-trading items can be classified separately as exceptional itens in order to draw thern to the attention of the reader. In
the judgement of the Directors this presentation shows the underlying performance of the Group more accurately.

Sxcantiona lao

The following items are exceptional and have been shown separately on the face of the consolidated income staterment.

2022 2021
£m £m

Within staff expenses:
Productivity and efficiency activities®!! -
Within otirer operating expenses:
Productivity and efficiency activities™ - 3
Transaction coscs™ - (1)
‘Exceptional items included within EBITOA T T oo o ST s
Within depreciation, amortisation and i;p"ai;nent: - T T
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assecst 22 (i)
Impairment of invescment in joint venture undertaking™’ 7 -
Excepu‘oﬁal itams before income tax - - 29 2
Income tax credit on exceptional items above T " 14) -
Exceptional items for the year T o 15 o 2

Certain one-off operational costs were incurred m 2021 as the Group’s preductivity and efficency related actiities that commenced 1t 2020 wers coinpleted They were separately presented as
they were nat part of the Group's underlymg operaung expenses.

R In 2021 the Group changed its accaunting bolicy releted to the cabitchisation of certain software essets fallowing the IFRS interprotations Committee’s agenda decision published w1 Aprid 262!
Thes change in accounting policy fed to an mcrease in excepuonal eberctng expenses relating 1o productivity and efficency actmities of £3 millon m 202 1. They were separately presentad as
they were not part of the Group's underlying operoting expenses.

+ In 2021 certom costs i respect of previods transactions were finalised leadr; to the release of cmiounts previously provided for of £1 million. They were sepormely presented as they ware not
part of the Group’s underlying operating exbenses,
“ Impairment charges have been made m the year of £19 million in property, plont and equipment and £3 mullion m right-of-use usvets, in respect of wo of the Group’s Midway etiractions These

reflact latest estrnates at the end of the reparting peusd of the furuee performance of these altracyons, takmg Mo account rewews of ehe market and econoric <onditions at those Jocatioas fn
2021 an inpanment credit was recarded in the year of £1 miliian in respec: of ane Midway location thiat was subject 26 unpairment in 2020. They are separately presented as they are not port
of the Group's underlying deprecietion charge.

Impairment charges have been rrads i the year of £7 miliion m respect of the Group's mvestment ui the campany aperating the LECOLAND Lubai Hotel, which is port of the LEGOLAND Part.s
Qperaung Group. This reflects an gssessment of market and economic condiions i that facation.
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Dooaeringe pobicioy
frrmimi: amd eosts
Finance income comprises interest ncome from financial assets and invesaments, applicable foreign exchange gains and gains on hedging instruments that are
recognised in the income statement. Fimance costs comprise interest expense, finance charges on finance leases. applicable forzign exchange losses and losses
on hedging instruments chat are recognised in the income statement. Incerest incame and interest expense are recognised as they accrue, using the effective
interast method,
Capitaiisation of Dorrm=ing costg
Where assets take a substantial tme to complete, the Group capitalises borrowing costs directly atwributable to dhe acquisition, construction or production of
those assers.
Ehyanee Incoone
2022 2021
£m £m
Incerest income 2 2
Orher
Net foreign exchange gain 27 -
29 2
Pl
2022 2021
£im £m
Inierest expense on lease liabilities 76 52
Interest expense or financial fabilicies measured at amortised cost 203 165
Orther interest expense - 7
Other
Net foreign exchange loss - 2
279 226

Capitalised borrowing coses amounted to £3 million in 2022 (202! £8 milfien), wath a capitalisation rate of 4.9% (202 f; 43%). Tax relief on capitalised borrowing

costs amaurted te £} million in 2022 (202 1: £2 millign;
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2.4 TAXATION
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The tax charge for the year is recagnised in the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income, according o the accounting treatment of the related

transaction. The tax charge comprises both currenc and deferred tax.

Current tax is che expected tax payable on taxable income, using tax rates subsrantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment o tax
payable in respect of pravious periods.

Deferred mx is provided on certin temporary difflerences berween the carrying amounts of assets and habilities for financial reporting purposes and taxation purposes
respectively. The following temparary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill: the inizal recognition of assets or habilivies that affect neither
accouncng nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and differences relating to investments in subsidiares and joint vencures o tha extent chac chey will
prabably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or sectlement of the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities. using tax raves enacrad or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Subject to the exceptions noted above, deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temparary differences, the carry forward of unused wix credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible cemporary differences. and
the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be urtitised. This assessment 1s made after considering a number of factors, including the Group's

future trading expecrations.

Provistans for uncertain tax positions are recognised when the Group has 2 present obligation as a result of a past event and management judge that it is probaale that
there will be a future cutflow of economic benefits to settle that obligation. Uneertain tax positions are assessed and measured on an issue by issue basis within the
jurtsdictions that we oparate using management’s estimarte of the most likely outcome. A combinatian of in-house tax experts, previous experience and professional firms

is used when assessing uncertain tax pesitions

feacugni. el

2022 2021
£m £m
Current tax

Current year 31 5
Adjuscment for prior periods {51 {7}
r'focaircurr;znt incame tax T 7 T S ‘ 25 7 2}
Deferedix T T S
Originaton and reversal of temporary differences 14 (%)

Changes in zax rate 2 58
Adjustment for pricr pericds 5 ()
Total deferred tax o “—" T ey
T a7 ag

Total tax expense in income statement
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2.4 TAXATION (CONTINUED)
Faconcdiznon o o oolra . raf

2022 2022 2021 2021

% £m % £m

Profit/{lass) before tax 136 (94)
income tax using the UK domestic ;:inomtion tax rate ) - BT Y T 19.0% (!é)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 21 (5)
MNon-deductible expenses 7 4
Movement in uncertain tax provisions 12y -
Income nat subject to tax th ("
Effect of changes in tax rate 2 58
Effect of recognising deferred tax assets previously unrecognised (53 -
Unrecognised temporary differences g 16
Adjustrmenc for prior periods - 8)
Tc;nta‘l iz;x expeﬁse in in;:;rn;rehstatemenc ) 7 7 l 34.6% 47 .(-48-:9%} 46 ‘

The reported effective tax rate (ETR} is 34.6%. The difference between the underlying ETR {excluding exceptionals) of 30.8% and the UK standard tax rate of 15.8% is
primarily attribucable to de effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdicdons and certain non-deductible expenditure offser by maovements in uncertain tax provisians. During the
course of the year, the conclusion of tax authority enquiries has enabled certain provisions to be released or reassessed.

In 2071, the difference between the reported ETR of (48.9)% and the UK standard tax rate was primarily ateribucable to the revaluation of deferred tax liabilities due to
the change in the UK tax rate from 9% to 25% from | April 2023, and the non-recognition of tax losses.

Significant factars impactng the Group's future ETR include the Group's geographic mix of profits, the timing of recognition of tax lasses and changes 1o local or
internationat tax laws. Unrecognised deferred tax assets include tax losses in various jurisdictions which may be recagnised in future periods as the relevant business
becomes profitable. In the 3 March 2021 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will increase to 25% from i April 2023. This will have a consequential effect on the
Group’s future tax charge.

In April 2019 the European Commission (EC) announced it final decision that cerwin elements of die UiCs Controlled Foreign Campany rules partially represenc State
Aid and in February 2021, the Group received charging netices from HMRC for £28 million, which have been paid. The UK Government made an annuliment application
against the EC deciston, however in junc 2022 the EU General Court dismissed the UK's appiication. The UK has subsequendy lodged an appeal to the Court of Jusuce of
the European Union. The Group expects the appeal will ultimately be successful and accordingly the payments are held as 2 receivable in non-currenc assets. If the appeal
is ultimately unsuccessful then this could result i an increase in the Group's future effective tax rate.

Fanowr T L et et et nd s soaape s 2 b lnngee
2022 2021
£im Lim
Effective poruon of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 9 -
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit plans 2 “

Total tax expense in statement of other comprehensive income L -
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2.4 TAXATION (CONTINUJED}

Troae e ccarnaes ansd Gaedid

Racognisad deferrad i posers and flakilildes
Deferred tax assers and {mbilities are actributable to the following:

Assets LiabHities Net
) 2022 2021 2022 2021 2072 2024
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 24 22 1244) (205) {2209 (183)
Right-of-use assets / lcase liabilities 55 41 187) (78) (32) (373
Ocher short term temporary differences 6l 55 124) {3) 37 52
Corporate interest restriction 72 56 - - 72 56
Intangible assets 7 22 (351 (362) {344 {340}
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 52 63 - - 52 63
Ta assewsi(liabilities) o o 0 259 706y (648) (435 (389)
Sec-off cax (266) (245) 166 245 - -
Net fax assetsi(liabilities) T (440)  (a03) (a35) (389
Cther short term temporary differences primarily relate to financial assets and tiabilities and various accruals and prepayments.
Set-off tax is separarely presenced ro show deferred tax assess and liabilives by category before the effect of offserting these amounts in the scatement af financial
position where the Group has the right and intention to offset these amounes.
Fovernen. in deferred tax durng che current year
Acquisiions Recognised Effect of
26 through n other movernents 31
December business Recognised  comprehense in foreign December
2021 combinatens N ncome ncome exchange 2022
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Praperty. plant and equipment (183} (1) {22) (14} 12204
Right-of-use assets / lease liabilivies (37} - 8 - (3 (32
Orther short term temporary differences 52 4R {81 (il 5 27
Corporate interest rastriction 56 - 16 - 72
intangible assets {3401 - i 13} RS
Tax value of loss carry-farwards 63 ! (hdy . 2 51
"Net tax assets/(liabilities) ’ 389, (0 20 g (3 435)

In 2022 movements recognisad in income were principally duc to tax allowances in the UK and US exceeding depreciation and the use of brought forward losses.
his 15 partially offset by interest disallowances in the UK.
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1.4 TAXATION ([CONTINUED)

viov e defecred ta L oo iie provieus goar

Recognised Effect of

27 in other movements 25

Decernber Recognised  comprehensive n foreign December

2020 in ncome income exchange 2021
£m £m £m £m £m

Froperty, plant and equipment (151 {35) - 3 {183)
Right-of-use assets / lease liabilties (42) 4 - 1 (37)
Orcher short term temporary differences 38 15 - [0))] 52
Corporate interest restriction 21 35 - - 56
Intangible assets {277) (66) - 3 (340}
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 65 () - (n 63
Nec tax assets/({liabilities) T (346) (48) - 5 (389)

in 202! movements recognised in income were principally due to the revaluation of deferred tax liabilities due to the change in the UK tax rate offser by interest
disaliowances in the UK and UJSA.

Un. ocogrised deferrac tr agsuts

2022 2021
£m £m
Property, plant and equipment 5 I
Right-of-use assets / lease liabilicies 18 23
Other short term temporary differences 20 21
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 86 87
VKI;Z;nrecognised tax assets o T o 129 112

The unrecognised deferred tax assecs refating to foss carry-forwards include £15 million {202 §: £6 miflion] expiring in 0-5 years and £23 million (2021: £28 miflion)
expiring in 6-16 years, The remaining losses and other timing differences do not expire under current tax legislation.

The nature and location of the tax lesses carried forward are such that there 1s currently no expectation that the majority of the lossas will be uulised.
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it BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

PR LR FUI R PP
When a business combination takes place, the Directors consider the rights and intentions of the directors of both entities and the overall controlling parties before
and after acquisition ro determine wha the acquiring party is, and then accaunt for business combinations by applying the purchase method. Having determined the
acquiring party. any individuafly identfiable assers. habitiues and concingent liabilities acquired are valued. These include the property, plant and equipment and any
intangible assets which can be sold separately or which arise from lega! rights regardless of whether these rights are separable, with any remaining balance being

assigned to goadwil].

ESLERS

The CCEN Acuariumn

In April the Group completed the acquisition of the COEX Aquarfum in Seoui, South Korea. The Group acquired |00% of the issued share capital of Seocul Ocean
Aquarium Co.. Ltd. for £3 | rubhon. net of cash acquired. This acquisition added a further significant atcraction to the SEA LIFE portiolio.

Cacbury Wovld

In January 2022 the Group entered into an agreement to take over the aperations of the Cadbury World ateraction in the UK. The transaction compleced in
December 2012. No consideration was paid in the year. Consideration of £8 million has been recognised which, subject to the performance of the atrraction, is
expected to be payable in 2024,

These acquisitions had the follawing effect on the Group's assets and liabilities:

The CCEX Cadbury  Faw values at
Aquarum ¥Warld acquisition
£m £m £m
Acquiree’s net assets ot the acquisition date:
Property. plant and equipment 8 2 10
Right-of-use assets 12 4 ré
Inventories - | 1
Cash and cash equivalents ! ) !
Lease liabilities (%) o) {10)
Trade and other payables {1 - {1}
Provisions (2) - (2}
Current tax liabilicies (h - (h
Deferred tax assets andg liabilities i - th
Net identifiable assets and fiabilities - 7 e '3
Goodwil T o ' S ' 25 2 27
‘Consideration \ ' ' S - 7 32 8 40
Anzlyse. of net casi sutiow
The COEX Zadbury
Acuarm YWorld Tortal
£m im £m
Cash acquired iy - (B
Cash paud at acauisition 32 - 32
f:let cash outflow 7 31 - 3!

Goodwill of £27 million has been allocated to the Midway Atwractions Operating Group. The goodwill arose on these transactions as they support the Group's wider
strategy to build cluseers of Midway indoor attractions :n key gateway cities The goodwill s not deductible for tax purposas.

in the year 16 31 Docember 2022 these acquisitions contributed £8 millen to consolidated revenue znd a profiz of £2 miliion te the consolidated underlying

operating profit of the Group.
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4.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

g T e

Property, nlanc and equipmenc (PPE} are staied at cost less accumutated depreciation and impairment lasses.
Where components of an item of PPE have different useful lives, they are accounced for separacely.

The inital cost of PPE includes ali costs incurrad in bringing the asset inw use and wickudes exrarnal costs for the acquisition, construcdon znd cammissioning of the

asset, ineernal project costs (primarily staff expenses) and capirafised borrowing costs.

Assets acqrived threugh susimess combinadan

At the time of a business combination PPE 15 separately recognised and valued. Given the specialised nature of the PPE acquired, fair values are caleulated on a
depreciated replacement cost basis. The key estimaces are the replacement cost. where indusery specific indices are used to restate original historic cost; and
depreciation, where the total and remaining economic useful hives are considered. cogecher wich the residual value of each assat. The total estmarad lives applied
are consiszent with those set out below. Residual values are based onindustry specific indices. Freehold land is valued using a market approach.

~lews sites
Capital expenditure on New arrractions includes all the coses of bringing the items of PPE within that attraction into use ready for the opening of the attraction.
Pre-opening costs are only capizalised to the extent they are required to bring PPE into its working condition. Other pre-opening costs are expensed as incurred.

EXisIng o1ies

Subsequent expenditure on items of PPE in our axisting estate can be broadly split into two categories:

*  Capital expenditure which adds new items of PPE to an attraceion, or which extends the operational fife, or enhances exasting items of PPE is accounted for as
an addition te PPE. Exampies of such expenditure include new rides or displays and enhancaments te rides or displays, which increase the appeal of our
ALCracuons to visitors,

*  Expenditure which is incurred to maintain the :tems of PPE in a safe and useable state and o maintain the usefud life of items of PPE Is charged to dhe mcome
seatement as incurred, Examples of such expenditure include regular servicing and maintenance of buildings. rides and displays and ongoing repairs to items
of PPE.

Governmunt Brasts

Government grants are recogniscd when there is reasenable assurance that the Group has complied with the relevant conditions within the agreement and that the
grant will be received. For each grant. the Group assesses whether it relates to either capical or operaticnal expenditure incurred. The Group has elected to
deduct grants refated to capital expenditure from the total project costs within property, plant and equipment and amaortise them systematically over the useful life
of the assets.

Daprecavaor

Land is not depreciated. Assets under construction are net depreciaced unil they come nto use, when they are transferred to buildings or plant and equipment as
appropriate. Depreciation is chen charged to the income statement on a straight-ine basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an iten of PPE. Asset lives
for plant and equipment vary depending on che nature of the asset. from short life assets such as IT assets. up to long term infrascructure assets. No residual values
are typically considereg

The estmated useful lives aro as follows:

sset clasy Deprectanan pohcy
freehold/lang leasehold buildings 50 years
Leasehold buildings 20 ~ 50 years (dependent on [ife of lease)
Plant and equipment 5 — 30 years
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4.1
" i 2 N
Land and
buldings
£m
Cost
Ar 27 December 2030 1,269
Additions i
Disposals -
Transfers 293
Effecc of movaments in foreign exchange (19}
Balance at 25 December 2021 ' S i T . ) ) i“,5m44
Acquisitions through business combinations (note 3.1) &
Additions 4
Disposals b
Transfers 263
Effect of movements in foreign oxchange b4
Balance at 3] December 2022 1.930
ijeprecfatjan . S h o a ) o
Ar 27 December 2020 77
Depreciation for the year 55
Disposals -
Transfers 53
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (4
Balance at 25 December 2021 ' B ' 184
Depreciztion for the year &7
Impairment 13
Disposals -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 15
Ba!ance“atl-i .Decembe; 2022 279
Carying amounss - - S )
At 26 December 2020 1.192
Ac2S December2031 T T T T T e
"At?}l Decem!;er'-’goﬁ- - e mmmrm e 1.651

Depreciation is calculated in line with the policy stated previously.

e L AGFTR

Planc and
equIpmeant
£m

895
18
(2
284
(19
EEE
4

t4
(34
33
57
1,281

154
110
)

{3)
261
113

ih
i3
3192

744

215
889

Under
Consrructon
tm

&7
pid

(1
i577)

(18)

{296}

124

vl

137

LSO S T2

Toral
£m

2,791
220

(3)

(56)
2,952
1o
202

(4)

175
3335

286
165
(2)

{4)
445
180
19
{iy
i8
671

During the year the Group reviews useful economic lives and tests PPE for impairment in accerdance wich the Group’s accaunting policy. as referred to in note 4.3.
Impairment charges have been made in the year of £19 million (2021 £nif}, in respect of twe of the Group's Midway artractions, arising from a review of market and
economic conditions at chose locations where the carrying value cxceeded the recoverable amount. No reasonable change in the assumpdons would mazerially

change the impairments recognised.

One ateracton within the Group’s LEGOLAND Parks Cperating Group is sensitive to changes in assuimpcions, where an increase of 45 basis points in the pre-tax

discount rate would absorb the headroom of £25 million.
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OPERATING ASSETS
AND LIABILITIES coxmue

S

4.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED}

At the year end die Group had a number of outstanding capival commicments i respece of capical expenditure at its exisung attractians (including accommodadon).
as well as for Midway atcractions that are under construction. These commitments are expected to be settled wichin twe financial years of dhe reporting date. These

amount to £62 miltion (2021 £70 millran} for which ne provision has been made.

4.2 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Svossneddag pedals

Goodwill represents the difference batween the cost of an acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired less any contingent liabilities
assumed. Goodwill is stated ar cost less any accumulzted impairment losses. Goodwill is aliocated to groups of cash-generating units and is not amortised but is

tested annually for impairment. Ir: respect of joint ventures, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment in the joint venture.

Where they arise on acquisition. brands are valued using the excess earnings method. All che significant brands acquired are assessed as having indefinite useful
economic fives. This assessment 1s based upon the strong historical performance of the brands over 2 number of economic cycles, the ability to rofl out the brands,
and the Directors’ intentions regarding the future use of brands. The Directors feel this is a suitable policy for a brands business which invests in and maintains the
brands, and foresee ne technological developments ar compenitor actions which would puc a finite fife on the birands. The brands are tested annually for impaicment.

Other brands are amertised over a period of fifteen years.
Expenditure on internally genarated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income staterment as an expense as incurred.

Other intangible assets comprise software licences deemed to be controlied by the Group, spensarship rights and other contract or relationship based intangible
assets. They are amortised on a straight-line basis from the date they are available for use. They are stated at cost less accumulated amordsation and

impairment losses.

The estimated uscful lives of other intangibie assets are as follaws:

Asset class Estimaced useful ife

Licences Life of licence {up to |5 years)

Relevant contractual period (up to 30 years)

Cther intangible assers
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4.2 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Cu PMGAL REROQRT el D OOUR S T

Soan e Tl el T im0
tntangible assets
Goodwil Brands  Other Total
£m fm £m £m
Cost
Ac 27 December 2020 2,460 1,325 33 3818
Additions - - 2 2
Effect of movements in foreigh exchange (28} (£3) - [&2))]
Balance at 25 December 20214 o T 2:4;2—— T 31 ? 35 3;;9_
Acquisitians through business combinanons {note 3.1) 27 ) 27
Additions | !
Transfer to righr-of-use assets (nate 5.4) - 4 4
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 164 9 | 174
Balance ar 3| December 1022 1,623 1321 33 3977
Amaortisation -
Ar 27 December 2020 280 1 4 265
Amortisation for the year - - 5 5
Effects of movements in foreign exchange 2) - - (2}
Balance at 25 December 2021 ) 258 | 9 - 268
Amortisation for the year | 5 6
Transfer to right-of-use assets (note 5.4) - - (b ()
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 19 - 3
‘Balance at 3| December 2022 277 2 13 292
Carvying crn_aounts B
Ar 26 December 2020 2.200 1,324 29 3553
At 25 December 2021 - o 2174 13t 26 350
1319 20 1685

Atli December 2022

1.344

Intangible assevs are testad for impairment in accordance with the Group's accounting policy, as referred to in note 4 3. As a result of these tests, no impairment

charges have been made in the year (2021 £nil).

Gaoddl

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's operating segments whick represent the lowest leval at which it is momtored and tested for impairment Jtis denominated in

the refevant local currencies and therefore the carrying value is subject to movements in foreign exchange rates.

Midway Attractions
LEGOLAND Parks

Resort Theme Parks

2022 2021
£m £
364 323
1852 {724
130 127
2346 274
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4.2 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Branes
The Gronip has valued the fellowing biands at the ume of chose brands being acquired Certain brands are denominated ih their relevant local currencies and
therefore the carrying value is subject ta movements in foreign exchange rates.

2022 2021
£m £m
Midway Aetractions
Madame Tussauds 418 428
SEA LIFE 205 205
London Eye 213 23
Dungeons 92 92
Other & 7
O G oes T T ems
Resort Theme Parks ﬁ ‘ ’ I
Gardaland Resort 175 168
Alcon Towers Resort 92 92
THORPE PARK Resort 30 30
Heide Park Resort 32 30
Chessington World of Adventures Resort 28 28
Warwick Castle 18 i8
o G U U s T TR
’ EEIE L301
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4.3 IMPAIRMENT TESTING

The carrying amount of the Graup's goodwill is tested for impairment an an annual basis. Intangible assets, PPE and right-of-use (ROU) assets are reviewed at che and of each
reporting period to determine whethar there is any indication of impairment. If any such indicadon exists or if the asset has an indefinite life. the z2sset’s recoverable

vt ndeins

amount is astimated.

The process of impairment rasting Is w estimace e recoverable amount of the assets concerned, and recaogmise an impairrment fess whenever the carrying amaunt
of those assets exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairment testing is performed firse at the individual cash-generating unit {CGU) level without goodwill. with any
impairment loss recognised as required. Impairment testing for goodwill is then applied to the collection of CGUs to which the goodwill refates.

The level at which the assets concerned are reviewed varies as foilows:

Asser

Goodwili Coodwill is reviewed at an Operating Group level, being the refevant grouping of CGUs at which the benefit of such goodwilt arises. A
CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates largely independent cash inflows, being the Group's individial attractions.

Brands Brands are reviewed at ar; individual CGU level.

PPE PPE is reviewed at an individual CGU level, being the Group's individual attractions.

RQU assars ROU assets are reviewed at an individual CGU fevel, being che Group's individual attractions, In doing so, the associated lease lability is

considered against the vaiue of the ROU assert as a sate of 2 CGU would necessitate that a buyer takes on the lease lizbitity.

For asscts that are in continuing use but de not generate largely independent cash inflows. the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the

agsets belong.

i T ised in the income statement, They are allocated first to redu 4 arrying a of goodwill. r uce th in
Impairment losses are recognised in the me & t. They llocated first t duce the carrying amount of goodwill. and then to red he carrying

amount of other intangible assets and other assers on a pro raca basis.

Jwin L [ rI R P LR

In accordance with accounting standards the recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. To assess value in use,
estimated future cash flows have been discounted to their present value using pre-gax discount races, each appropriate to the Operating Greup concerned. The
Group's internally approved five year business plans. where the first year is based on latest budgecs, are used as the basis for these calculatians, with cash flows

beyond the five year outlock period then extrapolated using long term growth rates.

The key assumptions and estimates used when calculating the ner present value of future cash fiows fram the Group’s busmnesses are as follows:

Estimare
Assumed to be cquivalent to the operating cash flows of the businesses less the cash flows in respact of capital expenditure

and repayments of lease liabilicies. The Group uses EBITDA less an allocation of censral costs. in line with other recharges
which occur in the business, as a proxy for the operating cash flows of its atcracuons as they are not significantly impacted

Future cash flows

by movements in warking capital.

Grawth in EBITDA EBITDA is forecast by an analysis of both projecred revenues and casts. Visitor numbers and revenue projections are
based on market analysis, including the total available rmarket. historic trends, competition and site development activity.
both in terms of capital expenditure on rides and atrractions as well as markecing activity.
Projectians of operating costs are based on historical data, adjusced for varlations in visitor numbers and planned expansion

of site activities as well as general market conditions.
Timing and quancum of future Projections are based on the attractions’ long term developiment plans, taking e account the capital investment necessary
capital and mamrenance te maincain and sustain the performance of che attracdons’ assets.

expenditure

A growth rate of 2.5% (202/: 2.5%) was determined based on management’s long term expecrations, taking account of

Long term growth rate
historical averages and future expeceed trends 1n both market development and market share growth.
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4.3 IMPAIRMENT TESTING (COnNTINUED)

Estumate
Discount rates to reflect the risks Based on the estimated weighted average cost of capttal of a ‘marlet pardcipant’ within the main geographical regions
involved where the Group operates, these are drawn from market data and businesses m similar sacters, and adjusted for asset

specific risks, The ey assumptions of the ‘market pardicipant’ include the ratio of debit to equity financing, risk free races
and the medium term risks associated with equity investments. Average figures are used where appropriate o reduce the
impact of any short term valadlity. Net presenc vatues are calculated using pre-ax discount rates derived from this post-
tix weighted average cost of capieal.

Pre-tax discount rates Post-tax discount rates
2022 W2l 2022 2021
Midway Actractions 10.7% 10.3% 8 6% B.3%
LEGOLAND Parks 10.7% 1¢.3% 8.5% 8.4%
) IO._ % 50.4}; 8 6% B.3%

Resorr Theme Parks

Bty nrabusi-
Impairment reviews are often sensitive to changes in key assumptions. Sensitivity analysis has thercfore been performed on the calcuiated recoverable amounts
considering incremental changes in cha key assumptions.

Particular focys is given to material amounts where headroom is more limited. This refates to goodwill attributed ro the LEGOLAND Parks Operating Group, where
the headroom is £550 million (202 1- £87 rmiflienj and the Resort Theme Parks Operating Group where the headreom is £173 million {202 {: £22 mifiion}. The Midway
Auractions Operating Group and the individual brands show considerable headroom and are not sensitive to even significant changes in any of the key assumpcions

In undertaking sensitivity analysis consideranion has been given to movements in forecast EBITDA, increases in discount rates and reductions in long term

growth rates:

«  Avthe reporting date the Directors consider that the forecasts used reflect the best estimate of future trading. It is noted, however, that the calculations are
inherently sensitive ta the level of growth which can depend on a number of factors. While in the short term slower growth would be highly unlikely o affect
vatuations by a substantial ameunt, longer term shorefalls that affect the outlook for the fifth year of the plan {which drives the terminal value) would have a
mote sighificant impact.

«  Discount rates have been derived from market dara. As these rates aic intended to be long term in nature they are expacted to be reasonably stable in the shorc

term, however market discount rates could increase in future.
+  The long term growth rate, which is applied to the cash flows of the final year in the business pian (2027}, was determined tased on management’s fong term
expectations, aking account of historical averages and future expected trends 1y both markes development and market share growth.

PEGOLAND Parks (L

+ I EBITDA for LLP as a whole was forecast to be 9% lower than currendy anucpated for 2027, headroom would be absorbed in full.
+ {f the pre-tax discount rate used across LLP had been hugher by & factor of 13% to 12.1%, headroom would have been absorbed in full.
e M circumstances caused the long term growth rate to lower from 2.5% 1o 0.7%, headroom would be absorbed in full.

Aesors Thee Parks (A1)
« [ EBITDA for RTP as a whole was forecast to be 1% lower than currently anticipated for 2027, headroom would be absarbed in fuil.
« If the pre-tax discount rate used across RTP had been higher by z factor of 15% 1o 12.6%, headroom would have been absorbed in full.

= if circumstances caused the iong term growth rate to lower from 2.5% 1o 0.2%, headroom weuld be absorbed in full.
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4.4 WORKING CAPITAL

Pttt aoliches

Inyeriocics
Inventories are scated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Cost is measurad using the first«in firstsout principle and includes expenditure incurred in
acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their present lacation and condition. In a business combination the goods for resale held by the acquired Group are

‘stepped-up’ ta 2 value that takes into account an estmation of the level of future sales proceeds to be generated by the acquiring Group, less esdmated coscs

necessary to sell the inventory.

Trace and oher receival
Trade and other receivables are recognised and carried at the original invoice amoun less 2 loss atfiowance <zlculated using the simplified expected credit loss (ECL)

model approach. Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, QOther receivables are stated at thewr amortised cost fess any
impairment losses. Estimated ECLs are calculated using both actual credit loss experience and forward iooking projections.

Hnestoror

2022 2021
£m £m
Maintenance inventory 13 il
Wark in pragress 6 |
Goods for resale 42 39
e ——— o e e e e o e e e ——— o T Ty
emde and T
Current assets Non-current as5ets
’ 2022 2021 2022 2021
£m £m £m £m
Trade receivables 52 2l - -
Other receivables &5 53 2 3
Prepayments 34 30 | 2
Conrracs assets 14 2 9] -
i 165 113 '3 5
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4.4 WORKING CAPITAL {CONTINUED}

~Age g o trasde reganablas
Tl aguing analysis of trade receivables, ner of allewance for nen-recoverable amaunts, is as follows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Neither past due nor impaired 34 [0
Up to 30 days overdue il 5
Bearween 30 and 80 days overdue 3 I
Becween 60 and 90 days overdue ] t
Over 90 days overdue 3 4
51 2!
Information about the Group's exposure to credic risk is mcluded in note 5.3.
Tl na athe DRy b
Current habihoies WNon-current habilices
2022 2021 C 2022 2021
£m £m £m £m
Trade payables 73 60 - -
Aceruals 179 202 - -
Deferred income 194 190 15 -
Qther payables 45 32 47 20
N - o 491 484 61 20
Accruals

Accruals comprise balances Tn relation to both eperating and capital costs incuired at the reporting date but for which an invoice has noc been received and paymeant
has not yer been made.

Dedred ncoma
Ceferred income comprises revenues received or invoiced at the reporung dace which relate to future periods. The main components of deferred income relate to

advanced ticket revenues in respect of online bookings and annual pass purchases; pre-booked accommodation; and certain sponsorship and simitar arrangements.

in 2022, at year end exchange rates, this also includes £52 million (202 /: £50 million) recerved in respect of funding and infrastructure supporr for the development of
LEGQLAND Korea. Furcher details are prowded in note 6.3.

{06 million of the deferred mcame at 25 December 2021 was recognised in revenuc in 2022.

Ciner payables
Mon-current cther payables includes £20 million in respect of share-based payment transactions (202 (- fess than LI millon). Further datails are provided in note 5.6.
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4.5 PROVISIONS

i peiie

Provisions are recognised when the Group has legal or constructve obligations as a rasult of past events and it is probable that expenditure will be required wo settle
those obligations. They are meastired at the Directors’ bast estimates, after taking account of information available and different possible outcomes.

If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
nme value of money and, where appropriate, the risis specific to the Lability.

Assct
refuement
provisions Other Tortal
£m £m £m
Balance at 26 December 2021 83 41 124
Acquisitions through business combinations {note 3.1} 2 - 2
Provisions rmade during the year 3 28 3
Utilised during the year {1y 13y {4)
Unused amcunts reversed () (7 i8)
Unwinding of discount pa - 2
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 4 - 4
7Baian;;at 3§ December ?.0_22 i o 7 59 151
02 ' o
Current - 23 23
Non-current 92 38 128
T o o 92 59 151

w021 ) ' S
Current - B 8
Nan-current 83 33 bté
oo T e e e e [ - S s I

mEsel Fotiranent prowsions
Certain attractions operate on leasehold sites and shese provisions refate to the antizipaied costs of removing assets and restoring the sites concerned at the end of

the lease term These leases are typically of a duration of berween (0 and 60 years.

They are established on inception and reviewed annually. The provisions are discounted back to present value with the discount then being unwound through the
income statemenc as part of finance costs, The cosc of establislung these provisions together wich the wnpact of any changes in the discouns rate is capitalised within

the ¢ost of the related asset.
Othe,
Other provisions include future regulacory payments in connection with the modification of the UK Resort Tneme Parks leases and agreements that were encered

Into w0 securs their tenure until 2077 {see note 5.4) that may become payable at the siart of the addidional 35 year period. Remaining balances relate 1o the
estmated cost arising from apen insurance claims, tax matcers and legal 15sues.

There are no andeipated fuwure events thac would be expected to cause a macerial change in the tming or amount of outflows associated with the provisions.
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Mer dabt is the toral amaunt of cash and cash eguivalents less interest-bearing loans and borrowings and lease liabilities Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash

balanices. call deposits and other short term liquid investments such as money market funds which are subject to an insignificant risk of a change in value.

Acquisittons Effect of
26 through Net movements 31
December business cash Naon-cash in fareign December
202t combmatons flows movements ¢ exchange ' 2022
£m im £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 185 I 73 - 7 266
Interesc-bearing loans and borrowings {3.554) - 228 209 (272) 13.807)
Lezse Habilicies (1.4538) {1} 98 (223) {19 eIy
Net debt h (4.827) 9 399 (432) (284) (5.053)
Effect of
7 Net movements 25
December cash Nan-cash n fareign December
2020 flows """ movements exchange 2021
£m £m im im £m
Cash and eash equivalents 306 (133) - 12 185
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (3.677) 189 {173) 107 {3.554)
Lease liabilicies (1.264) 106 {228) 28 {1.458)
Net debt (4.735) 162 (;(‘)T} 147 {4,82—7_)-

Met cash flows mchide the arawdawn and repayment of foans and borrewings, imterest paid refating to locns and botrowings and interest pawd and capital repayments relating te frases.
Non-cash movements include the finance costs relating to loans and borrowings ond leases fram the income siciemen, together with lease agdmans and dispesels.

1 A substanzial praportion of the Graup’s net debt is denomunated 1w npon Sterling currencies
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5.2 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

R S T T

incerest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fajr value less actribucable fees. These fees are then amortised dhrough the income statement on an
effective interest rate basis aver the expecred fife of the loan {or over the contractual terin where there is no clear indication that a shorter life is appropriate). if the
Graup's estimate of dhe expected ife based on repayment subsequently changes, the resulting adjusument to the effective interest rate calculation is recognised as a

in or loss on re-measurement and presented separately in the income statement, in accordance with IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instrumenis’.
P P

TN gy e eings

Current habilities Nan-current kabilties Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
fm f£m £m £m fm m

£400 million floating rate revolving credic
facility due 2028 - - - - - -
Floacing rate bank facilivies due 2026 1l 10 2352 2,t8% 2,363 2.i96
£500 million fived rate notes due 2025 - - 440 418 440 418
$400 millior fixed rate notes due 2026 - - 340 311 340 311
£370 million fixed rate notaes due 2027 - - 321 304 32! 304
$4 10 millior fixed rate notes due 2027 - - 332 297 332 297
Crcher loans I 2 - i | 3
[ncerest payable O 25 - - 10 25
S e o2 RV 3785 3,5?% 3.807; ST 3—,5§;

interest-bearing Ioans and borrowings are imidally recognised at fair value, nec of transaction costs and are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount (s amorused through the income statemenc over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest medhod.

At 31 December 2022, the Group's sentor faciities are the following:

Sanior secur od dea

= €1.460 miltion and %1,342 million drawn facilivies to mature in November 2026 entered into by the Company’s subsidiary Motion Finco $.4 rl. The margins on
these facilities are dependent on dhe Group's adjusted leverage ratioc and ar 3| December 2022 were at a margin of 3.0% (2021, 3.0%) for EUR borrowings and
3.25% (2021 3.25%j) for LUSD borrowings aver the floating interest rates when drawn. The relevant flozdng interest rates are USD LIBOR. which was 4.73% az
31 December 2022 (0.13% ot 25 December 2021), and EURIBOR, which was 2.20% at 3| December 2022 (nf% ot 25 December 2021).

« €500 million of 7.0% senior secured notes due 2025 entered nto by the Company's subsidiary Motion Finco 8.4 rl. The notes are listed on The International
Stock Exchange.

* 8400 million 5.75% senior noces due 2026 entered into by the Company's subsidiary Merlin Entertainments Limited. The noces are listed on The Internanonal
Stock Exchange.

* A £400 million revolving credit facility co mature in May 2026. £30 million was uulised by way of establishing certain ancllary facilives, including letters of credic.
The relevant floating rate used for the facilicy was amended on [ January 2022 from GBP LIBOR to the Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA).

e semar aebe
« 370 miliion 4.5% seniar notes due 2027 and 3410 million 6.625% senior notes due 2027 enterad into by the Company's subsidiary Motion Bondca DAC. The
notes are histed on The Inzernationat Stock Exchange.

The terms of the floating “ate debt facilicy require a repayment of 0.25% of dhe outstanding principal amount of che 1UJSD borrowings every three months.

Other loans of £1 million {202; £3 million; have becn taken out i respect of specific capral projects.
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5.2 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND B8ORROWINGS (CONTIMUED)

Corenans
A financial covenant has existed from 30 September 2020 but is only required when the revolving credit facdity 1s drawn by 40% or more (nec of cash and cash
equivalents). The covenant requires the Group to maintain adjusted consoiidated senior secured leverage below 10x.

Effective June 2021, the Group agreed with its revolving facility lenders to waive the leverage covenant until Q3 2023. As part of this agreement the Group is
required to maincain a minimum liquidity of £75 million (to include amounts undrawn fram the revolving credic facilicy, and cash and cash equivalents). over che
periad of the waiver.

The Group complied with the financiat covenants in the year. The Group is also required to comply with certzin non-financial covenants in these bank facilivies and
notes. and these requirements were satisfied throughout the year.

5.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risi is the risk that the Group would not have sufficienz funds to meex its financial obligations as they fall due, The Group’s Treasury department produces
short term and fang term cash forecasts o identify liquidity requirements and headroom, which are reviewed by the Group’s Chief Financial Officer. Surplus cash is
actively managed across Group banlc accounts o cover local shortfalls or invested in bank deposits or other short term liquid investments such as money market
funds. In some countries bank cash pooling arrangements are in place to optimise the use of cash. As at 31 December 2022 the Group had £266 miltion of cash and
cash equivalencs (202 ): £185 miflion) and access to 2 £400 million revolving credic facility, of which £30 million was utifised in 2022 (2021: £28 million) by way of
establishing certain anciflary facilities. including letters of credit, i order te meet its obligations and commitments thac will fall due.

The following table sets out the contractual maturities of financial Habilities, including incerest payments. This analysis assumes chat interest races prevailing at the
reporting date remain conscant.

010 <! I o <2 2to<5 5to =l 10 to <20 20 years Contractuat
year years years years years and over cash flows
£m £in £m £m fim £m £m

2022
Fleating rate bank facilities due 2026 {169 (129, {2789 B - - (3.087)
€500 million fixed raie notes due 2025 (N 132 {458) - - - {521)
%400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 1% (19} (360) - - - 1398
€370 milion fixed rate notes due 2027 {155 1i5) (3721 - - - 1402)
$41G million fixed rate notes due 2027 123y 123} {408} - - - {454,
Ocher loans (ly - . - . . {n
Lease liabilicies [RRI thidy (314 (470, (841) (2687} 14 525%
Ererviatives 5 5 17 - . . 28
Trade payables (73 R . . . . (73
‘ T (435, (324) (4,681 (470, (845 (2682 (9433
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5.3 FINAMCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

0to <! b to <2 3o <5 5to <10 10 to <20 20 years Contractual
yaar years yaars years years and over cash flows
£m £m fm £t £m £m £m

2021
Moating rate bank facilities dua 2026 {82) (82) (2.541) - - - {2.705)
£500 million fixed rate notes due 2025 {27} (27) {413) - - - (467)
$400 million fixed rzre notes due 2026 {17) (7 (343 - - . (377
€370 million fixed rate notes due 2027 (i) (14) (43) (327) - - {398)
3410 million fixed rate notes due 2027 {2 (21} (62} (326) - “ {430)
Other loans @) (N - - - - {3)
Lease liabilities (107) (129) (289) (453) (799) (1573) (3,350)
Trade payables {60) - - - - - 160)
' (310) @8 (3691 (1.106) (799) (1573) (7.790)

Lol tede lhn
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on both interest-bearing asseis and liabitities. The Graup has a policy of acdvely managing its interest raze risk exposure
using 2 combinacion of fixed rate debt, interest rate swaps, and interest rate caps.

Az 31 December 2022 the Group had £1.441 millien of fixed raic debt comprising:
* €500 miflion of 7.0% nates to mature tnh 2025;

* 3400 million of 5.75% notes to mature in 2026:

* &€370 million 4.5% notes to mature in 2027; and

* %430 million 6.625% notes to mature in 2027,

If required. wo achieve the desired batance of fixad and floating interest rates across currencies, the Group may use floating to fixed interest rate swaps and caps
{which are part of cash flow hedging relationships) and fixed co floadng incerest rate swaps and caps (which are parc of fur value hedging relationships).

In 2022. the Group enterad inte hedging arrangements an USD 600 milion of floating rate USD debt to swap the floating Interest rate ta a fixed rate and on
EUR 700 million of floating rate EUR debt to cap the fleating interest rate to a capped rate on the drawn floating rate facilities.

In aggregate, at the end of the reporting period. 67% (202 [: 37%) of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings is at a fixed/capped rate for a weighied
average period of 4 years (2021: 5 years). At 3{ December 2022 the fair value of interest rate dervative assets was £39 million (2021 £ril). These incerest race
derivatives are dasignated as cash flow hedges.

interest rate swaps and caps are recognised at fair value which is determined by reference to market rates. The fair value is the estimazed amount chac che Group
would receve ar pay te exit the instrument, talong into account current interest rates, credic risks and bidfask spreads. Following initial recognition, changes in fair
value are recognised immediately in profit or loss. except where the Group adepts hedge accounting.

Vhen hedge accounting. the Group formally documents the refationship between the hedging instrumencs and hedged items. It makes an assessment, at incepsion
and on an ongoing basis. as to whether the hedging instruments are expected Lo be highly cffective’ in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash {lows of the
respeciive hedged items during the life of the hedge

Changes in the fair value of incerest rate swaps that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and preseated in
the cash flow hedge reserye i equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in fair value is recogmsed immediately in profit or loss. Cumulative gains and losses would
remain N equity until either the hedged transaction is no longar expected to occur, or until the hedged transaction occurs, 2t which point they will be reclassified to

profit or loss.

Fair value changes in incerese rate caps attriburable to changes in the intrinsic value are aceumulaced in the cash flow hedge reserve, and reclessified from the cash
flow hedge reserve to the income statement as a reclassification adjustment in the same peried or periods during which the hedged future cash flows affect prafit or
Joss. Changes in the time walue of interest rate caps are accumutated in the cost of hedging reserve and recydled to che income statement on a systematic basis over
the fife of the instrument.
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5.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cONTINUED)

Semmitrt, aaly sis

Based on the net debt position as at 31 December 2022 a 100 basis poinis rise in market interest rates would resultin an increase in net interest paid of £10 million
{2621 £14 millionj and a 100 basis peincs fall in market interest rates would result in a decrease in net interest paid of £14 miltion (2021 increase of £1 million). This
has been calculated by applying the interest rate change to the Group's variable rate cash, barroewings and derivaiives.

LAt o
As the Group operates internationally, the performance of the business is sensitive to movements In foreign exchange rates. The Group's potential currency
exposures comprise transaction and transiation exposures. The Group ensures that its net exposure to foreign currency balances is kept to 2 minimal level by usirg
foreign currency swaps to exchange balances back into Sterling or by buying and selling foreign currencies at spat rates when necessary. The fair value of foreign
exchange contracts is the present value of fyrure cash flows and is determined by reference to market rates. At 31 December 2022 the fair value of foreign currency
swap assets was £5 millien {2021: £1 miflion) and of fareign currency swap liabilities was £7 million (2021: £3 millien), none of which are hedge accounted.

cal s
-

fransacton 2 'posares
The revenue and costs of the Group's operations are denominated primarily in the currencies of the relevant local territories. Any significant cross-border wading
exposures would be hedged by the use of forward forsign exchange contracts.

Traaclancn epaiures

The Group's results, as presented in Szerling, are subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate movements. The Group does not hedge this translation
exposure to its carnings but, where materiai, may carry out net asset hedging by borrowing in the same currencies as the currencies of its operating unirts or by using
forward foreign exchange concraces. The Group's debt facifities {excluding lease liabriities) are therefore denominated in Eures. US Dollars and Sterling and at

31 December 2022 the amounts drawn consisted of €2.330 million and $2,152 million. There are forward foreign exchange contracts in place in respect of

IPY 16,065 million (2021: JPY 14,900 miliion),

Gains or losses arise on the recranslation of the net assets of foreign operations at different reporting dates and are recognised within the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. They will predominantly relate to the retranslation of opening net assets at ¢losing foreign exchange rates. together with the retransiation of
retained foreign profits for the year (thas have been accountad for i the consofidated incame statement at average rates) ac closing rates. Exchange rates for inajor
currencies are set out below.

Gains or losses also arise on the retranslation of foreign currency denominated borrowings designared as effecuve net investment hedges of overseas net assets.
These are offset in equity by correspanding gains or losses arising on the rotransiation of the related hedged foreign currency net assets. The Group also treats
specific intercompany loan balances, which are not intended to be repaid in the foreseeable fucure, as part of its net investment. I the evenc of a foreign enuty being
sold or a hedging item being extinguished, such exchange differences would be recognised in the income statement as part of the gain ar loss on sale

The following exchange rates have been used in cthe translation of the results of foreign operatons:

Weighred Weighted
Closing average Closing average Closing
rate for ate for rate for rate for race for
2020 2021 2021 2022 2022
US Dollar 1.36 1.38 t34 |25 1210
Euro (A {47 i.18 |.{8 i.13
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5.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

I'he Sterling equivalents of financial assecs and lisbiliues denorinated in foreign currencies were:

Carrymg value

Sié;!iﬁg Eure us Dollm"
£m £m £m
2022
Cash and cash equivalents 157 e 29
Floating rate bank facilities due 2026 5 11.274; (1.094)
€500 milfion fixed rate notes due 2025 - (4403 -
$400 millon fixed rate notes due 2026 - {340)
€370 milfien fixed rate notes due 2027 - (321} -
$410 milion fixed rate notes due 2027 - - (332)
Qrther loans (i .
Lease liabificies (993} (188, (92)
. S T T (B34, 12,308) 11.829)
7_-615 . Ll e T .
Cash and cash equivalents 133 i2 it
Floating rate bank faciiies duz 2026 7 (1,209} (994}
€500 million fixed rate notes due 2025 - {(418) -
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 - - (310
€37¢ million fixed rate notes due 2027 - {304} -
$410 miflion fixed race notes due 2027 - - {297)
Crher loans - (3} -
Lease liabilicies £953) {172) {93)
813 (2.094) (1,684)

Sensidvity malyss an joreige o raney rch

Other

£m

64

1239
(175

>
0

(240)
(214

Total
£im

266

{2363
1440}
1340)
=P
1332)
(D)
(1612}

(5.143)

185
(2.198)
(418)
@Gl
(304)
(297)
3)
(1.458)
(4.802)

A 10% strengthening of all currencies against Sterling would increase net debt by £383 million (2021: £35% million]. As described above, gains or losses i the income

statement and equity are offset by the recranslation of the related foreign currency net assets of specific intercompany loan balances.

A 10% strengthening of all currencies against Sterling would reduce the fair value of foreign exchange contraces and result in a charge to the income statement of

£5 million {2021: £13 miftion).

NI

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit sk is
o

limited ta the carrying value of the Group's monetary assets. The Group has limited credit risk with sts customers, the vast majerity of whom pay in advance or at
the time of their visit There are credit policies in place with regard to s trade receivables with credic evaluations performed on customers requiring credit aver a

cerain arrount,

The Group manages credit expasures in connection with financing and treasury activities including exposures ansing from bank deposits, cash held at banks and
derivative transactions, by appraisal, formal appraval and engaing monitoring of the credic position of counterparties. Counterparty exposures are measured against a
formal transaction limit appropriate to that counterparty's credit position. The Group rebustly appraises investments before they are made to ensure the associated

credit risl 1s accoptabie. Performance of investments are closely monitored, in some cases through Board participation, to ensure returns are in linc with

expectations and credit risk remains acceptable. There were no overdue amounts in respect of investments and no impairments have been recorded (202 1: nil).
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5.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

A
Fai valuy ieraschy
The Group analyses financial mstruments in the foliowing ways:

+  Level I: uses unadjusted quated prices in active markets.

* Level 2: uses inputs that are derived directly or indirectly from observable prices (other than quoted prices).

© lLevel 3 uses inpuss that are not based on abservable market data.

Fur valug versus carying amoants

St S REPOTT MDY NG ICL s 2

The fair values of financial assers and liabilities are presented in the table below. together with the carrying amounts shown in the stacement of financial position.
Short term receivables, payables and cash and cash equivalencs have been excluded from the following disclosures on the basis ehat their canrying amountisa

reasonable approximatien to fair value.

fair value
hierarchy
Held at amonised cost
Fleating rate bank facilities due 2025 Level 2
€300 million fixed rate notes due 2025 Level |
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 Leve! |
€370 million fixed mte notes due 2027 Level |
$4 10 million fixed rate notes due 2027 Level |
Other loans level 3
Heid at fair value
Derivative financial instruments Level 2
Minoricy equity investments Level 3

2022
Carrying

amount

£m

£2.363)
(4401
1340)
(321
(3321

{3749}

Fair value

£m

(2.277)
{443
(310)
(272
(293)

(h

37
|
13.548)

2021

Ca':wmg—'——
amount Fair value
£m im
{2.1986) (2,200}
{418} (443}
(3it) (313}
{304} (300)
(297) (310)
@) (3)
(2} 25
14 14
(3.517) {3.557)

The fair values shown above for the bank faclities and fixed rate notes have been calcidated using marker values. There is no difference between the carrying value
and the {air value of minority equity investments. These are accounced for as ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ and are valued by reference to

EBITDA multiples or discounted cash fiows, as appropriate to each investment.

There have been no transiers between levels in 2022 or 2021
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Loy
Where a ¢
order for lcase accounting to apply, an assessment is made at the mception of rhe contract that considers whether:

*  the Group has the use of an identified asset, which entitles it to the right ro obtain substandialy all of the economic benefits that arise from the use of the

T

ontract provides the right to control the use of an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, the contract is accounted for as a Jease. In

assec: and
*  the righc to direct the use of the asset, either through the right to operate the asser or sy predetermining how che asset Is used.

sleasurenont ad lxnce imcepaon

At the fease commencement date the Group, as the lessee, will recognise:

*  alease liability represencing its obligation to make lease payments, and:

*  &nasset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset (RO asset).

The lease hability is initially measured as the present value of future lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit i the lease. or if not available an
incremental borrowing rate. Furure lease payments will include fixed payments, varable lease payments thar depend on an index or rate {initially measured at the
rate at the commencement date, and subsequently modified as subsequent index or rates changes accur) and amounts expected to be payable by the lessec under
residual value guarantees. In relation to variable lease paymencs that depend on an index or rate, the toral lease liabifity recognised in che statement of financial
position includes the impact of any index or rate changes that have already occurred, but does not include the impacr of any future index or rate changes that have

not yet taken place.

The ROU asset is initally measured at cost, which comprises the amount initially recognised as the lease liabilicy, Jease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred, and the estimated costs te be incurred at the end of the lease to restore the site

to the required condition stipulated in the lease.

In a business combination the RO assets and lease liabilities for those ieases accounted for under IFRS 16 'Leases’ are aligned, except where it is assessed that the
cost of the acquired histaric Jease commiuments taken on are greater or lower than a market participant would expect te pay were equivalent leases being entered
into at the dme of the transaction. Where a current marke: rental Is estimared to be higher than thac currently paid by the acquired Group, there s an upward

adjusament to the right~-of-use asset. or vice-versa if the opposite applies.

On inception of a lease for a new site, where required, the estimated cost of decommissioning any additions s included within ROU assets and deprecrated over
the lease term. A corresponding provision is set up as disclosed in note 4.5,

Depreciation {and any subsequent impairment) on the ROLU asset, interest on the lezse Jiabilicy and any variable lease paymencs are all recognised in the

income statement.

Ongoing m=ast.ement
After the commencement date the Group measures the ROU asset using & cost model, reducing the cost through depreciation and any impairment losses.
Adjustments will be made to the ROU asses o reflect the changes in the fease Jiabilivy as a result of changes to lease payments or modifications to the leasa.

The lease lability is adjusted for interest on the liability. contraceual lease repayments 2nd any reassessment of the lease as a result of a contract imodification. such as

changes te the contractyal rant amounts, or changes to the term of the lease.

Upon lease maodification, the discount rates usad in the present value calcufations are adjusted to reflect the appropriate rates at the date of medification for the
remaining term of the lease, with resulting adjustments to the liability and ROU asset balances. Discount rates are then not revisited during the remaining life of

the lzase.

When a feasa is terminated earlior than the contractual end date within the lease agreement, the remaining balances on the lease liabitiy after any final payments due,
the ROU assct gross cost and the ROU asset accumulated depreciation are removed. Any difference between the liability balance removed and the net ROU asset

balance remaved are reflected in die income statement.
Shorg tepm s g e -valts anges

The Group has taken the recognition exempuons for short term leases and leases of low-value items. Leases which fall within che Group's defined parameters for
these exempiions are excluded from the IFRS |6 lease accounting requirements and are accounted for on a straighi-line basiz aver the lease term.
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5.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Roepr cadaeticns aon aofa, ials

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic. in 2020 the International Accounting Standards Board {IASB) issued amendments to IFRS 16 ‘Leases” (o allow lessees not o
account for rent concessions as |ease modifications if they are a direct consequence of COVID-19 and meet certain conditions. On 31 March 2021 che IASB
extended thei~ amendinents to IFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021. Therefore, as a lessee we have applied the practical expedient for the whole of the financial year and
are not required to assess whether efigible rent concessions are lease modifications. Accordingly, where the Group has agreed concessions in the form of a one-off
reduction in rent, they have been accounted for as a variable lease payment and have been recogmised in profic er loss. The ol recognised in the income statement

was £ million {2021: £] mtlion).

DT AT T

Lt -
The Group's meost significant lease arrangements are set out beiow.

There is a portfolio of leases that relate to the United Kingdom actractions within the Resort Thema Parles Operating Group, and Heide Paric Resort in Germany.
Each of these lease agreements was initially for a period of 35 years from inception until 2042, and allowed for annual rentincreases based on the infladonary index
in the United Kingdom and fixed increases in Germany. The Group had the opuan, but was not contractually required. to exiend each agreemenc individually for two
further terms of 35 years, to 2077 and then to 2102, subject to an adjustment to market rates at that time. At the end of 2021 the agreements were modified and
new agreements were entered into to secure tenure for an additional 35 years from 2042 to 2077. The second extension option from 2077 to 2102 still remains

avaltable for the Group to exercise in the future for each site.

For the United Kingdom sites the madification was completed before the end of the 2021 reperting period and the relevant balances were adjusted accordingly in
the 202! financial statements. The transacrion was treared as a lease modification. It did not meet the criteria to be treated as a separate lease. The Group did not
exercisc the lease option unifaterally: insteaq the Group and the lessor entered into a binding agreement to extend the leases in 2042, and agreed certain Jease
changes. As part of these changes the United Kingdom sites are now subject to annual rent increases from 2022 linked to CPi #0.5% (with a floar of {%. and a
maximum increase of 4%). Under the previous agreement the sites were subject to RPI based annual upwards only increases without any maximum. The mimmum
1% per annum was reflected in the modification caleulation. As part of the transaction the Group received a cash payment of £25 million from the landlord in 2021,
A further £3 million was received in 2023, after the reporting date. The modification and securing of tenure of the UK sites resulted in an increase to the lease

liabikicy of £14% milbon in 2021

For the Heide Park Resort, the terms of the modification were agreed and compieted at the start of the 2022 reporting period. Under the extension agreement the
parl and hotel {eases at this site will continue to be subject to fixed annual rent increases, and these have been reflected in the modificadion calculadion. The
extension resulted in 2 modification to the associated leases. with an increase to the lease liability of £98 million recognised in 2022. As part of the transaction the
Group received a payment of £6 million from the {andlord during 2022

At the me of the acquisitior. of the Merlin Group by the investor consortium in November 2019, it was determined that the implicit rate of interest for the leases
noted above was not readily determinable. and accordingly an incremental borrowing rate (IBR) was used that reflected the Group's financing arrangements at that
time. For the modifications above the IBR was calculated by reference to the mid yreld on a composite index of debt at an appropriate duraden and the same {or
similar) long term credit rating as the Company, adjusted where relevant for the sovereign yield for a similar duration to the index being used in the

country/geagraphy of that index.

LEGCGLAND Japan was opened during 201 7. The park was developed under an ‘operated and leased’ madel whereby a local operating company leases the site and
park infrastructure from a development partrer. The development partners arc refated parties, being KIRKEBI Invest A/S and LU Investco KK a subsidiary of KIRKEI
Invest A4S, KIRKBI invest A/S hokds KIRKBI's investment as a shareholder of the Group. The lease is for a peried of 50 years to 2067. The Group does not have any
right te request the renewal of the lease agreement, hawever i1t may be extended subject to agreement of terms with the lessor. For further derails see note 6 3.

In addition to the above leases. the Group also enters into other leasing arrangements for sites within the Midway Atiractions Operating Group and centraf areas.
These are typically of a duration between 10 and 60 years, with rent increnses determined based on local market practice. In addition to a fixed rental element, rents
within the Midway Attractions Qperating Group can also contain a performance related element, typically based on turnaver at the site concerned. The key
contractusl werms In relation to each lease are considered when caleulating the rental charge aver the lease werm. The potenual impact on renc charges of future
performance or increases based on inflananary indices are each excluded from these calcufations. Options to renew leases will vary from site 1o site in line with local
market practice in the torritories concerned. Not all of these leases will necessarily have extansion opzions available to them.

On certain leasss the Group 1s required to malke variabie lease payments in addition to, or instead of. any fixed or minimum rent amounts, usually in the form of rent
based on a percentage of the turnover generated by the relevant attraction. These payments are charged directly to the income statement and do not result n any
adjustment ta the lease lizbilities or ROU assets as they are contingent on performance. As such there is no future obliganon until that performance accurs. As

noted below. the expense refaung to these variabie lease payments was £23 million in 2022 (2021: £12 million}.

There ara no significant aperating restrictions placed on the Group as a resuli of 1ts lease arrangements.
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5.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Aot e
Cost

At 27 December 2020
Additions

Movements in asset retirement provisions
Disposals

Effect of movemencs in foreign exchange

Balance at 25 Decenu:-l;mer 1021
Acqisitions through business combinations {note 3.1)
Additions

Maovements in asset ratirement provisions (note 4.5)
Disposals

Transfer from other intangible assets (note 4.2)
Effect of movements in fareign exchange
Balance at 31 December 2022

Depreciation

Ar 27 December 2020

Depreciation for the year

Impairment

Disposals

Effect of movements in foreign exchange
‘Balance at 25 December 202 |

Depreciation for the year

Impairment

Disposals

Transfer from other intangible assets (note 4.2)
Eifect of movemencs in foraign exchange

Batance at 31 December 20722

_Carryu'ng amsunts
At 26 December 2020

7P;tﬁ5.w§ 6ecembm“ 2021
“At?3 1 Decen';gerEOZ? o

T W RN IR B T U S IV SNV S NR] 4 2t
atd aome AT ey e LT
Land and Plant and

builldings aquIpIment Total

£in £in £m

1405 li4 1319

i85 16 201

12 (i !

) 0 (@)

@h 9 (25)
T h 1574 T4 1688
I6 . 16

146 2 148

2 . 2

(4 . ()

4 . 4

3 | 32

1769 P 1.886

59 5 i0s

72 5 77

" . ()

(3} (1} 4)

(4 - n

‘ 166 i0 176

67 1 70

3 . 3

(2, - (21

| . {

5 - 5

e o e 240 12 253
1306 108 LAL4

- e v T " TP
I T (529 194 1 633

Durmng the year the Group reviews useful economic fives and tesis ROU assets for impaiiment in agcordance with the Group's accounting policy, as ruferrad to in
note 4.3, Impairment charges have been made in the period of £3 million, in respect of twa of the Group's Midway attractions. arising from 2 review of market and
economic conditions as those locations where the carrying value axceeded the recoverable ameunt. An impairment credit was recorded in 2021 of £1 million in

respact of one Midway location thac was subject to irpairmaent in 2020,
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5.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUES)

b

2022 2021
£m £m
Current 47 34
Non-current FS70 424
T o ) 1612 1,458
The maturity analysis of lease fiabilities is disclosed within note 5.3. The cash autflew for leases is disclosed within note 5.1.
Arnausts recognised I the inoo vl e craeny
2022 202!
£m £m
Expense relating to variable lease payments 23 2
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 70 77
Interest expense on lease labiiities 76 52
— _ - o 169 141

5.5 EQUITY AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Tanime Jteenpevnant
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity. The Group's abjective when managing capital is to: maintain a strong capital base so as to ensure
shareholder and creditor confidence and to sustain fuzure development of the business: to provide returns for shareholders: and to optimise the capital seructure to

reduce the cost of capital. There are no externally imposed capital requiremencs on the Group.

To enable the Group to meet its objecrive, the Mertin Board monitor returns an capital through constant review of earmings generated from the Group's capital
investment programme and through regular budgeting and planning processes. manage capital in 2 manner so as to ensure that sufficient funds for capital investmeny
and working capital are available, and ensure that the requirements of the Group’s debt covenants are met.

SETT T T T e Tat

Shara caneal

2022 2022 2021 2021
Number £m Mumber Lim

Ordinary shares of £0 01 each 28.759.359 - 28,759.359 -
Preference shares of £0.01 each 1847137139 19 2847,137,039 29
‘Onissue and fully paid ac end of year 2875896498 29 2875896498 29
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55 EQUITY AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED]

fssie of shoves
The nominal value of shares in issue is shown in share capital, with any additional consideration far those snares shown in sharg premivm,

Crenary hares
The holders of ordinary shares are entided to receive dividends as declared from time to time.

Each ordinary share entitles the holder of that ordinary share to recaive notice of and co attend and to speak and co vote at general meetings of the Company (on
the basis of one vote per ordinary share), or on any resclution proposed to members as a written resolution. Each ordinary share in the capital of the Company
ranks equally in all respects and no shareholder halds shares carrying special rights relating to the control of the Company.

o ronee shares
rofercnce shares

The preference shares earn a fixed, cumulative, preferential dividend ac the rate of 6% per annum on the issue price of the preference shares, which accrues {butis
not payable) on ezch preference share on a daily basis fram the date of issue of the relevant preference share. and ends on the day preceding the redemprion date,

compounding annually on each anniversary of the compounding date.

The preference shares rank ahead of the ordinary shares for all purposes and ne dividend, distribution, return of capital and/or reduction of capital is paid on the
ordinary shares until the preference shares have been redeemed in full,

Each preference share encitles the holder of that preference share to receive natice of and to attend and to speak and to vote at general meetings of the Company
{on the basis of one vote per preference share), or on any resolution propaosed to members as a written resolution

Capial red
During 2019, che Group issued £156 million 0% subordinated unsecured shareholder loan notes due 31 Ocwober 262{. In accordance with the accounuing policy as
set out in note 1.1, these were classed as financial fiabilicies. Reflecting the off-market interest rate attached to these loan notes. these were initially recognised at
far value of £150 million with the difference of £6 million treated as a capital contribution. The capital reserve was eliminated through recained earmings in 2021,

Dividends
Dividands are recognised through equity on the earlier of cheir approval by the Company's shareholders or their payment. The Directors of the Company have
declared their intention not to pay a dividend for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2022 (2021, £ndl).

TI'.' n.lacon resarve
The translation reserve of £{30) million {2021: £(17) million) comprises all fereign exchange diffc-ences ansing frem the translation of the financial staterments of
foreign operations. The reporting date foreign exchange rates by major currency are provided in note 5.3.

Case of hedging resen,
The cost of hedging reserve of £(10} million (2021 £nil} comprises accumulated changes in the time value of interest rate caps.

Cash novy hadge reszres

The cash flow hedge reserve of £38 million (202{: £nil} comprises accumulated changes in the intrinsic value of Interest rate caps and the fair value of interes. rate
swaps. They are reclassified (rom the cash flow hedge reserve to the income statement as a reclassification adjustment in the same peried or periods during which
the hedged future cash flows affece profit or loss.

Taseive (o0 oven shares

The Group has made share grants undar three employee share incencive plans relating ta the Company's subsidiary Motion TopCe Limited {see note 5.6].
Preference B shares, ordinary B shares and ordinary C shares of the subsidiary were 1ssued to senior management and other employees in exchange for
consideration. The total employee investment s £4.545.262 (2021 £4.3562.865} with the nominal value of the shaves subscribed for as at the reporting date being
£117.793 {2021: £108,019). Upon the vesting date of the incentive plans, employees will hold 2 nen-controling nteresc in Motion TopCo Limited of C.16% {2021:
0.16%). Until vestng, Motion TopCo Limited recognises these as treasury shares that result in a redustion to equity; this reduction is eliminated on consolidation,

3.929,200 2021 3.650.900} of the sharas issued to employees as parc of the share incentive plans are held in an employee benefit trust, with 2 nominal value of
£39,292 (2021: £36,509)
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5.6 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

At el e s

The fair value of share plans is recognised as an expense over the expeciad vesting pericd with a corresponding entry to either share-based payrent liabitities ior
cash-settled plans and cash-setded elements relating to compound instruments, or retzined earnings for squity-settled plans and aquity-settled elements refatirg o
compound instruments. All entries are net of deferred tax. The fair value of share plans is determined at the date of grant. The fair value of awards granced is
measured based on observable market dawa. taking into account the terms and conditions ugon which awarrds were granted. For all cash-sectled awards and cash-
settled elements refating to compound inscruments, the fair value is re-measured at ench accounting dare up o the veszing dare by applying an option pricing model.
Non-markez based performance conditions {including most likely exit events} are taken into account for all plans in estimaung the aumber of awards likely tc vest,
which is reviewed at each accounting date up to the vesting date, at which pont the estimate is adjusted to reflect the actual awards issued. No adjustment 15 made
after the vesting date even if cthe awards are forfeited or are nat exercised.

AR e A M A

The Group operates three employee share incentive plans:
. Senior Management Long Term Bonus plan (LTB)

. Senior Management Equity Investrment {El)

. Management Share Scheme (MSS5}

The Group has issued share zwards to employees, wath all plans being in respect of the Company’s subsidiary entity Motion Topce Limited. Some of these share
awards issued are held in an employec benefit trust (see note 5.5),

Analysis of share-pace 3 ouyiach. ciargs
Tha total charge for the year for all plans is £21 million (2021 fess than £1 miliior), and at the reporting date. habilities in respect of share-based payment transactions

in the year were £20 million (2021 less than £/ miflion}. The Group has not directly measured the fair value of services received from individuals within the plans in
the year, as it cannor be reliably escimated.

2022 2021
Plan £im £rn
LTB 5 -
El B -
MSS 16 -
T T - 21 -
salysis of av-ards
LTB Et ™55
Performance condidon™ Y Y Y
Par d - t, part
Machod of sectlement accounung Cash-setrled Compound instrument e compaun strument, par
. equity-settled, pare cash-settled
Number of allocated awards - 4,970,113 7.696,42504
Date of grant 1) November 202! November 2021 -july 2022 November 202 -july 2022
Weighted average award fife (years}’ 3.0 30 4.7
A reconciliation of award movements during the year is shown below. The exerase price for all plans is £l and hence no weighted average exercise prices are
presented.
El M5
Mamber Mismber
Ac 26 Decemnber 2021 4,770,951 5,547,400
Granted during the year 199,162 1,880,625
Forfeiced during the year - {741,000}

At 3 December 2022 4,970,113 7,696 425544
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Weighted average award life [ performance condiions — the Group has exerased irs pudgement to conclude there is sufffcent parity hetween all MSS awards granted te both senior
manggement @nd other emplayees to account for cil AISS awards i the same maaner, ond decordingly hove conctuded that far all ewerds there is a non-market based perfosmornce condinion
that the awards will vest on the carker of a defined nterim tigger event ar exit Using the Group's opproved fveyeor business plan and considenng ongoing fizture strategies af both the Group
and the Group's shidreholders, the most likely vesting pencd for cach scheme has been estimated, with the maximun length of award cxbected to be nine years, The blend of compaund, cosh-
settled or equity-settied instriments within each scheme therefore mpacts the caliulated werghted average award ife

2 Comprising 4,823 468 preference B shares and 146,645 ordmary B shares (2021, 4,630,182 preference 8 shares and 140,769 ordmary 8 shares;

i Orduiary Cshiares.

. Inclusive of 1,619,225 awards entitling the employee (o a cash bonus equrvalent i value to a notional number of shares and 6,077,200 allscated shares (2021: 516,500 awards and

6,020,900 alfecated shares;.

Somor titnngems s long Tam Borus plan (LT3

The LT3 plan was granted on {1 November 202t o eligible employees. The designated individuzls of the plan are entrtled to a gross cash bonus corresponding te a
percentage of the equity value of Motion Topeo Limited upon vesting, which is expected to occur upon an interim crigger event. Executive retirements occurring in
the period ended 3| December 2022 have resulted in the reduction of this maximum percentage since the prior year to 035%. The cash paymient is based on the
value of equity instruments of Motion Topco Limited (there are no equity sectlement alternatives} and continuity of service, and hence falls in scope to be
cash-settled.

The fair valye of this award is estimated at £14 million fellowing consideranon of future uncertainties and the patential volatility of business values, and it could
change in future years should the value of the Group rise over time. As the award is cash-sectied, valvations calculating the expected fair value of awards are
reperformed on an annual basis.

Somor clanageran Eauity invesanens (T

The Senior Management Equity Investmenc (Ei) plan was granted from Madon Topco Limited on || November 2021 and 22 july 2022 foliowing ehgible employee
tvestment, resulting in 4,823,468 preferonce B shares and 146,645 ordinary B shares being issued. The eligible employee investment for the El plan varies in
comparison to the Management Share Schemes (MSS) as the awards are a different share categery (B shares varsus ordinary C shares awarded in M55 schemes). The
preference shares carry a right to a discretionary fixed, cumulative preferencial dividend, which accrues {but is not payable) on each preference share on a daly basis
from | April 2021, Payment of these dividends is at the discretion of the Board of Martion Topco Limited Accordingly, these awards have been ciassified as equity
and hence fall under the scope of IFRS 2 'Share-based Payment’.

There is a put option for cash on up to 100% of the shares zt fair market value. exercisable at the expected vesting date, which is the earlier of the interim wigger
event or exit. As the interim trigger event is expected 1o ocCur prior ta an exit event, this has been used 1o estmate the vesting period of the plan. The option is
subject to non-market based performance cenditions, being exit events which create abligations an the Group, and continuity of employment. Individuals with
continved emplayment undl exit will recin shares to the extenc the put option is not exercised; hence, the pocential appreciation of value of the El plan is treated as
a COmlelHd instrument.

riasngemoert Shave Schame (P13S)

Thz MSS's are zccounted for as part equity-settied, parc cash-sectled and part compound instruments. MSS plans were grantad for senior management and other
employees on several daves from [ Movember 2021 to 14 iNavember 2022, The plans can be subdivided inte two tranches. The firse tranche includes 5,577,200
ordinary C shares following eligible emplayee investment in Motdon Topco Limited, and {.619,225 awards which entitle the employee to a cash payment equivalent to
the fair value of 2 notional number of shares upen vesting. All such awards are classified as cash-sectled. 2,803,575 awards remain unissued and unallocated Prior to an
exit event all unaliocated awards musc be allocated: the Group has exercised its judgement and assumed that all awards will be allocazed vefore an interim crigger
eveit, Hence, the toial value of this tranche of MSS awards will always be equal to 10.000.000 shares regardiess of staff attrition over the vesting period. The vaiue of
10.000.000 share awards has therefore been considered when calculatng the fair value of the MSS plans.

The second tranche relates o 560,000 ordinary C shares issued on 22 July 2022 follawing conversion of ardinary A shares of Motion Topee Lirmited. This tranche
remains sepacate o the {0,000.000 share awaids desciibed above, but the terms of che awards are otherwise idencical. Whilsc in the case of the senior management
issues, the Board has retained same {lexibiliyy on the terms of setifernens, the Group has exercised its judgement ro conclude there is sufficient parity becween MSS
awards granted to both sertor management and other employees to account for alf MSS awards in the same manner.

For MSS share awards, from December 2021 onwards, $2% per annum of the total award becomes eligible for cash-settlemenc ar the axpected vesting date, with the
maximum cash-setdement crysiallising aw 0% in Cecember 2025 of the toml value of the M55 share awards. For the purposes of ealculating the accounting eniries.
the full 60% 15 assumed to became eligible for cash-sewlement ('the cash settlement option’). Should the vesting event occur at an earlier date than estimatea. the
rsmber of M55 share awards eligible for cash sextlement decreases.

The 60% of MSS share awards which have a cash settlement option are subject to a put option; this eption requires Motien [Vco Limited to purchase the shares at
fair market value {or cash upon exercise at an incerini crigger event. If the puc option is not exercised. ordinary C shares in Motion Topco Limited would be retained
by the employee and hance 60% of MSS share awards 1ssued are treated as compound instruments. The equity companent of the instrument is deemed te have an
expected value of £nil ac vesting (as the expected beneht relating to this portion of the award is identical to the expected tash benefic), and hence the entire share-
basad paymaent expense refating to 60% of MSS share awards issued refates to expecred cash-setdemenc.
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Fur the remajning 40% of M53 share awards issued, should the put eption requirng Moton [Veo Limited to purchase the other 60% at fair market value for cash be
exercised, the employee’s ordinary C shares would automatically convert to E! ordinary and preference B shares in quannties equivalent to fair market value ac the
point of exercise. i the put option is not exercised, ordinary C shares in Motion Topco Linited would be rewined by the employee and weuld ne longer be the
obligation of the Group to sectle. The awards are therefore treated as equity-settled and employees would receive the benefit of these shares at a final exit event
following an interim trigger event, assuming continuity of service. Amounts due to tax authorities 1n respect of shares issued are the obligation of the employee to
settle, Taxes due on cash beaus awards, equivalent to the value of a notional numoer of shares, will be scttled via payrol,

Should the employee leave service after an interim trigger event but prior to a final exit event. thay will receive a cash-setdement equivalent to the fair market value
of their converted Ef shares at the date of leaving (ar the lower of cost and fair market value if the individual 15 a competing leaver). Historic attrition data for alt
levels of management has been reviewed in approximating the proportions of cthe 40% MSS awards chat will be either equity or cash sertled.

Fair veive calculazion
The fair value per award granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows:

Plan
Lig

El

MSS

MSS

MS§s

M58

Settlement MNumber of
IcCOUnTIng awards
Cash-settled fila
Compound 4,970,113
Compound 3,346,320
Equity-setted 1,743,704
Cash-settled 487, 176'%
Cash-setited £.619.22500

(cthar)

Darte of grant
1171112021

Fi/i1/2621
20712022

P 2G2E
23/122021)
21/02/2022
22207/2022

Vish72a2d
23/1242021
21/02/2022
22/07/2022
i szoe
2371272021
11/02/2022
23:/12/20%
2§/02/2022
14/11/2022

Exercise
price (£)

Weighted
average
share price
at grant
date {£)

Q.072

0072

0.072

n:a

Weighted
average faw
value per award
At measyrement
date (£}

13,873.021

121

Expected
dividend
y|E|d

(%o}

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

Cominising 4.823,468 preference B shares and 146,645 ardinary B shares (202} 4.638,182 preference & shares end | 40,769 ordinary & sharest.
Ordingry C shaves, 2,803,575 MS5 awards remain unaifocatsd os at 31 Deceniber 2022,
These awards entitle the empleyee (o a cash bonus equivalent in valug to G netional nuraber of shares.

The key assumptions in calcuiadng the share-based payments were as follows:
The Monte-Carle option pricing madel was used to value all plans at the date of granc
The expected votatilicy is based on broadly comparable quated companies and takes inio accaunt the expected life of the refevanc award.
The risk-free rate is equal to the prevailing UK Gilts rate at grant date. which is commensurate with the expected term.
Expected dividend yieid assumes that preference shares will roll forward ary accrued dividend on the basis thac distributions are discretionary. Therafore,

dividend yield is assumed to be 0.0%.

Expected
volathey
(%)

54.9%

54.5%

54.59%

37.7%

46.3%

54.9%

Risk free
rate
(%)

3.2%

32%

3.2%

3.2%

312%

32%

The granc date has been determuned for each plan following consideration of when there was mutual understanding becween the Group and the empioyee on
the plan's key terms: this date has been deemed 1o be the date of share issuance,
The Group has exercised 1ts judgement to conclude there is sufficient parity between M3S awards granted to both senior management and other employses to

account for all awards in the same manner,

83



S L R TT L et AL s e

R L

SECTION 6
OTHER NOTES

DA mred 31 ecainings T oG 5 Lnaall

-8 INVESTMENTS

The Group helds invesuments in two forms.

Minority equity invastments are accounted for as ‘fair value through other camprehensive income’ (FYOCI). having taken the elecdon available under IFRS 9
‘Financial instruments”. This applies co the nvestrnents in IDR Resarts Sdn. Bhd., Gangwon Jungdo Development Corporatien Lud, Shanghai LEGOLAND Ce., Ltd

and Big Bus Tours Group Heldings Limited

Associates and joint venrures are those entities over whose actvities the Group has joint conwrol or significant influence. established by contractual agreement. The
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the total recognised income and expenses on an equity accounted basis, from the date that joinc

contral or influence commences until the date that it ceases

Gangwon jungdo

DR Development Shanghas LL Duba

Resorts Corporation LEGOLAND Co Hotel Total

£m £m Lim £m £m

Balance at 26 December 202! 4 3 7 10 24
Met change in fair value - included in OCH 2z - - - 2
Transfer to non-currenc other receivables - - {(5; - (%)
Share of reservers in joint ventures - - - i 3)
Impairment - - - {73 (7)
. T o . ’ o 6 E} . ‘ 2 - I

Ac3l Décemi}er 2625

Mo iy aep s fvasno ey
yi ¥

IDR fosorts
The Graup has a2 minority equity investment in IDR Resoits Sdn. Bhd. {(IDR}. {DR and its subsidiaries are deemed ta be related parties as together they own

LEGOLAND Malaysia (sea note 6.3).

Gangy -on Jungee Devilooment Corvoration
The Greup has 2 minority equity invesement in Gangwon Jungdo Development Corporacon Led, the local company that has provided funding and infrastructure

suppert to the development of LEGOLAND Korea (ses note 6.3)

Sacrshal LEGDLAND Co.
The Group bas a mmority equity investment iy Shanghai LEGOLAND Ca,, Ltd.. the company developing e LEGOLAND Shanghai Resort. This is being developed
under the Group's management concract model, where we manage the resort under a management contract. During 2022 £3 million of the investment made in

2021 was reallocated to non-current other receivables.

Lig Bus hours

The Group has an mnvestment in Big Bus Tours Group Holdings Limited (BIG BUS). held substandally all in the form of loan nozes. The value of the investment was
adjusted to £nd in 2020, when the BIG BUS city tour business was severely impacted by the COVID-19 pandamic, and a capital restructuring exercise took place
whereby the priosity of the Group's investment reduced compared to other mvestors. The investment is valued adopting a market-based approach (based on
EBITDA multiples). Following a review of the value at the reporting date, the value has been retaned at £nil (2021 £nif). Posiuve value adjustments could oceur in

the future.

The Group alsa holds a minority equity investment valued at £nil (2021 £nil}.

The Group holds a 40% equity interes. wn LL Dubai Hotel LLC. This is the company that developed the hatel at LEGOLAND Dubai, which opened in January 2022,
The negative share of reserves of £3 million reflects the Group's share of that companry’s retained losses for the period. Impairment charges have been made in the

rear of £7 midlion, reflecting an assessment of market and economic condiuans in that location.
Y 2
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.1 INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED;
summarised financial information :n respect of LL Dubai Hotel LLC is set out belaw and is based on 100% of their results
2022 2021
£m £m
MNaon-current assecs 64 &2
Current assets 3 g
Total assets ’ - 73 70
Non-current liabilities 45 41
Current liabiitias 10 6
Total liabilities - i ' 55 47
Revenue ’ 8 -
Expenses 17 f
9 (1}

Loss for the year

6.2 EMPLOYEE 8ENEFITS

(RO ILH sl

i

Ceiined conwibution persion scheras
in the case of defined contributan schames. the Group pays fixed contributions inte a separate fund on behall of the empioyee and has no further obligations to

them. The risks and rewards associated with this type of scheme are assumed by the members rather than the employer. Obligatiens for contributions to defined

contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Del nad bonafic sension schemaos

A defined benefit scheme is 2 post-employment benefit scheme other than a defined contribution scheme. The Group’s et obligation is calculated for each scheme

by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior perieds. Thae benefit is discounted to
devermine its present vakse and offset by the fair value of any scheme assets. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projectad unic credit
method. All actuariaf gains and losses are recognised in the peried they oceur directly in equity. through othei comprehensive income.

The Group operates 2 pumb
{2021, €11 miliion).

RN

er of defined contribution pension schemes and the total expense relating w0 those schemes in the current year was £13 million

- Friess

T . T

The prircipal scheme that the Group operites is a closed scheme for certain former UK employees of The Tussauds Group. which was acquired by the Merlin

Group in 2007. The scheme entitles recired employees to recese an annual payment based on a percentage of final salary for each year of service that the employee

provided. The pension schemes have not directly invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments or in properties or other assets used by the Group

The mast recent full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 December 2021 and updated to 30 September 2022 due to nraterial changes in

market conditions. As a result. it was agreed to pay annual deficit reduction contributions of £544,000, increasng at 3% per annum, payable monthly from | January

2022 to 30 November 2028,

The Group expects £ million in ongoing contributions ta be paid to its defined benafie schemes in 2023. The weighted average duration of the defined benefit
obligaton at 21 December 2022 was 10 years (2021 17 years).
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6.2 EMPLOYEE BEMNEFITS (cOnTiNUED)
Ihe assets and liabiliies of the schemes are:
2022 2021
£m £m
Equitigs |2 19
Corporate bonds 17 13
Cash | 4
Paoted investment funds (property) 2 2
Fair value of scheme assecs T T TTTm o omomno e 2 38
Present value of defined benefit obligations 30 (45)
'Netpension surplusi(liability) o - 2 S om
otz Th T e Le0 DONSECTE Sl;r’,.;!lij.’ﬂlabli‘;:/;
Present
Present value of Net
value of defined pension
scheme benefic surplus/
assets obhgauons (Inbity)
£m £m £m
At 27 December 2020 35 (46} (n
Concributions by employer f - i
Benefics paid (1 i -
Remeasurement gain 3 - 3
At25 December202l T L )
Cantributions by employer | - 1
Benefits paid on | -
Reimeasurement (foss)/gain (6} 14 3
At3l December 2022 ' o ' ' 2 (30) 2

The amount recognised in the income statement was £t (202 1: £nil). The amount recognised in the statement of other comprrehensive income was a profic of
£8 million {2021 £3 miitan}.

Sacarial assumiption:

Principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) at the year end were:

2022 2021
Discount rate 50% 18%
Race of price inflation 33% i5%

The scheme is closed o future accrual for active members and therefore there is no link to futuve salary increases.

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published stadsiics and mortality tables. For the Tussauds Group scheme the acwuarial table used is SIPxA. The
mortality assumption adopred predicis that a current 65 year old mafe would have a life expectancy wo age B7 and a fermale would have a life expectancy to age 89,
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4.3 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

N I

The Group has related party relatianships with its shareholders {and their connected parties), key management personnel, joint ventures. and other co-investors.
The defined benefic pension scheme for certain former U empioyees of The Tussauds Group s also a related party (see note 6.2}

Coenawhe tn el Lot o sl

Transactions including the purchase and sale of goods, the payment of fees and royalties. and crading balances cucstanding at 31 December 2022 and 25 December
2021 were as follaws:

Goods and services

Amount Amount

owed by  Pyichases and owed to
Sales related party royalties relaced pary
£m £im £m £m

2022
KIRKB! Invas: A/S 4 - 20 7
LEGC Group - 3 92 2
T T 4 3 2 9
KIRKBI Invest A/S i i 14 4
LEGO Group - 2 59 4

Loans and Derroy ege

Certain shareholders {(or other parues related to thase shareholders), are owners of elements of the Group's bank facitities as described in note 5.2. Balances
outstanding at 3! December 2022 are KIRKBI lnvest A/S £479 million (2021: £451 million} and funds advised by parties related to Blackstone £32 million {2021:
£26 millien). interest is paid and acerued on the same terms as described in note 3.2

Lease arren,amants

As ser out in note 3.4 the Group has entered into a lease with Li investco K< (a subsidiary of KIRIKB! Invest A/S) The rerm of this lease is 50 years, with 44 years
remaiing at che reporting date. The Group's annual obligations consist of fixed rental payments, trnover rent and service charges totalling £6 million (2621:

£6 million}. The total undiscounted commitment relating to fixed rental payments is £245 million over the remaining lease term (2021 £259 milfion].

The Group leases Jand, buildings and car parking areas from KIRKBI Invesz A/5 (a shareholder). The cerm af this lease is 25 years, with 17 years remaining at the
reporting date. The Group's annual obligations consist of fixed rental payments. turnover rent and service charges totalling £1 mitlion (2021 fess than £1 miflion). The
totat undiscounted commitment relacing to fixed rental payments is £6 million over the remaining lease term /2021, £6 miflicit).

The Group leases fand and buildings from Koldingvej 2 Billund A/S (which has 2 25% sharcholding in the LEGC Group). The term of this lease is 29 years, with
19 years remaining at the reporting date. The Group’s annual obligations consist of fixed rental payments, turnover rent and service charges toaalling fess than
£1 mullion {2621 fess than £1 miflion}. The total undiscounted commitment relating to fixed rental payments is £8 million over the remaining lease term (2024:
£8 millioni.

The Croup also previously entered into lease agreements with parties that are related parties of the Blackstone Investmant Funds, who are shareholders in the
Campany. These are as fellows:

* Mult Corporation BV, in relation to SEA LIFE and LEGOLAND Discovery Centre istanbul;
*  Shopcore in relation to LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Chicago; and
* NEC Group Ltd. in relation to The Bear Grylls Adventure and LEGOLAND Discovery Centre attractions in Birmingham.

The Group’s annual cbiigations for these agreements consist of fixed rental payments, turnover rent and service charges towalling £2 milfian (2021: £2 milfien). The
rotal undiscousiied commitment relating to fixed rental payments on these leases is £22 mulion over the remaining terms of each lease {2021: £27 million).
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6.3 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (conTINUED

S wnpar ek
Included in deferred ncome is an amount of less than £1 miltion (2021; £2 million) received {rom a KIRKBI Group company (LEGQO }uris A/S) v 2020 to support
certain development aciivities. A further £6 milliony was received in 2022 1o support development acivities, of which less chan £1 willion remains to be spentin

future periods.

During 2022 the Group contracted payroll services in North America from UIKG, a relaced party of the Blackstone Invesiment Funds that are shareholders in the
Group. The tocal paid to this company in che year was less than £1 million.

Lo nemionn voit Rev v igren.ant g o o
ey management of the Group, being the Directors of the Board. the membars of the Meriin Executive Commictee and their immediate relatives control nil%
(2021: ni%) of the Cempany. The remuneration of key management is disclosed i1 note 2.1

As at 25 December 2021 two members of key management were provided with loans from the Group cqualling £120,000 in aggregate, for use by the individuals in
investing in the Senior Management Equity Investment share-based payment plan (see note 5.6). The loans were repard during 2022. No interest was payable

on the foans. As at 31 December 2022, the Company held funds of £38,000 on behall of KIRKBI Invest A/S relating to the transfer and conversion of 505,876
ordinary A shares in Motion TopCo Limited. Please see note 5.6 for further details.

AT At e EA

LZ 3L A0 Malaysiz
As part of the agreemenc for the development and operation of LEGOLAND Halaysia. che Group subscribed for share capical in IDR Resorts Sdn, Bhd. (DR} which
rogethor with its subsidiaries owns the park {sce note 4.1). On this basis, IDR and s subsidianies are deemed to be refated parties.

Transactions encered into, including the purchase and sale of goods, payment of fees and trading balances outstanding at 31 December 2022 and 25 December 2021,
are as foliows:

2022 2021
£m £m
Sales to refaced party 3 2

Amounts owed by related party 2 2

LEGOLAND (orea

The Graoup has a minonty equity investmeant in and has enterad inte transactions with Gangwon jungdo Developmant Corporation Ltd, a Korean company which
acts under the dwection of the Gangwon Province and has provided funding and infrastructure support of KRW 88 billion {(£52 million at year end exchange 1ates)
to the development of LEGOLAND Korea. As required under the terms of the funding agreement, the Group has spent this support on costs associated with the
praject. The conditions of the funding require that following the completion of the park’s construction, the Group vperates che park for a period of time
post-opening.

All of these funds had been received by 25 December 2021 and at the reporting date are recorded within deferred income. Orce agreed with Gangwan Jungdo
Development Corporation Lid, this amount will be accounted for as a capital grant and offset against the tozal project costs. within property, plant and equipment.

6.4 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The following amendments to standards and interpretations have been implemented in the yzar with no significant impact to the Group:
*  Amendments to JAS 37 '‘Onerous contracts - cast of fulfilling 2 contracs’

* Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 20(8-2020

*  Amendments to IAS |5 ‘Propercy, plant and equipment — proceeds before intended use’

+  Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Reference to Conceprual Framewor!s

The IASB has also ssued the following amendments co standards that will be effective for the Group fer the 2023 reperting peiod. The Grroup does not expect any
significant impact on its consolidated financial statemencs from these amendments

*  Amendments to |AS 12 ‘incorne taxes — deferred tax related to assets and fiabilides arising from a single transaction’
< Amendments o IAS | "Presentation of finandial statements ~ disclosure of accounting pohoes’

© Amendments to lAS 8 "Accounting palicies. changes in accouniing esismates and errors — definition of accounting estimates’
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The largest group in which the results of the Company are consohdated is that headed by the Company, incorporated in the United Kingdem. No other group

financial statements mclude the results of the Company

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are avalable to the public by visiting the Merlia corporate website at

www.merlinentertainments. biz.
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6.6 SUBSIDIARY AND jOINT YENTURE UNDERTAKINGS

The Group has the following investments in subsidiarics and joint ventures,

Subsidiary undertaking

AAE Unit Trust
AQDEV Pry Limited
lllawarrs Tree Topps Pry Lzd
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Mealbourne Pry Lid
Living and Leisure Austraha Limited
Living and Leisure Australia Management Limited
Living and Leisure Australia Trust
Living and Leisure Finance Trust
LEA Aguariums Pry Limized
Melbourne Underwacer World Pry Lid
Melbourne Underwater World Trust
ME LoanCe (Australia) Pry Limiced
Meriin Entertainments {Austrakia) Pry Lid
MUW Holdings Pty Ltd
Nerthbank Development Trust
Nardhbank Place {Vic) Pry Ltd
Oceanis Australia Pty Lrd
Oceanis Australia Unic Trust
Oceanis Developments Pry Ltd
Oceanis Foundarion Pry Led
Oceanis ioldings Limitad
Oeeanis Karea Unit Trust
Gceeanis NB Pey Lid
Oceanis Morthbank Truse
Oceanis Unic Trust
Sydney Auractions Group Pry Led
Sydney Tower Observatory Pry Limiced
Sydney Wildlife World Pry Limited
The Orway Fly Pry Lid
The Otway Fly Unit Trust
he Sydney Aquarium Company Poy Limited
Underwater World Sunshine Coast Pry Ltd
US Fly Trust
Madame Tussauds Austria Grbh
MT Auscria Holdings GmbH
Merlin Entertainments Belgium MY,
Christchurch Invesument Cempany Limited
Merlin Entertamments (Canada) Ine
Madame Tussauds Exhibition {Beijing) Company Limiced
Madame Tussauds Exhibition {Shanghai} Company Limited
Madame Tussauds Exhibition {Wuhan) Company Limited

Merlin £ntertainments Hong Kong Limited

-y oo T

Country

of

ncorporation

Australia

Australia v
Auscrihia ¢
Austrafia ¢
Australia ©
Awustralia ©
Australia ¢
Australia
Auscralia |
Austraba
Australia ¢
Australia

Auscralia

Australia

Australia

Australia *
Auscralia ¥
Australia ¢
Austraka
Auscralia ¥
Auscralia
Australia ¢

Australia ©

Auscraliz

Australia ¢

Australia

Auscratia ¢

Australia
Austrafia

Austratia

Australiz !
Auscratiz
Australia b

Ausera |

Austria ¥’

Belgium

British Virgin islands
Canada

China

China

Chira

HE

7

el
it
7
H

#

China "?

FECEL VRN 0] S LA NN SRS | 5 s

Class of
share held

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ordinasy
Grdinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ordmary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
OCrdinary
Crdinary
Grdinary
Ordinary

Crdinaiy
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Grdinary
Ordinary

Ownership
2022

100 0%
100 0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
100.0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
100.0%

50 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100,00
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 07,
100 0%
100 0%
1001 0%
100 0%
107 0%
190 0%
100 0
150 M
100 (=
190 G
100 0
100 5%

[ES{s N0

Ownership
021

100.0%
106.0%
100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
50.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
106.0%
100.0%
100.0%
180.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
180.0%
100.0%
100.0%

20



GOTRIM R JO L kG

SECTION 6
OTHER NOT

6.6 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKIMNGS (CONTINUED}

Subsidiary undertaking

Merlin Entertainments {Shanghai} Company Limited
Merlin Exhibition {Chongging) Company Limited
Merlin Extubision {Shenyang} Company Limited
Merlin Indoor Children's Playground {Shanghai) Company Limiced
Merfin (Shanghai) Management Advisory Company Limited
Shanghai Chang Feng Geeanworld Co. Led

Shangha LEGOLAND Management Co., ltd
LEGOLAND ApS

Merlin Entertainments Group Desrnark Holdings ApS
SEA LIFE Helsinki Oy

SEA LIFE France SARL

Dungeon Deutschland GmbH

Heide.Park Soltau GmbH

LEGOEAND Deutschiand Freizeitparl Gmbh
LEGOLAND Deurschiand GmbH

LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Deutschland GmbH
LEGOLAND Holidays Deutschland GmbH

LLID Share Bareiligungs GrmbH

LLD Share GmbH & Co. KG

Madame Tussauds Deutschland GmbH

Merlin Entertainments Group Deutschland GrbH
SEA LIFE Deytsehland GmbH

SEA LIFE Konstanz Gmbi-

Tussauds Deutschland GmbH

Tussauds Heide Metropole GmbH

Merfin Entertamnments india Piivace Limited

Merlin Enterrainments treland ! Limited

Merlir: Entartainments treland 2 Limited ©

Motion Bondco Designated Activiy Company

SEA LIFE Centre Bray Limited

Gardaland S.r.l.

Gardzaland Molidays S.rl.

Merhn Attractions ltaly Sl

Merlin Envertainments Group fraly Sl

Merlin Water Parles S.r.

Ronchi del Garda S.p.A.

Ronchi $.p.A.

LEGOLAND Japan Limiced

Mertlin Entercainments (japan) Limited

Merlin Entertainments Group tuxembourg 3 54 vl
Merlin Lux Finco { Sarl

Merlin Lux Finco 2 Sarl ™

Moton Fince 5a rl

Country of
ncorporation
China ™"
China \'%
China ¥
China '™
China '?
China V'®
China 7

Danmark "'®

Denmark 9
Fintand %
France %%

Germany 2"

Germany #2

Germany ¥¥

Germany ‘2

Germany #!
Germany %

Germany *%

Germany '*¥
Germany 2"
Germany #"
Germany ‘!
Germany ‘"
Germany P2
Germany %
{ndia
ireland
ireland
frefand “*¥
irefand 2%
traly @7

fraly %

ialy

fraly 7

{taly @7
{taly =™

fraly 4

Japan =%
|apan &%
Luxembourg ¥
Luxembourg
Luxeimbourg

Lusembourg "

VI RS ET A

Class of
share held

Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordirary
Crdinary
QOrdinary
Drdinuy
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Qrdinary
rdinary
Ordmary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Oidinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ownership
2022

100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%

8350%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0.
100 0%
HOO 0%
100 0%
HOD 0%
100 0%
109.0%
100 0%
100 3%
100 0%
100 0%
103 0%
100 3%
160 0"

99 9%

339
130 0%
100 %
1430 4%

AG 4,

G0 4%
10 0%
10007
100 0%
[03.7%
1O =

0

L

S Y

Cwnership
2021

100.0%
150.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
850%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
106.0%
100.0%
10G.0%
106.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
j00.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
99.9%
99.9%
16¢3.0%
100.0%
100.0%
49 4%
90.4%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
1£0.0%
100.0%
100.0%
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6.4 SUBSIDIARY AND [OINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED}

Subsidiary undertaking

Motion Finco 2 Sarl

LEGOLAND Malaysia Hotel Sdn. Bhd

Marfin Entertainments Group (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd
Merlin Entertainments Studios (Malaysfa} 5dn Bhd
Amsterdam Dungeon BV,

LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Scheveningen BV,
Madame Tussauds Amsterdam B.V,

Merlin Entertainments Den Haag BV,

Merlin Entertainments Holdings MNederland 8.Y.
SEA LIFE Centre Scheveningen B.V.

Auckland Adquarium Limited

Merfin Enterzainments (New Zealand) Limited

Meriin Entertainments (SEA LIFE PORTO) Unipessoal Lda

Meriin Entertainmencs Singapore Pee. Lt
LEGQLAND Korea LLC

Merlin Entertainments Kerea Limited

Seoul Ocean Aguarium Co., Led.

SLCS SEA LIFE Centre Spain S.A

Merlin Entertainments (Thailand) Limited

Siam Ocean World Banglkok Co Lid

Istanbul Sualt Dunyasi Turizm Ticaret AS

Madame Tussauds Museum LLC

Merln Holdings Limiced

Alton Towers Limited

Alcon Towers Resort Operanions Limited

Charcoal CLG | Limited (company linnted by guarantee)
Charcoal CLG 2 Limited {cornpany firnited by guorantes)
Charcoal Holdco Limited

Chareoal Midco | Limited

Charcoal Newca | Limired

Charcoal MNewco la Limited

Chessington Hotel Limited

Chessingtor World of Adventures Limited
Chessington World of Adventures Operations Limited
Chessington Zoo Limited

WA PropCe Limited

LEGOLAND US Holdings Limnited

LEGOLAND Windsor Parlk Limited

London Aquarium (South Banlk]j Limiced

London Dungean Limited

London Eye Holdings Limited

London Eye Managemeni Services Limited

Madama Tussaud's Limited

Country of
INcorparaton

Luxembourg ¥
Malaysiz 2%
Malaysia
Malaysia
Netherlands *
Netherlands %
Netherlands
Netherlands
Metherlands
Netherlands
New Zealand ¥®
New Zeatand %
Portugal
Singapore !
South Korea
South Korea ¢
South Kaorea
Spain
Thaitand
Thailand
Turkey

UAE =8

UAE %

UK 50

Ui ue

UK 6%

UK 5o

UK 80

UK {500

UK ©%

UK

UK &9

UK &%

UK 5%

UK 58

UK

UK &5

UK B0

UK p&

UK &%

UK 9

UK 5

UK 59

A T AR SO U S N

Class of
share held

Crdinary
Qrdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ovrdwary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary

Ownership
2022

100 0%
100 0%
100 05
100 0%
100 0%
103G 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
60.0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100.0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
160 0%
130 0%
100 0%
100 0%
1B 0%
1 0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
190 0%
100 0%
100 0%
|00 3™
100 0%
15 0%
107 0%
1000
190 5.
100 9%
1 Q6 0%
100 0
100G 0%
100 0%
120 0%
140 %
IR PR

Ownershup
2021

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
00.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
60.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
106.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
1 48.0%
0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
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6.6 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

Subsidiary undertaking

Madame Tussauds Touring Exhibition Lunited
Merlin Atiractions Operations Limited

Merlin Magic Making Limited

Merlus Entertzinments {Asia Pacific) Limuced
Merlin Entertainments {Blackpool) Limited

Marfin Entertainments {Dungeons) Limited
Merlisn Entertainments (NBD) Limited

Merlin Entertainments (SEA LIFE) Limited

Merlin Entercainments Crown (LK) Limiced
Merlin Entertainmends Group Employee Benefit Trustees Limiced
Meriin Entertainments Group Holdings Limited
Merlin Enrertainments Group Limited

Merlin Entertainments Group Operations imited
Merlin Entertainments Holidays Limnitad (formerly Tussauds Attractions Limited)
Merlin Entertainmienes Limited

Merlin's Magic Wand Truszees Limiced

Merlin UK Finance |A Limited ™

Merlin LK Finance 2A Limited ©

Merlin UK Finco | Limited

Merlin UK Finco 2 Limited

Merlin US Holdings Lirmited

Mocion Topco Limited

Motion Midco Limiced

Motion Acquisition Limiced

SEA LIFE Centre (Blackpool) Limited

SEA LIFE Centres Limited

SEA LIFE Trustees Limited

The Landon Planetarium Company Limiieg

The Millennium Wheel Cempany Limited

The Seal Sancruary Limiced

The Tussauds Group Limited

Thorpe Park Operations Limited

Tussauds Group (UK)Y Pension Plan Trustee Limited
Tussauds Limited

Warwick Castle Limiced

Lake George Fly 1.L.C

LEGO Discovery Center Washington D.C. LLC
LEGOLAND California LLC

LEGOLAMND Discovery Center Arizona LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center Boston LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center Columbus ELC
LEGOLAND Discovery Centrre (Dallas) LLEC
LEGOLAND Discovery Centra (Meadowlands) LLC

DRCPICIAR. 67

Country of
mcarporatian

UK o
Ui 6
UK =t
UK 56
UK #0
UK 5
UK 5%
UK s
UK 59
g 5%
UK 50
UK B0
LK 50
UK 58
U B9
UK
UK

UK
e
UK &%
UK {561
UK {30}
Ui 58
UK 10
LJK 50
UK [E20)
UK 59
U o
UK [
g B0
(VL
UK
i
UK (86t
K
usa B
USA =
Jsa 68
LISA B
USA, 50
USA
USA 152
USA 151

B A N IR P (L R

Class of

share held

Qrdinary
Ordinary
Cidinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Onrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
CQrdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdmary
Ordmary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ownership

21022
100 0%
100G 0
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%

99 8%
100 0%
HOO 0%
100.0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
160 0%
100 Q%
100 0%
100 0%
{00 0%
100 0%
1000
100 0%
1040 0=
100 O™
100 0%
100 0
1650 "re

S 3y

Orwnershep

2021
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
180.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
1000%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

99.8%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
1G0.0%
166.0%
106¢.0%
100.0%
100.0%

93



JOTRNN IS L T N TR R o ARG & o E R R A

S e e ey, o s

LS T The AT

SECTION 6
OTHER NOTES coxmuss

S e st ¢ e
Creedt annan 3 Dedasyie.

6.4 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT YENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINLED)

LEGOLAND [iscovery Center Michigan LLC USA &4 - 100 0% 100.0%
LEGOLAND Discovery Center Philadelphia LLC UsA & - 100 0% 100.0%
LEGOLAND Discovery Center San Antonio LLC usA ¥ - 100 0% 100.0%
LEGOLAND Discovery Center San Jose LLC Lisa, 9 - 100 0% 100.0%
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre US LLC USA 18 . 100.02% 100.0%
LEGOLAND New York LLC UsA # - 100.0% 106.0%
Madame Tussauds Hollywood LLC USA & - 100 0% 100.0%
Madame Tussaud Las Vegas LLC UsA &7 - 100.0% 100.0%
Madame Tussauds MNashville LLC USA &Y . 100 0% 100.0%
Madarne Tussaud's MNew York LLC UsA B . 100 0% 100.0%
Madame Tussauds Orlando £ELC USA B - 100 0% 100.0%
Madame Tussauds San Francisco tLC USA - 100 0% 100.0%
Madame Tussauds Washingron LL.C usa G - 100 0%, 1860.0%
Maerlin Encertainments Chicago LLC UsA B - 100 0% 100.0%
Mertin Enterzatnments Crown (US) Inc USA B Ordinary 100 6% 100.0%
Merlin Entertzinmenis Group Florida LLC UsA B8 - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Enterainments Group US Holdings Tnc Usa &2 Ordinary 100 0% 100.0%
Merlin Enterzinments Group US LLC UsA = - HOG 0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Group Wheel LLC UsA ¢4 - 100.0% 100.0%
Merhn Entertainments Norch America LLC Usa 7 - 100 0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Shart Breaxs LLC UsA ©4 - 1343 0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Theme Parks LLC USA B - 150 0% -
Merlin Enterzainments US NewCo LLC UsA =7 - 100 0% 100 0%
Motion Finco LLC USA ¥ - 100 0% 100.0%
San Francisco Dungeon LLC USA &7 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Center San Antonio LLC USA 18 . 100 0% 160.0%
$EA LIFE Charlocte LLC Usa 52 - 100 0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Meadowlands I.LC UsA &2 - 100 0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Michigan LLC UsA & - 100 0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Minnesota LLC USA 9 - 100 0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Orlando LLC Usa &7 . 100 6% 100.0%
SEA LIFE US LLC UsA &2 - 100 C* 100.0%
The Tussauds Group LLC USA B - 100 0% 100.0%

Caantry of Clase f Dwnershp Clamgrshun
point venture underiakong v ar DG AnG share neld 2022 262

LL Dubai Hotel LLC Ordinary 40 0% 40.0%

K Conipames were disseheed 1 2022,
R Mouair fVeo Limited has control over this enérty wa controf of the unmediate parent entdy and the contrel Uit the immied-ale parent entity has ever the subsidary enlity.

o Motion j¥ea Linited has {00% of the beneficiol ownersiup of these entities.
i Meobion Topes Limuted is held by the Company, Ali other subsidranes are heid by mtermediaze subsidianes. Upon the vesting dote of the share incentive plans, empioyees will hold a ron-controlling

interest 7 Motion TopCo Linited of 0 6% isee note 5 5}
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6.6 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

{f Sutte |, Level |1, 66-68 Goulburn Stireet, Sydney, New South Yales, 2000, Australia

3 Unit 501, 37¢ St Kild Road. Melbourne, Victora, Australia

] Rigsenradplatz 5-6. 1020 Wien, Vienn. Austria

w Kaning Albert | Laan |16, 8370, Blankenberge, Belgium:

il PO, Box 3340, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin {slands

% Surte 5360 Commerce Court West, [99 Bay Street. Toronte, ON. M5L 139, Canada

o] No. 4, 6 8,10, 11, 14, [6. 18 Qianmen Avenue, Dongcheng Dhstrics. Bejing, China

“H 10/F New Warld Building, No 2-68 Nanjing Xi Road, Shanghai 200003, China

Bl 21, Han Screat, Wuchang District, {Shops 40/41/41) Buitding 5, Lot j2, Wuhan. China

R Shops B131. B132 & BI33 of Level BI. K1 | Musea Victoria Dockside, 12 Salisbury Road Fsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon Hong Kong
R Room No.3F-016832&K 1. L3 Fioor, Zhihuixuhui Plaza. No.|-2 of 2389 Alley. Zhangyang Read. Shanghai Pillot Free Trade Zone, China
HES 4-11, Fu 9, No. 133, Manpin Road, Nar'an Districr, Chongging, China

No. 2 Jia~ |, Bolan Road. Heping Districe. Shenyang. China
L2-25, 2F, 3F Parkside Plaza, Pucuo Distrier, Shanghai. China
Room 10-1, 10th Floor, No 2-68 Nanjing YWest Rd, Huangpu Distriet. Shanghai. China

18} {89, Daduhe Road. Pu Tuo District, Shanghai, 200062, China
R Rooim 5668, Ma. 19, Cae Li Read 38 Lane, Feng Jing Town, Jinshan Districe. Shanghai. China
LS Aastvej 10, 7190 Billund, Denmark

Tivoliue 10, Helsinki 0051 8. Fintand

Centre Commerecial Val d'Europe, Espace 502, 14 cours du Danube, Servis, 7711 Marne-La-Valice, France
Kehrwieder 5. 20457 Hamburg, Germany

a3 Heidenhof |, 29814 Solau, Germany

Legoland Allee, 89212, Gunzburg, Germany

606 Suryaleran Building. |9 Kasturba Gandhi Marg, Connaughe Place. Mew Deihi 10001, Indiz

274 Floor, 1-2 Victaria Buildings. Haddingeon Road. Dublin 4. lreland

ol &* Floar, 2 Grand Canat Square, Dublin 2, Iraland

7 Via Derna 4. Castelnuovo dei Garda, 37014, Veroma, kaly

(28 Loc Ronchi. Castel del Garda Verona, 17014, Verona, ltaly

w19 2-2-4, Kinjeufutou Minata-ku. Nagoeya-shi, Japan

139) Island Mall, Decks Tokyo Beach. 1-6-1 Daba. Minata-ku. Toicyo. japan

G5 24, Rue Fugéne Rupperr, L-2453. Luxembotng

RS Level §3A-6, Menara Milemum, falan Damanlelz. Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490 FKuala Lumpur, Malaysia
an Ralan 78. 1012 KWW Amsterdam, Netherlands

(4 Gevers Deynoorweg 970, 2586 BW Den Huag, Netherlands

A% Cam 20 GEBOUYY P&C. 012 NP Amsterdam, Netherlands

361 Jasmijn i3. Leidschendam, 2262ZAN, Natherlands

3 Strandweg 13, 2586 K Den Hagzg, Netherjands

124 Level 11, 41 Shordand Street. Auckland 1010, New Zealand

% Ne. | Rua Partieular do Castelo de Quetjo, 4100-379, Porto, Portugal

A1) 12 Marine View, &1 |-01 Asia Square, Tower 2, 018961, Singapore

4l Yaseon-dong, 8F Moarim Bullding, 16 joongang-ro, Chuncheon-si, Gangwaon-do., Repubiic of Korea
e 266 Hacundaehaebyun-ro, Haenudee-Gu, Busan, Republic of Korea

513, Yeongdeng-drero. Gangnam-gu. Seoul, Republic of Korea
i Puerzo Marina, Benalmadena-Costa, 29630 Beratmadena. Malaga. Spain
48, 9B% Siam Discovery 40} 4 Flr . #50] S Fir, 72601 6 Flr, #7010 7 Flr.. Raira § Road, Pathurawan, Banglkolk 10330, Thalanc

oy B1-B2 Floor Siam Paragon, 991 Rama | Road, Khweng Patumwan. Bangkok 10330, Thaitand

3 Kocatepe Mah. Pasa Cad, Forum Istanbul AVM Na. 5/5, Bayrampasa, Turkey

43 Office 1601, 48 Bur] Gate. Burj Khalifa, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

% Emaar Square. Building 3. Leve! 5. P.O. Box 37172, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

30 Link House, 25 West Strect, Poole. Dorset, BHI5 1LD, United Kingdom

il BC State Sereet, Albany, New Yorle 122072543, United States

E 1209 Orange Sereet, Wilmington, MNew Caste County. Delaware, 19801, United States

33 200 Bellvue Parkway Suite 210, Wilmingtan, New Castle County. Delaware. 19809. Unned States

) Oifice 301, 3udding §, Emaar Sguare. Bur Khalifa. Sheikh Zayed Road, PO Box 123311, Dubai. United Arab Emirates

TS I
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SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED;
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The following subsidiaries are taking advantage of an exemption from audic under section 47%A of the Companies Act 2006, Motion JMco Limited is providing a
statutery guarancee for any outstanding liabilities of these subsidiaries. All subsidiary undertaiings have been included in the consolidated financial statements

of Motion jVeo Limiced as at 31 December 2022

Subsidiary underwaking

Alton Towers Resort Operatons Limired
Charcoal CLG | Limited

Charcoal Midco | Limired

{harcoal Newco | Limited

Charcoal Newco iz Limited

Chessington Hotel Limited

Chessington World of Adventures Operatiens Limited
LEGOLAND US Holdings Limited
LEGOLAND Windsor Park Limited
London Aguarium {South Banig Limited
London Eye Holdings Limited

Lendon Eye Management Services Limited

Merlin Entertainments {Asta Pacific) Limiced

Company
number

G6 127441
06128422
06125930
(6128686
06130062
05686193
06128521
C6373037
02721728
06553877
05686179
02896849
03767102

Subsidiary undartaking

Merlin Entertainments {Blackpoaol} Limited
Merlin Encercainments {Dungeons) Limted
Merlin Entercainments {NBD) Limited
Merlin Entertainments (SEA LIFE) Limited
Meriin Entertainments Crown (UIC) Limived
Mariin Entertzinments Group Limited
Meriin Entertainments Group Operatuons Limited
Merfin Magic Making Limited

Meriin UK Finco | Limited

Meriin UK Finco 2 Limiced

Merhn US Heldings Limited

SEA LIFE Centre {Blackpool) Limited

Thorpe Park Operations Limited

Company
number

(2429776
03671067
Q5010879
02182098
09679586
05022287
3671093
03663168
08753258
08753263
06273035
02407713

06127478

LILUES 2
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20122 2021
Note fm £m
Non-current assets
Invescments iif 3008 2,985
Deferred tax assers |
- 3005 2986
Current assets o ) - T
Amauncs owed by Group wndertakings | -
Toelasses 00 T 3005 2986
‘Mon-current Habitges 77 S T T T
Ocher payables i 20 -
Total fiabilities 0 -
Net assets 1,986 1,984
l_ssae; -c-;xpi'tal- :;r1d.rescr‘;'"cs‘at‘t?il;titéble to owners of the Company ‘ . iv o 2M986 2"?86

Total equity T 1,986 2,986

The notes on pages 99 to 102 form part of these financial statements.

The Company has elected to take the exemption available under s408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present the Coinpany statement of comprehensive income.

The Company recorded a profit for the year of £nil {2021 profit for the yeor of £nil}.

The parent Company financial statements were approved by the Board of Birectors on 17 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:
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Profic for the year

Total comprehensive incoms for the year

Transfer to retained earnings
At 25 December 2021
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Norte

"At31 December 2022

Secumber

Share
capital
£m

29

29

1

Share
premium
£m

2956

2,956

2,956

Capital
reserve

£m
6

(6

| N [ s
Retamed Total
earnings PIITY

£m £m
(5) 2,588
b -
1 2,986
1 2,986
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i ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Mauon [Veo Limited (the Company) is a private company limited by shares which is incorporated in the United Kingdom. its registered office is Link House, 75 West
Street, Poale, Dorser, BH15 (LD.

The principal activity of the Company is o act as 2 holding company.

Thase financial statements were prepared in accardance with UK adopred international accounting standards. including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced
Disclasure Framework’ (FRS 101},

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of UK adopted international accounting
standards in conformity with the requiremants of the Companies Act 2006, but makes amendments where necessary in order to camply with Companies Act 2006
and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 10i disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The consolidated financial statements of Mouon J¥co Limited are prepared in accardance UK adopred international accounting standards and are availzble to the
public and may be cbrained by visiting the Merlin corporate website at www.merlinentertainments.biz. Company financial statements have been prepared and
approved by the Directors i accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

In these financial statements. the Company has applied the exempeions availlable under FRS 101 in respect of the foilowing disclosures:
*  Cash flow staterment an< related notes;

*  Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

*  Disciosures in respect of capital management;

*  The effects of new but nou yet effective IFRSs;

*  Disclosures in respect of the compensation of key management personnel.

As the conselidated financial stacements of Motion |Vee Limited include the equivalent disclosures. the Company has also taken the exemptions under FRS {01
avallable in respect of cermin disclosures required by IFRS |3 "Ear value measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7 'Financial instrument disclosures’.

The accounung palicies set out below have. unless atherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.
These Anancral statements have been prepared for the 53 weeks ended 31 December 2022 (2021 52 weeks ended 25 December 2021).

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies 1s set out befow.

L TR L AL A - 51 L

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost, less provision for impairment. The carying amount of the Company's investments in subsidiaries is reviewed annually ta
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. if any such mndication exises. the investment's recoverable amount is esumated. If the carrying value of the
investment exceeds the recoverable amount, the investment s considered to be mpared and is written down te the recoverable amount. The impairment loss is

recognised in the income statement.

PR N
Fareign currency transactions are translated inzo the functionat currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the sectlement of such transactions and fram the cranslation at year end exchange rates of monetary assews and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the incomea statemant

Tax on the profit or fess for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement unless 1t relates 2o items recognised directly in
equity, when it s recognised directly in equity, or whan it relates to items recognised in other comprzhensive income, when it is recognised through the statement
of comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expecied tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates substanoively enacted at che end of the reporting period, and any
adjustiment to % payable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is provided on certain zemporary differences beovseen the carrying amounts of assecs and habilities for financial reporting purpeses and taxation purposes
cespectively. The following semporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill: the initial recognition of assets or liabifities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profic other than in a business combination; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent that they will
prabably not reverse in the foresecable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of reslisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities. using tax rates enacted or substantivaly enacted at the end of the reporting period

After considaring foracase future profits, deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which those assets
can bz ulised.
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i ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CoMNTINUED)
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ed on the statement of financal position when the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The

accounting policy for each type of financial instrument s included withm the relevant note.

Firancial mscruments are recognis

Financial assets are initally measured ac fair value, unless otherwise noted, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income or fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset is derecagnised when the coneractual rignts to Lhe cash flows from the asse: expire or the Company
transfers the financial asset and substantally all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to ahather entity.

Financial liabitities are initially measured at fair value, pius. n the case of other financial fiabilities, directiy ateributabie transaction costs. Other financial habilities,
primarily the Company's interest-bearing loans and borrowings, are measurad at amorused cost. Financial fabilities are measured at fair vatue through profit or loss
and are held on the statement of financial position ac far value. A financial liability is derecognised when the Company’s obligations are discharged, expire or are
cancelled. Finance payments associated with financial lisbilites are deait with as parc of finance costs.

An equity instrumenc is any contract chat has a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducung all of ws habiliies. Finance payments associated with
financial instruments that are classified in equity are dividends and are recorded directly in equity. The preference shares issued by the Company carry a fixed,
cumulative. preferential dividend which accrues (but is not payable} on each preference share on a daily basis frotn the date of issue of the relevant preference share.
Payment of these dividends is ac the discretion of the Company and accordingly they have been classified as equity.

Where financial instrumencs consist of 2 combmation of debt and equity. the Company will assess the substance of the arrangement in place and decide how to
areribute values to each taking inta consideration the policy defiminons abave.

Dividends are recognised through equity on the carlier of their approval by the Company’s shareholders or their payment,

jeanse Soarenn
The preparation of financial statements requires managerment to exercise judgement in apolying the Company's accounting policies It also requires rhe use of
estimates and assumpuions that affect the reported amounts of assers, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Management
considers the area of estimation that has the mast significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial staterments 1o be the estimauon of the value in use of
the Merlin Entertainments Group of companies, which underpins the annual review of the carrying amount of the Company’s mvestment n subsidiaries (see note iii).

ii QPERATHNG EXPENSES

The average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was seven (282 /: seven), being the Directors of the Company.

The employment costs of the Directors of the Company have been borne by other Group companies for their services to the Group as a whole. The costs related
to these Directors are included within nete 2.1 of the consotidated financial stacements.

JER - v
g N - ‘

Fees paid te Ernst & Young LLP for audit and other szrvices to the Company are not disclesed in its individual accounts as the Group accounts are required to
disclose such fees on a consolidated basis (note 2.1 of the consolidated financial statements).
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it EINVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKING
Shares it
subsidiary
undartalung
£im
Cost and carryving value
At 27 December 2020 2835
Additions F50
At 25 December 2021 2,985
Additions 20
At3[ December 2022 ‘ o 3.005
The subsidiary undertaking at the year end is as follows
Country of Descnpren of
Company Activity Ncorpoerancn Shurehalding shares heid
Motion Topea Limiced Holding company UK 99.8% Ordinary

A full list of Graup companies is included in note 6.6 of the consolidared financial statements on pages %0 to 95.

Upon the vesting date of the share incentive plans, employeas of the Group will hold a non-controlling interest 1n Motion Topca Limired of G.16% (see note 3.5 of
the consofidzted financial sratements). Cash settlements occurring upon vesting of the schemes are the obligation of the Company to settle. Addinonal investments
of £20 mitlon have been recognised In the year with & corresponding liabitity \n cther payables (see pote 5.6 of the consolidated financial statements).

The carrying amount of the Company’s ‘nvestmencs in subsidiaries has been reviewed to determine whether there is any indication of impairment,

The approach to impairment testing withir the consolidated accounts is set out in note 4.3 co the consolidated accounts which includes details on the key
assumptions and estimates used when calculating the net present value of future cash flows from the Group’s businesses, A consistent approach is taken for testing
the Company’s invastment in its subsidiary, with this assessment also including value for new busimess developiment that is excluded from the goodwill impairment
testing until such time as new sites become operational. The approach adopted therefore applies consistent judgements and estimates as set out in the impairment
testing aote 1.3, other than for new business development.

Impairment reviews are often sensitive to changes in key assumptions. Sensitivity analysis is therefore performed on the calculated recoverable amounts considering
incremental changes in the key assumpuons, where the balance being tested is material and headroem is limited.

In 2022 there is sufficient headroom such thaz the valuation 1s nat sensitive to even significant changes in any of the key assumptions. Headrooem would remain if pre-
tax discount rates used had been higher by a factor of 10%. combined with che long term growth rate used being 2.25% instead of 2.5%.
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2022 2022 2021 2021
MNumber £m Number £
Ordinary shares of £0.0{ each 28.759.359 - 28,739.359 -
Prefeirence shares of £0.01 each 2847137039 29 2847137139 z29
2875.896.498 19 2875896498 19

On issue and futly paid ac end of year

Issen of shares
The nominal value of shares in tssue is shown in share capital, with any addizzonal consideratior for those shares shown in share premium.

Ovcdirary rharss
The hoiders of ordinary shares are entited o receive dividends as declared from time to dme.

Each ordinary share entities the holder of thar ordinary share te receive notice of and to attend and to speak and to vote at gereral meetings of the Company {on
the basis of one vote per ordinary share), or on any rosoluuen proposed to members as a written resolution Each ordinary share in the capical of the Company
ranks equally in all respects and no shareholder holds shares carrying special rights relating to the controi of the Company.

Profarenaa shide
The preference shares earn a fixed, cumulative, preferenua! dividend a the rate of 6% per annum on the issue price of the preference shares, which accrues (but is
nax payable) on each preference share on z daily basis from the date of issue of the relevant preference share, and ends on the day preceding the redemption date.

compounding annuaity on each annivarsary of the compounding date.

The preference shares rank ahead of the ordinary shares for all purpeses and ro dividend. distribution, return of capital and/or reducton of capital is paid on the
ordinary shares untit the preference shares have been redeemed in fuill.

Each preference share entitles the holder of that preference share to recoive notice of and to atwend and to speak and wo vate at general meerings of the Company
{on the basis of one vote per preference share), or on any resolution proposed to members as a writren resolution,

Ry

During 2019 the Company issued £156 million 0% subordinated unsecured shareholder loan notes due 31 October 202¢. In accordance with the accounting policy as
set out in note i, these were classed as financial habilities. Reflecting che off-market interest rate atrached to dhese loan notes, these were inidally recognised ac fair
valye of £150 million with the difference treatec as a capital contribution, During 2020 the sharchalider loans were repaid and the proceads reinvested in a furcher
issue of new ordinary and preference sharas to the exisung sharehoiders. The capital reserve was eliminated through retained earnings in 2021,

e Lo

Dividends are recognised throggh equity on the earlier of their approval by the Company's sharenoclders or their payment. The Directors of the Company have
declared their intentden not to pay a dividend for the year ended 3| December 2022 (2021. £nil).

a3

The profit after tax for the year in the accounts of Motion [Vce Limited is £nil (202! £nif}.

v RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For full detils of transactions and acrangements with the Company’s ulumace shareholders, see nore 6.3 of the consclidated {inancial stacernerts.
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Board

Capex

Cluster

Constant currency

CWE

EBITDA

Exceptional items

Existing estate (EE)
GDPR

i

Group

IPO

KPI

LBC

LCA

LDC

Like for like (LFL)

Listing

LLP

Merlin Board

Merlin Magic Making (MMM)

Merlin's Magic Wand (MMW)

Midway or Midway attractions

MT
‘Net Promotet’ score

New Business Development (NBD)

Non-core

Board of Directors of the Campany.

Capital expenditure.

A group of actractions located in a city close to one another.
Using 2021 exchange rates.

Conservation, Welfare and Engagement. The SEA LIFE team that focuses on delivering world class animal welfare
throughout our animal ¢are network and developing new guest experiences.

Profit before finance income and costs, taxation, depreciation, amertisation and impairment and after taking account
of attributable profic after tax of joint ventures.

Due to their nature, certain one-off and non-trading items can be classified as exceptianal in order to draw them to
the attention of the reader and to show the underlying business performance more accurately.

EE comprises all attractions other than new openings.

General Data Protection Regulation,

Intellectual Property.

Motion J¥<o Limited group of companies.

Initial Public Offering.

Key Performance Indicator.

Little BIG City attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.

Licence and Co-operation agreement, This agreement sets out the rights granted to the Group to use the LEGO
and LEGOLAND brands.

LEGOLAND Discovery Centre attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.

2022 LFL growth refers to the growth becween 2021 and 2022 on a constant currency basis using 2021 exchange
rates and includes all businesses owned and operated befare the start of 2021,

Listing on the London Stock Exchange.
LEGOLAND Parks Operating Group.
The Board of Directors of Merlin Entertainments Limited.

MMM is the unique resource that sits at the heart of everything Merlin does. It is our specialist in-house site-search
and business development; creative design; production; and project management tearn. MMM also pursues
acquisition and investment, opportunities.

MMW forms a Key element of Merlin's Corporate Social Respansibilicy commitment. Our partner children’s charity
delivers magical experiences araund the world to children who are facing challenges of serious illness, disability
ar adversity.

The Midway Actractions Operating Group and/or the Midway attractions within it. Midway attractions are typically
smaller. indoor atcractions located in city centres, resorts or shopping malls.

Madame Tussauds attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.
How we measure the propensity of our customers to recommend our attractions.

NBD relates to attractions that are newly opened or under development for future opening, together wich the
addition of new accommaodation at existing sites. New openings ¢an include both Midway attractions and new theme
parks. NBD combines with the existing estate to give the full estate of attractions.

Attractions which Merlin has ceased the operation of during the period.
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Operating free cash flow

Peppa Pig

Peppa Pig Theme Park

Roommns

RPC

RTP

SEA LIFE TRUST

Second gate

SLC
The Merlin Way

Top Box

Underlying

Visitors

Wizard Wants to Know (WWTK)

Yext

Tarms us2a

Underlying EBITDA less existing estate capex.

We have a multi-territory exclusivity arrangement to develop a range of attractions based on the Peppa Pig brand, one of

the most well-known presschool IPs in the world.

A standalone theme park based on the Peppa Pig brand. When located at a Merlin theme park as a second gate
attraction the results are reported within the associated Operating Group.

A single zccommodation unit at one of our theme parks, for example a hotel room, lodge or glamping tent.
Revenue per capita, defined as visitor revenue divided by number of visitors.
Rasort Theme Parks Operating Group.

The SEA LIFE TRUST forms a key element of Merlin's Corporate Social Responsibility commitment. Our partner
marine conservation charity works to protect the marine environment.

A visitor attraction at an existing resort with a separate entrance and for which additional admission fees
are charged.

SEA LIFE Centre aquarium attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.
The culture of the Group which encampasses our vision and values.

The highest tevel of customer satisfaction that we record in our customer surveys from touchscreen daza at our
attractions.

Underlying information presented excludes exceptional items that are classified separately within the
financial statements.

Represents all individual visits to Merlin owned or operated attractions.
WWTK is our annual online employee survey.

A platform we used te monitor online guest reviews and help inform how we improve our attractions.

Unless otherwise stated, the terms ‘Meriin’, ‘Merlin Entertainments’, ‘the Group’, ‘We' and ‘Us' refer to the Company (Motion |¥co Limited) and, as applicable, its

subsidiaries and/or interests in joint ventures.

Percentages are calculated based on figures before rounding and are then rounded to one decimal place.
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The Group's income stacement is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates principally on the translation of our non Sterling earnings. The tables below
show the impact on 2022 52 week revenues and underlying EBITDA of re-transtating them at 2021 foreign exchange {(FX) rates. The calculation for weighted average
EBITDA rates can be attected where toreign currency earmings move between months from being positive or negative.

2021 2022 %age Revenue

average average movement impace

Currency FX rates FX rates in FX rates £m
uso 1.38 1.25 (3.8)% (67)
EUR L7 1.i8 0.7% 4
Other 4
Decrease in 2022 revenues at 2021 FX rates (5%)
2021 2022 Yage EBITDA

average average movement impact

Currency FX rates FX rates in FX rates £m
UsD 138 125 4% (25}

EUR 118 117 0.2)% I

Other i
Decrease in 2622 underlying EBITDA at 2021 FX rates (23)
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